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Dear IBM Investor:

2018 was a defining year for IBM and our
clients. Your company returned to growth,
just as businesses readied to enter
Chapter 2 of their digital reinventions.

For years, we have focused on building the tools businesses
need in the 21st century. Our investments have reshaped IBM
to lead in the emerging, high-value segments of the IT market,
including analytics, artificial intelligence, cloud, security,
blockchain and quantum computing. At the same time, we have
deepened our longstanding commitment to the responsible
stewardship of technology.

IBM is now ready to help our clients advance their
business transformations.

In my letter to you this year, I will describe IBM’s
performance in 2018. I will outline how clients are poised
to enter Chapter 2 of their digital reinventions, with help from
IBM, and how this translates to growth for IBM, for businesses
and for the world.

2018: Return to Growth
In 2018, IBM achieved $79.6 billion in revenue and operating
earnings per share of $13.81. For the full year, we returned to
revenue growth, grew earnings per share and stabilized margins.
Our strategic and continued investment in innovative
technology drove our improved competitive position and profit
dynamics. Offerings that address data, Al, cloud, analytics and
cybersecurity now represent more than half of our revenue—up
from a quarter just four years ago—accounting for approximately
$40 billion in revenue in 2018.
Our investment of more than $5 billion in research and
development produced thousands of breakthrough innovations,

which led to IBM’s 26th consecutive year of U.S. patent leadership.

Of the 9,100 patents granted to IBM in 2018, more than 1,600
were related to Al and 1,400 to cybersecurity—more than any
other company in either area.



This focus on breakthrough innovation has created
IBM’s strongest portfolio ever and has driven results:

— Total cloud revenues were more than $19 billion in 2018, up
12 percent. In the fourth quarter alone, IBM signed 16 client
services agreements worth more than $100 million to help
optimize business performance on the IBM Cloud. Today,

47 of the Fortune 50 depend on the IBM Cloud.

— IBMis the world’s enterprise AI leader. Solutions enabled
by IBM Watson are helping produce better decision-making
and business outcomes through more than 20,000 client
engagements, across 20 industries to date. IDC ranked
IBM number one in AI market share. We continue to pioneer
innovations in natural language processing, speech processing,
computer vision and machine learning.

IBM Blockchain is the global leader in improving trust and
transparency across business networks by creating a new
way for clients to share and secure data. IBM Blockchain
now powers more than 500 client projects, with more than
85 active networks transforming supply chains, global
shipping and cross-border finance.

— IBM Security, the world’s largest cybersecurity enterprise,
has 8,000 subject matter experts serving more than 17,000
clients in more than 130 countries. The industry’s leading
Al and cloud-based security solutions include IBM Security
Connect, launched in 2018, which allows clients to gather,
integrate and analyze security data across multiple applications
and tools, in a vendor-agnostic way.

— IBM Systems produces innovative infrastructure for Al
and hybrid cloud. The z14 is one of IBM’s most successful
mainframe programs in history, with broad global adoption
across 27 different industry segments. In addition, the
U.S. Department of Energy’s POWER9-based supercomputers,
Summit and Sierra, were ranked the most powerful
supercomputers in the world in 2018.

— IBM Services was a key driver of IBM’s performance in 2018.
Forty-seven engagements worth more than $100 million
each helped major clients—like Bank of the Philippine Islands,
Juniper Networks, Nordea, Westpac and Aditya Birla Retail—
move to the next stage of their digital transformations.

New IBM investments are further energizing our portfolio.
In late 2018, we announced plans to acquire Red Hat, the world’s
leading open source technology provider for the enterprise.
With this acquisition, which is expected to close in the second
half of 2019, IBM will enhance our position as the world’s number
one hybrid cloud provider, helping clients unlock the full business
value of the cloud.

We also continued to divest stand-alone software and
services assets that are no longer strategic for IBM.

At the same time, we remained committed to returning
capital to our shareholders. In 2018, we returned more than
$10 billion to you, our shareholders, including dividends
of $5.7 billion and gross share repurchases of $4.4 billion.
We raised our dividend for the 23rd consecutive year—IBM’s
103rd straight year of providing one.

Moving Clients to the Next Chapter of Digital Reinvention

For the past several years, businesses around the world have been
driving their digital reinventions to take advantage of data, their
most powerful source of competitive advantage.

This first chapter has been defined largely by experimenting
with narrow and disparate Al applications and moving simple
workloads—typically consumer and customer-facing applications—
to the cloud.

Now, we are beginning to see the contours of Chapter 2
among pioneering businesses: moving from experimentation to
true business transformation at scale with AI and hybrid cloud.

This next chapter of digital reinvention will be enterprise-
driven. It will be characterized first by scaling Al and embedding
it everywhere in business. Second, in cloud, it will be characterized
by moving mission-critical applications to hybrid cloud—
using a combination of multiple public clouds, private clouds,
and on-premise IT capabilities, so businesses can create
the environment most suitable for their enterprise workloads.
Underpinning it all is the growing importance of trust, both
in technologies and in their impact on the world.

Scaling AI throughout the Enterprise
In Chapter 2 of their digital reinventions, businesses will begin
to scale Al across the enterprise, as some first movers are already
demonstrating.

Take the world’s leading banks, for example. While many
have been applying Al to specific challenges, some first movers
are scaling AI across the enterprise. Orange Bank, one of the
fastest growing mobile banks in France, now manages all customer



service through IBM Watson. Similarly, Banco Bradesco

is now using IBM Watson to assist every member of its services
team—resolving customer inquiries in seconds with nearly

95 percent accuracy.

IBM brought Al for business into the mainstream
with the introduction of our Watson platform in 2014. Today,

IBM Watson is the most open and trusted AI for business,
available to run on any environment—on premise, and in private
and public clouds. Businesses can apply Watson to data wherever
it is hosted and infuse Al into their applications, regardless of
where they reside.

With Watson Studio, Watson Machine Learning and Watson
OpenScale, IBM delivers a suite of tools that allow enterprises
to build, deploy and manage their AI models in a hybrid cloud
environment. IBM Watson OpenScale, a first-of-a-kind platform
introduced in 2018, also enables businesses to manage their AI—
no matter where it was built or where it runs—with transparency,
explainability and bias mitigation. Addressing these factors, which
traditionally have held businesses back, is critical for scaling
Al throughout an enterprise.

Through IBM Services, we are helping our clients around
the world apply AI to core business processes and workflows,
infusing their businesses with automation, intelligence and
continuous learning to transform everything from supply chains
and HR to finance and operations.

In 2018, we also launched a new service called IBM Talent
and Transformation that addresses the often overlooked cultural
aspects of AL This service helps our clients ensure their teams
have the right skills and talent—and the supporting culture and
work environment—to support a new way of working that is critical
to scaling Al for business.

Moving Mission-Critical Work to Hybrid Cloud

In the first chapter of digital reinvention, cloud deployments
largely focused on easily portable workloads for productivity and
commodity computing. This primarily was driven by user-facing
applications inspired by advances in consumer technology.

As aresult, only 20 percent of enterprise workloads today have
moved to the cloud.

The remaining 80 percent of enterprise workloads provides
the real value opportunity for business—transforming mission-
critical workloads and applications for the cloud. The challenge is
that most businesses have unique regulatory or data requirements
and anywhere from five to 15 clouds across multiple providers.

Virginia M. Rometty
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer



IBM Leadership

#1 AI for business
20,000+ IBM Watson client
engagements across 20 industries.

#1 in hybrid cloud

47 of the Fortune 50 rely on

IBM Cloud. Revenue for IBM Cloud
topped $19 billion in 2018.

#1 in enterprise services
IBM Services, with end-to-end
cloud and AI capabilities, closed
47 client agreements worth more
than $100 million each in 2018.

#1 in enterprise security
IBM Security manages 70 billion
cybersecurity events per day for
clients in more than 130 countries.

#1 in enterprise systems
IBM Z is at the heart of world

commerce with 30 billion transactions

per day, including 87 percent of all
credit card transactions.

#1 in blockchain
IBM Blockchain Platform was
ranked number one by analyst firms

Juniper Research and Everest Group.

#1 in U.S. patents for the
26th consecutive year

IBM inventors received a record 9,100

patents, including more than 3,000

in A, cloud and quantum computing.

#1 and #2 fastest

supercomputers in the world

Built by IBM for the U.S. Department

of Energy, based on IBM POWER9 CPUs

tuned for AI workloads.

That is why businesses moving to Chapter 2 will need to embrace
a new, hybrid cloud approach. It is one that will allow them to more
easily move data and scale AI and other applications across public,
private and on-premise IT in their enterprises, with consistent
management and security protocols, using open source technology.
For example, BNP Paribas, a leading European bank,
is working with IBM to speed and scale the launch of new digital
and AI customer services across the cloud, while protecting
the security and confidentiality of customer data. Similarly, global
telecom leader Vodafone Business is partnering with IBM to
innovate the way it delivers

multicloud and digital “We are ready for this
capabilities—including AI, moment of moving
edge computing, 5G and clients to Chapter 2
software-defined networking of their digital
solutions—to its customers. reinventions with our
IBM Services provides unique integration of
end-to-end cloud integration innovative technology,
capabilities and is helping industry expertise
thousands of businesses and a reputation for
migrate, integrate and trust and security
manage applications and earned over decades.”

workloads seamlessly and

securely across any cloud environment. Industry experts from
IBM Services are co-creating cloud-enabled solutions with clients
in our IBM Garages. Using design thinking and agile methods,

we are helping clients implement new ways of working, such as
rapid prototyping and iteration to more quickly move technology
projects from pilot to production at scale.

We are ready for this moment of moving clients to Chapter 2
of their digital reinventions with our unique integration of innovative
technology, industry expertise and a reputation for trust and
security earned over decades. IBM is now moving the world’s
major enterprises to the next era, an effort that will be enhanced
by our planned acquisition of Red Hat.

Chapter 2 of Trust and Responsible Stewardship

We recognize that our clients and the consumers they serve
expect more than groundbreaking innovation and industry
expertise. They want to work with technology partners they

can trust to protect their data and handle it responsibly.

They want to work with partners who know how to bring new
technologies into the world safely and help society benefit from
them. And they want their partners to create inclusive workplaces
and communities where diversity thrives.



These expectations are linked by a common theme:
responsibility. Responsibility has been a hallmark of IBM’s culture
for 107 years—from our labs to our boardroom. IBMers’ unwavering
global commitment to the responsible stewardship of data and
powerful new technologies has earned us the trust of clients
and society as a whole.

In 2018, as trust in technology came under heightened
global scrutiny, we published our IBM Principles for Trust and
Transparency, which have long guided our company. They stress
our belief that the purpose of new technologies is to augment—
not replace—human intelligence, and that the data and insights
derived from technology belong to the businesses who own
them. The principles also emphasize that new technologies
brought into the world must be open, transparent, explainable
and free of bias.

We know that AI, like other transformative technologies
before it, will have a profound impact on peoples’ jobs and the
workplace. That is why, in 2018, IBM further expanded access to
the pathways through which students and professionals can build
skills for today’s technology era. That includes “new collar” jobs,
where having the right skills matters more than having a specific
degree. Through our work in 11 U.S. states and 13 countries, there
will be 200 Pathways in Technology Early College High Schools—
or P-TECHs—serving a pipeline of 125,000 students in the 2019
school year.

2018 also saw the rapid growth of our IBM Apprenticeship
Program, which trains people in 21st-century skills ranging
from blockchain and digital design to cybersecurity—and which
expanded nearly twice as fast as we had projected in its first year.

Yet skills are only part of today’s workforce opportunity.

In 2018, fueled by record diverse hiring, promotion and retention,
we achieved our greatest progress in a decade on diversity
representation among global executive women and
underrepresented minorities. We also continued advocating

with governments around the world for policies that help

ensure workplaces are as inclusive and diverse as the world

we live in.

Recognizing that responsible stewardship should not
be confined within IBM’s walls, we also are working aggressively
to empower others to do lasting good. We are, for example,

a founding partner in Call for Code, a global initiative that

works with software developers to create solutions that can
help save lives. Last year, 100,000 open source developers from
156 countries responded to the call, creating more than 2,500
applications to help communities recover from natural disasters.

As IBM sees it, the promise of technology is to empower
people to do good, access new opportunities and make the world
better, safer and smarter—for the many, not just the few.

IBM Poised to Lead

In summary, we have returned your company to growth. We have
positioned IBM’s products, services and people to enable clients
to write the next chapter of their digital reinventions. And we have
done it all while reaffirming IBM’s longstanding reputation for
trust, integrity and responsibility.

Our work ahead is to build on this progress and bring these
capabilities to life for our clients. I want to thank all of our clients
for partnering with us while we reinvented IBM, and for choosing
us for their own journeys of transformation.

I also would like to thank our investors for their confidence
in IBM. Finally, I would like to thank the hundreds of thousands
of IBMers whose expertise has prepared us to lead in this new
chapter of digital reinvention.

I am honored to steward this great company, and I am filled
with optimism about what we can achieve in partnership with our
clients and society. Together, we are changing work and business—
and ultimately, the world.

#M@m@

Virginia M. Rometty
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

In an effort to provide additional and useful information regarding the company’s
financial results and other financial information, as determined by generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP), these materials contain non-GAAP financial
measures on a continuing operations basis, including operating earnings per share
and operating pre-tax income. The rationale for management’s use of this non-GAAP
information is included on pages 18 and 19 of the company’s 2018 Annual Report,
which is Exhibit 13 to the Form 10-K submitted with the SEC on February 26, 2019.
For reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures to GAAP and other
information, please refer to page 41 of the company’s 2018 Annual Report.



Leading
businesses

are reinventing
themselves with
IBM Services
and Solutions
across Al, cloud,
blockchain,
guantum

and more.



IBM Services

United Airlines:
Reinvention
takes flight

To ignite a major business transformation, United Airlines
turned to IBM iX—the business design arm of IBM Services—and
a set of business applications from a global partnership between
IBM and Apple called IBM MobileFirst for iOS. These applications
combine the power of enterprise data and analytics with an
elegant user experience, allowing United to broadly rethink how
its crews work and how its work flows.

United and IBM used the IBM Garage method to design
apps for the airline’s growing deployment of iOS devices.
The IBM Garage method, used by IBM Services with clients around
the world, emphasizes co-creation and frequent iteration. It has
allowed United to build complete, integrated mobile platforms that
start with a user’s experience and extend to all the airline’s core
business processes. United is now able to foster better and faster
collaboration across diverse teams and time zones, enabling
it to focus on its core mission of transporting customers to their
destinations on time. The apps are also giving flight attendants
like Deb Winchell new ways to help customers enjoy their flights,
which makes everyday travel just a little less stressful for
everyone involved.

Frontline crews know that many factors can contribute
to delays. “Most challenges stem from things I can’t control,”
Deb says. “But when I can make a difference in a customer’s travel
experience, it can be huge.” That’s why it’s important to resolve
issues before they affect customers. Deb can now be more
proactive with apps co-designed by United and IBM iX. Deb can

With new mobile tools, United staff can
quickly report and resolve issues that
previously required multiple steps.

Flight attendant Deb Winchell knows
better than most how stressful

a delay can be—for customers and
staff alike.

3]

More than 60%
savings in app development
costs, compared to a
traditional approach

even report an issue while a plane is still in the air, so the ground
crew can get to work as soon as the plane lands. Customers on
the next flight are far less likely to be affected because the app
streamlines communication. “It’s been a game changer for us,”
Deb says. “It lets us care for our customers right in the moment—
and nothing’s better than that.”

The agile IBM Garage method helps organizations think
beyond their existing systems and focus on what customers
actually need. When combined with IBM Cloud and IBM Watson,
it’s nothing less than a way for organizations to reinvent
themselves—an approach that’s being adopted by enterprises
around the world as they move to the next stage of digital
reinvention. For example, it has helped create a startup culture in
Banco Bradesco, one of Brazil’s largest banks. Bradesco can now
quickly respond to the rising demand from its 75 million mobile
banking customers. It has also showed East Carolina University
new value in discarded data that enabled the school to predict
possible outcomes, report strengths, weaknesses and deficits, and
enable advisors to better assist students and improve educational
programs. Digital reinvention isn’t just a product or a platform.
And it’s certainly more than just a buzzword. It’s a promise:

a new way to innovate and rethink a company from the ground
up and help customers and businesses alike.



IBM Blockchain

Walmart:
Linked by
safer food

It starts with a single report of severe food-borne illness.
Then more reports pour in from around the country and from
them, a culprit emerges: a common type of lettuce. But where,
specifically, did the tainted lettuce come from? The work of
Walmart and IBM, powered by IBM Blockchain, is giving us
a better way to answer this question.

Until recently, tracing food hasn’t been easy or fast.
And the risk that represents is significant. The World Health
Organization has estimated that there are 600 million cases
of foodborne illness each year, leading to 420,000 deaths.
And it can be daunting to trace how food goes through the supply
chain. For example, four days of a farm’s production of red-
and green-leaf lettuce and cauliflower can generate more than
200 separate tracking numbers that are printed onto cartons
and pallets for shipping to buyers. Finding individual boxes of
particular at-risk produce in this environment means searching
through a haystack of paper records. IBM Food Trust—using
blockchain technology—connects growers, processors, distributors
and retailers through a permissioned, permanent and shared
record of food-system data that drastically cuts the time
needed to trace produce from farm to store. In a pilot program,

EINC

From Down to

7 days 2.2 seconds

IBM Blockchain adds new transparancy
to the global food supply chain.

With the IBM Food Trust, Walmart’s
food safety professionals can

trace produce back to its source

in just seconds.

tracing time was reduced from seven days to just 2.2 seconds.
“With blockchain, all the trace media’s already there,” explains
Tejas Bhatt, senior director, Food Safety, for Walmart.

Blockchain technology is also changing the way companies
like Walmart collaborate with their supply chains—even with
potential competitors. The IBM Food Trust ecosystem connects
supply chains like Walmart’s and also those of other major retailers
and global companies such as Carrefour, Dole, Golden State Foods,
Driscoll’s and Nestlé—all without sharing any information they
don’t want to share. Beyond safety, consumers increasingly value
the kind of information that a system built on IBM Blockchain can
provide. With blockchain, growers, distributors and retailers can
provide consumers digitized certifications of existing organic or fair
trade products along with detailed documentation from different
points in the process, from farm to table. Ed Treacy, vice president,
Supply Chain and Sustainability at the Produce Marketing
Association, says blockchain “can speed up investigations into
contaminated food, authenticating the origin of food and providing
insights about the conditions and pathway through which the
food traveled.”

As more companies adopt a digital, end-to-end traceability
protocol, the IBM Food Trust’s goal is to make the world’s food
supply safer—something that is sorely needed. In 2018, the U.S.
Food and Drug Administration and U.S. Department of Agriculture
issued more than 300 food recalls. In addition to the societal and
business impact, these recalls waste huge stocks of food and
erode consumer trust. And if outbreaks multiply and answers are
slow in coming, customers can become desensitized and begin to
ignore overly broad warnings such as “throw away all lettuce in
your refrigerator.” Work by companies like Walmart and other
participants in the IBM Food Trust are laying the foundation for
better management of our global food supply: rapid insight into
what’s happened when something goes wrong, reducing waste,
and a safer journey from the farm to our local markets and,
ultimately, to our dinner table.



Watson eliminates distractions
that come between branch
director Francois-Xavier Maille
and his clients.

IBM Cloud - IBM Watson
|

Crédit Mutuel:
A bank thinks
bigger

When Crédit Mutuel embarked on its “together#newworld”
initiative—a five-year project to become a leading digital bank—
it brought in IBM to help it reinvent itself.

Crédit Mutuel’s goal: to engage with customers more
deeply, both online and offline, while providing new products

and the fastest service—all in an environment of trust and security.

To do that, the bank is infusing IBM Watson into the applications
its advisors use and is embracing IBM Cloud as a platform
for innovation, trust and security.

Francois-Xavier Maille, director of one of the premier
branches of Crédit Mutuel bank in Paris, was the first to deploy
the initial AI solution: a Watson virtual assistant that helps
employees answer customers’ questions. “The application has
liberated our people from a few recurring tasks so they can devote
their time and talents to understanding our clients’ aspirations,
challenges, and circumstances,” says Frangois-Xavier. Today,
23,000 Crédit Mutuel advisors across France rely on the Watson
tool, which helps employees answer business-related questions
60% faster. The bank intends to use Watson across all of its
business lines.

Experts from

Creédit Mutuel and
IBM Services are
working together in
a “Cognitive Factory.”

But that’s just the start. Crédit Mutuel is making important
decisions—about data, compliance and regulation, cybersecurity,
and managing applications across the enterprise. To achieve
digital banking at scale, IBM and Crédit Mutuel are crafting a hybrid
cloud strategy that encompasses multiple clouds and on-premise
systems, including the mainframe. At the same time, experts
from Crédit Mutuel and IBM Services are working together
in a “Cognitive Factory” that provides a fertile environment for
identifying, building and deploying new Al solutions. With many
internal IT teams involved, IBM and Crédit Mutuel are also creating
industrial tools and training assets to efficiently expand cognitive
solutions to 100% of the business lines of the company.

Crédit Mutuel’s reinvention represents a synthesis of human
and machine that gives banking new power. Employees can find
the optimal blend of talent and data, use their talents to the fullest,
delve more deeply into clients’ financial challenges and develop
smarter, more creative solutions. Extrapolate IBM’s immediate
impact on Crédit Mutuel to the entire world of financial services,

=

60% 175,000

fasterresponsesto  daily emails routed
business inquiries and prioritized

and you can see the implications for how banking consumers
experience and engage with their financial institutions: More
relevant innovation for customers. Lower client turnover for banks.
Greater confidence in asset management for consumers. Higher
employee engagement and contributions. Growing customer
satisfaction. And more predictable performance for institutions.
Al accelerates access to relevant information and liberates people
to provide a human touch.



Christina English is helping to lead
DeKalb Medical’s fight against sepsis.

IBM Watson Health

DeKalb Medical:
Stronger medicine

DeKalb Medical takes a systems-based, data-intensive
approach to fighting dangerous infections with the help

of IBM Watson Health. One of the lesser-known challenges
it faces is sepsis, which is caused by an infection that triggers
an inflammatory immune response. Sepsis is notoriously
difficult to diagnose and treat, making it the third-leading
cause of death in the U.S.

Nurses see it all, and sepsis requires them to race
against the clock. But with the intelligent use of data, delivered
by IBM Watson Health and deployed by a team led by Christina
English, a quality management specialist and former bedside
nurse, clinicians at DeKalb are getting a step ahead to help
patients get better, faster. Previously, Christina and her team had
to fight sepsis with siloed and sometimes subjective information.
“We knew what to look for, but we didn’t understand the
importance of the symptoms, how they worked together and how
a clearly defined set of treatment measures is critical to success,”
she says. Using IBM CareDiscovery, part of Watson Health’s set
of performance-improvement solutions for healthcare providers,
Christina and her team were able to gather and analyze industry
benchmarks as well as their own performance metrics in order
to identify sepsis “flags” and pinpoint where DeKalb could take
proactive measures.

DeKalb is shifting to a systems-based approach to care.
The IBM Watson Health solution helped Ellen Hargett, executive
director of DeKalb’s Quality Institute, and her team change the way
they measure system-wide performance by organizing data and
analysis into a usable dashboard. For each key performance metric
on the dashboard, Ellen established tactical teams to fully
understand the metrics, determine the “why” behind them and
recommend tactics for improvement. Across healthcare, a
systems-based approach can also produce a significant positive
impact on resources. For example, sepsis is not only a medical
challenge for hospitals. It’s also the most costly reason for
hospitalization, consuming $24 billion each year in the U.S. alone.
DeKalb’s efforts to quantify, analyze and shift the diagnosis and
treatment of sepsis have not only led to a lower mortality rate but
also significantly reduced the length of stay for patients.

Individual treatments are now based on data informed
by large-scale findings across large populations. Historically,
doctors diagnosed through trained intuition. In recent decades,
however, this approach has been replaced by “empirical medicine”
that’s based on data. The result is more standardized treatments
and improved outcomes. At DeKalb, data is shared with healthcare
professionals, providing them with information to spot large
patterns or gaps. Watson Health’s data-driven tools allow
healthcare institutions to organize and visualize data and take
fast action to address weaknesses or roll out improvements.
A data-driven approach to challenges like sepsis also helps
doctors expand their understanding of the syndrome, improving
diagnosis and treatment. This trajectory will eventually create
a new era of healthcare. As medical professionals tap data at both
the systemic and individual levels, an age of “precision medicine”
will arise. It will be a time when understanding derived from the
many can be tailored and applied to the needs of the individual.

This data-driven
approach will eventually
create a new era

of healthcare.
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30%
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to sepsis
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Hydro One:
Outsmarting
the storm

Another late spring storm was rolling toward the Canadian
utility Hydro One. But in its ongoing battle with ice, snow,
wind and thunderstorms, this time the utility found calm in the
predictive power of The Weather Company and IBM Watson.

Derek Roles, director, Emergency Preparedness and
Restoration, is Hydro One’s first line of defense for a service area
that covers most of Ontario. Twenty years of experience and
an encyclopedic knowledge of winter storms have helped him
manage through many major disruptions, so Derek can usually
plan for the worst. Now, though, he can predict it. And that
changes everything. In the past, recovery teams were deployed
only after the weather had passed. Now, however, Derek doesn’t
just keep up with the weather—he stays ahead of it. This shift
was made possible because Derek and his team put data and
Al to work: they trained Watson to predict outages using five years
of Hydro One historical outage data and a massive amount of
Ontario’s historical weather information. Derek’s new predictive
tools help him paint a clearer picture of how a storm will affect
the utility’s electrical distribution network.

Hydro One has committed itself to a more proactive
approach, and the utility has not only gained a new way to
fight storms, but has also changed its basic business operations
to strengthen its customers’ experience and service quality.

The predictive power of Al enables Hydro One to activate its
emergency organization structure in advance and create detailed
team deployment plans, positioning some crews in the storm’s
predicted path while making sure other crews are well rested.
The utility is also able to staff call centers more effectively and
notify customers of a storm’s potential impact on their service.
So when a storm hits, restoration plans are already in motion and
work crews can spring into action faster than ever before, quickly
and safely scaling repairs from the main transmission grid to
smaller circuits to individual customer locations in remote areas.

11

With Watson, Hydro One’s

Derek Roles, director, Emergency
Preparedness and Restoration,
can restore power more quickly
after a storm.

Predictive intelligence is
starting to create new options
that can make extreme
weather more manageable
and less disruptive.
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Weather exerts a tremendous influence on the economy.
It affects productivity, sales and energy consumption, and
it can disrupt supply chains and transportation systems.
Severe weather can upend lives and businesses for hours, weeks,
years or even forever. So there’s a logic behind the expression
“ride out the storm”—that’s often been the only option.
But predictive intelligence is starting to create new options that
can make extreme weather more manageable and less disruptive.
This is especially critical at a time when severe weather is the
leading cause of power disruptions in many countries. Global
economic losses resulting from weather disasters totaled
$215 billion last year. By putting the power of data and Watson
to work, Hydro One is modeling new solutions for previously
intractable weather problems everywhere—problems that
can now be better understood and managed, along with human
risks that can now be met head-on with artificial intelligence.
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ExxonMobil:
Quantum
understanding

Every energy company’s
dual challenge:

& |

Provide access Reduce
to scalable, the risks
affordable of climate
energy change

Vijay Swarup, ExxonMobil vice president for Research

and Development, says energy research requires curiosity,
optimism, patience and dissatisfaction. Dissatisfaction because
he believes things can be better. But what, exactly, can be better?
Nothing less than our understanding of the world.

Researchers now have a new tool to explore new ways
to solve problems: quantum computing. And Vijay’s quite precise
about the trouble with our current understanding. “There are some
problems so big, all we can do is approximate,” he says. Whether
he’s in a business suit or the lab coat he wears at ExxonMobil’s
expansive New Jersey research facility, Vijay clearly enjoys trying
to solve what he calls today’s pressing dual challenge: ensuring
that people have access to scalable, affordable energy, and doing
so in the context of climate change and the need for sustainable
solutions. This is where IBM Q comes into the picture. Quantum
computers have long been considered theoretical. But today,
they’re becoming a reality, with huge potential for energy
companies like ExxonMobil. That said, using a quantum computer
also calls for significant change in how researchers think about
approaching their work. “Computation has always been an integral
part of the research we’ve done here, but quantum’s radically
different,” Vijay explains. “Now, we must first figure out which
problems are most suited to a quantum approach and only then
can we answer a more interesting question: How can you program
a quantum computer to solve energy problems?”

ExxonMobil joins a group of global corporations
partnering with IBM to work side-by-side on IBM’s fully
functional quantum computers. As Vijay says, quantum’s a
priority that requires pairing the “best minds with the best minds.”
So ExxonMobil has a team that will meet regularly with IBM’s
quantum researchers. Barclays has its own team working

ExxonMobil’s vice president
for Research and Development,
Vijay Swarup, is leading

the company’s exploration

of quantum computing.

on quantum, as do Samsung and Daimler. Working as part of the
IBM Q Network alongside global universities and national research
labs, these corporations see the potential of a massive shift in how
computers can help solve some of the most enduring challenges—
issues that, once solved, could transform entire industries.

“IBM Q System One is the world’s first integrated universal quantum
computing system designed for scientific and commercial use,”
says Dario Gil, director, IBM Research. “We are at the beginning

of an exciting journey. Our research, systems and business teams—
along with our IBM Q Network partners—have a bold vision.

They are thinking big. These are the true pioneers.”

Nature is no longer estimated but predicted and
understood. That’s the goal. So when IBM unveiled its quantum
machines, companies like ExxonMobil saw great promise. But when
you talk to Vijay about promise, his thoughts turn to the great needs
that are facing the world. “Our global population is increasing
from 7 billion to 9 billion and, all across the world, a growing middle
class requires more resources and, especially, more energy.”
Quantum might be well suited to solve super-complex problems,
such as advanced models which could lead to better approaches
to carbon capture and lower emissions sources of energy. But what
excites Vijay most is that the collaboration with IBM researchers
could lead to a fresh ability to predict and anticipate how nature
operates—which could lead to an understanding of what’s actually
happening, as opposed to an approximation of what might be
happening. “With a little curiosity, patience and not settling for
the status quo, I know we can get there,” he says.

IBM Q System One is the world’s
first integrated quantum computing
system for commercial use.




More clients

are partnering
with IBM to write
the next chapters
of their digital
reinventions.

Belron applied IBM Watson Visual
Recognition to its Autoglass Body
Repair business to speed up insurance
processing, move repairs along
quickly and help its customers get
back on the road fast.

Thought Machine, a London-based
fintech startup, has built Vault,

anew, cloud-native core banking
infrastructure launching on

IBM Cloud. It has also partnered with
IBM Services to provide advisory
and delivery capabilities to its clients.

Travelport, a travel commerce
platform, is working with IBM Watson
to integrate disparate information
sources and make stronger corporate
travel recommendations. As a result,
finding the lowest travel costs for
acompany will be quicker and easier.

v

Japan Airlines is using an IBM Watson-
powered chatbot, Makana-chan,

to answer customers’ questions about
its popular Tokyo-to-Honolulu flights.
Makana-chan eases the burden

on live agents and is very popular

with passengers.

Maersk, the container logistics giant,
is using IBM Blockchain to create
Tradelens, a global blockchain
solution for the shipping ecosystem.
This global transformation will lead

to faster delivery times, lower costs
and a noticeable difference in the way
we get the things we use every day.

KMD, Denmark’s largest technology
company, is dedicated to connecting
its clients to the latest technologies.
The company is using IBM Services
to provide a critical foundation

of servers, networks and other
technologies that help it handle
large volumes of data with high
levels of security.

v

Bausch + Lomb simplified the

service and maintenance process

for its high-tech Stellaris Elite Vision
Enhancement System for cataract and
retina surgery. Using IBM Cloud, the
company can now pinpoint or respond
to technical and service requests

and limit or minimize downtime.

v

Fluor Corporation builds mega-
projects across the globe. Data
generated by these projects has
been harnessed by working with
IBM Research and IBM Services.
Fluor recently introduced two new
Al-powered systems to uncover
and predict how unmitigated trends
could affect key project indicators.

BNP Paribas is accelerating its digital
transformation and improving its
operational efficiency. The bank will
now integrate IBM Cloud-hosted data
centers dedicated to the bank, and
will strengthen its hybrid cloud “as a
service” capabilities while ensuring
the security and confidentiality of their
customers’ data—including not using
public clouds for hosting any customer
or other production environments
with sensitive information.

v

Whirlpool Corporation is using
IBM Cloud to help manage all

the data from its manufacturing

of connected home appliances.
Whirlpool will be using the cloud

to manage critical enterprise
applications, which will give it more
flexibility to scale and innovate.

Telefénica turned to IBM Blockchain
to capture call datain real time

and save it in a format that’s trusted,
traceable and accessible to network
providers and carriers worldwide,
making international phone calls feel
seamless despite all the technological
leaps they require.

Smart Dubai, working with

IBM Blockchain and IBM Cloud,

has launched the region’s first
government-endorsed blockchain
service: Dubai Blockchain Platform.
Itis designed to make the technology
more accessible to the Dubai
government, the UAE national
government and private companies.

Suunto, creator of the Movesense
microsensor, launched a Movesense
development community enabled

in the IBM Cloud. This let Suunto
dramatically scale its offerings.
Today, more than 800 developers
are working with Movesense, helping
Suunto bring the device to new
customers all over the world.

13

KPMG is using IBM Watson to

power a contract analysis solution
for its clients. The solution examines
contracts, breaks them into their
component parts and interprets each
part with a high degree of accuracy.
It’s faster and less expensive than
manual methods, while freeing up
skilled resources to perform more
productive tasks.

v

Krungsri Bank, one of Thailand’s
largest financial institutions,

is working with IBM Services to
lay the foundation for its future.
An IBM Blockchain pilot is in
progress, and the bank is planning
to develop new services for

its customers.

Profility, a post-surgery rehabilitation
solutions provider, needed to integrate
large volumes of data as well as

meet stringent HIPAA regulations.
They chose IBM Cloud because

of its flexible software and secure,
dedicated hardware. Their system

is widely used and has resulted

in shorter rehab stays and fewer
hospital readmissions.

The Australian Federal Government
has set its sights on being one of the
world’s top three digital governments
by 2025. In July 2018, it announced

a five-year agreement that covers
solutions from IBM Cloud, IBM Watson,
IBM Security, IBM Research and the
IBM Q quantum computing initiative.

View these stories
and more at
ibm.com/annualreport
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Res 0 n s i b le Data Responsibility
p At IBM, we’ve always followed straightforward principles

to act responsibly and earn trust. Today, our principles include:

Stewa rd S h i p a n d — The purpose of new technologies is to augment—not replace—

human intelligence.
— Data and insights belong to their owner.

t r u St h ave b e e n — New technology, including AI, must be transparent
and explainable.
h l lm k f Recent actions demonstrate our principles at work, including:
a a r S O » Advocating for public policies to protect the privacy and
9 security of data and working with governments worldwide
I B M S C u lt u re — on strategies that will ensure privacy and responsible handling
of data, without undermining innovation.

fro m O u r la bs to » Partnering with STOP THE TRAFFIK, law enforcement and
financial services institutions to stop human trafficking by using
IBM soft lytics to identif ici trends, hot t

the boardroom— adfancialansactons.

for more than

a century.

r
—

Modern slavery, a $150 billion business, has a new foe:
an AI data hub on the IBM Cloud.

» Launching AI Fairness 360, an open source software toolkit to
help developers actively detect and reduce bias in datasets and Al

» Releasing Diversity in Faces, a first-of-its-kind dataset,
to help reduce bias in facial recognition systems, making them
fairer and more accurate.

IBM iS recognized as 1 million annotated human facial images

one of the World’s Most QA
Ethical Companies by P q
the Ethisphere Institute, (o~
highlighting our influence
in driving positive change [ @ o | ™

in business and society q 4 A ‘(H) .
around the world.

’




Jobs and Skills

In the 1940s, IBM partnered with Columbia University to create
a new discipline: computer science. In 2018, we continued this
tradition by expanding training and education for the growing
number of “new collar” jobs for today’s era of data and AI.
Recent examples include:

- Developing new talent with our 12-month IBM Apprenticeship
Program in areas including cybersecurity, digital design,
mainframe administration and software development. Hundreds
of apprentices—ranging in age from 18 to 59—have joined the
program, which includes training and on-the-job experience
guided by an IBM mentor.

. |

Brandon Whittington, IBM Blockchain Solutions support
engineer and graduate of the IBM’s Apprenticeship Program

Launching Skills Build, an IBM volunteer initiative that helps
more than three million primary and secondary school students
learn about new technologies.

- Continuing to transform education via P-TECH—Pathways
to Technology Early College High School. In the 2019 school
year, there will be:

200 P-TECH schools serving a pipeline of
125,000 students across
13 countries and 11 u.s. states

P-TECH students at a graduation ceremony
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Diversity and Inclusion

In 2018, fueled by record diverse hiring, promotion and
retention, IBM achieved our greatest progress in a decade

on diversity representation among global executive women

and underrepresented minorities. We also continued advocating
with governments around the world for policies that help
ensure workplaces are as inclusive and diverse as the world

we live in. We received widespread recognition in 2018

for this leadership, including:

« Being honored with a 2018
Catalyst Award for leadership
in advancing women in business,
becoming the first company to
win the award four times and the
only tech company so honored
in the last 20 years.

CATALYST

- Being named a 2018 Diversity Best Practices Leading
Inclusion Index Company by Working Mother.

« Scoring a perfect 100 percent for the 15th consecutive year
in the Human Rights Campaign Corporate Equality Index.

gans 27

m==s's

IBMers at the Pride March in New York
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Financial Highlights

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

($ in millions except per share amounts)

For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017
Revenue $ 79,591 $ 79,139
Net Income $ 8,728* $ 5,753*
Income from continuing operations $ 8,723* $ 5,758*
Operating (non-GAAP) earnings** $ 12,657 $ 12,807***
Earnings per share of common stock—continuing operations
Assuming dilution $  9.51* $  6.14*
Basic $  9.56* $ 617
Diluted operating (non-GAAP)** $ 13.81 $ 13.66***
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 15,247 $ 16,724
Capital expenditures, net $ 3,716 $ 3,312
Share repurchases $ 4,443 $ 4,340
Cash dividends paid on common stock $ 5,666 $ 5,506
Per share of common stock $  6.21 $ 5.90
At December 31: 2018 2017
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable securities $ 12,222 $ 12,842%***
Total assets $123,382 $125,356
Working capital $ 10,918 $ 12,373
Total debt $ 45,812 $ 46,824
Total equity $ 16,929 $ 17,725
Common shares outstanding (in millions) 892 922
Stock price per common share $ 113.67 $ 153.42

* Includes charges of $2.0 billion in 2018 and $5.5 billion in 2017 associated with U.S. tax reform.

** See page 41 for a reconciliation of net income to operating earnings.

*** Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net periodic pension and nonpension postretirement benefit costs.

****Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on restricted cash.
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Management Discussion

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

OVERVIEW

The financial section of the International Business Machines
Corporation (IBM or the company) 2018 Annual Report includes
the Management Discussion, the Consolidated Financial
Statements and the Notes to Consolidated Financial State-
ments. This Overview is designed to provide the reader with
some perspective regarding the information contained in the
financial section.

Organization of Information

« The Management Discussion is designed to provide readers
with an overview of the business and a narrative on the
company’s financial results and certain factors that may
affect its future prospects from the perspective of the
company’s management. The “Management Discussion
Snapshot,” beginning on page 19, presents an overview of
the key performance drivers in 2018.

= Beginning with the “Year in Review” on page 27, the Manage-
ment Discussion contains the results of operations for each
reportable segment of the business and a discussion of
the company’s financial position and cash flows. Other key
sections within the Management Discussion include:
“Looking Forward” on page 59, and “Liquidity and Capital
Resources” on page 60, which includes a description of
management’s definition and use of free cash flow.

« The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented on
pages 70 through 75. These statements provide an overview
of the company’s income and cash flow performance and
its financial position.

« The Notes follow the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Among other items, the Notes contain the company’s
accounting policies (pages 76 to 88), acquisitions and
divestitures (pages 91 to 94), certain contingencies and
commitments (pages 115 to 117), revenue (pages 120 to 122)
and retirement-related plans information (pages 127 to 141).

« The Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (GAAP).

« OnDecember 22,2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (U.S.
tax reform) was enacted in the U.S. This Act resulted in the
company recording a charge of $5.5 billion in the fourth-
quarter 2017. For the full-year 2018, the company recorded
additional charges of $2.0 billion, including $1.9 billion in
the fourth quarter, primarily related to the election to
include Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (GILTI) in
measuring deferred taxes. Refer to note N, “Taxes,” on
pages 117 to 119 for additional information.

« Effective January 1, 2018, the company adopted the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) guidance on
presentation of net periodic pension and nonpension
postretirement benefit costs (net benefit cost). The
guidance is primarily a change in financial statement
presentation, but it did impact the consolidated and
reportable segment gross profit margins and expense and
otherincome. As a result, the company aligned its
presentation of operating (non-GAAP) earnings to conform
to the FASB presentation of these costs in the Consolidated
Statement of Earnings. The periods presented in this
Annual Report are reported on a comparable basis.

« Thereferences to “adjusted for currency” or “at constant
currency” in the Management Discussion do not include
operational impacts that could result from fluctuations in
foreign currency rates. When the company refers to growth
rates at constant currency or adjusts such growth rates for
currency, it is done so that certain financial results can be
viewed without the impact of fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates, thereby facilitating period-to-
period comparisons of its business performance. Financial
results adjusted for currency are calculated by translating
current period activity in local currency using the comparable
prior-year period’s currency conversion rate. This approach
is used for countries where the functional currency is the
local currency. Generally, when the dollar either strengthens
or weakens against other currencies, the growth at constant
currency rates or adjusting for currency will be higher or lower
than growth reported at actual exchange rates. See “Currency
Rate Fluctuations” on page 66 for additional information.

« Within the financial statements and tables in this Annual
Report, certain columns and rows may not add due to the
use of rounded numbers for disclosure purposes.
Percentages reported are calculated from the underlying
whole-dollar numbers.

Operating (non-GAAP) Earnings

In an effort to provide better transparency into the operational
results of the business, the company separates business results
into operating and non-operating categories. Operating earnings
from continuing operations is a non-GAAP measure that excludes
the effects of certain acquisition-related charges, intangible asset
amortization expense resulting from basis differences on equity
method investments, retirement-related costs, discontinued
operations and related tax impacts. Due to the unique, non-
recurring nature of the enactment of U.S. tax reform, the company
characterizes the one-time provisional charge recorded in the
fourth quarter of 2017 and all 2018 adjustments to that charge
as non-operating. Adjustments include true-ups, accounting
elections, any changes to regulations, laws, audit adjustments,
etc. that affect the recorded one-time charge. For acquisitions,
operating (non-GAAP) earnings exclude the amortization of
purchased intangible assets and acquisition-related charges
such as in-process research and development, transaction costs,
applicable restructuring and related expenses, tax charges
related to acquisition integration and pre-closing charges. For
the 2019 operating (non-GAAP) earnings per share expectation,
acquisition-related charges associated with the Red Hat, Inc. (Red
Hat) acquisition exclude pre-closing charges, such as financing
costs. These charges are excluded as they may be inconsistent
in amount and timing from period to period and are dependent
on the size, type and frequency of the company’s acquisitions.
All other spending for acquired companies is included in both
earnings from continuing operations and in operating (non-GAAP)
earnings. Throughout the Management Discussion and Analysis,
the impact of acquisitions over the prior 12-month period may
be a driver of higher expense year to year. For retirement-related
costs, the company characterizes certain items as operating and
others as non-operating, consistent with GAAP. The company
includes defined benefit plan and nonpension postretirement
benefit plan service cost, multi-employer plan costs and the
cost of defined contribution plans in operating earnings. Non-
operating retirement-related costs include defined benefit
plan and nonpension postretirement benefit plan amortization
of prior service cost, interest cost, expected return on plan
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assets, amortized actuarial gains/losses, the impacts of any plan
curtailments/settlements, pension insolvency costs and other
costs. Non-operating retirement-related costs are primarily
related to changes in pension plan assets and liabilities which are
tied to financial market performance, and the company considers
these costs to be outside of the operational performance of
the business.

Overall, the company believes that providing investors with a
view of operating earnings as described above provides increased
transparency and clarity into both the operational results of the
business and the performance of the company’s pension plans;
improves visibility to management decisions and their impacts
on operational performance; enables better comparison to peer
companies; and allows the company to provide a long-term
strategic view of the business going forward. The company’s
reportable segment financial results reflect operating earnings
from continuing operations, consistent with the company’s
management and measurement system.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION SNAPSHOT

($ and shares in millions except per share amounts)

FORWARD-LOOKING AND CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS
Certain statements contained in this Annual Report may
constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Any forward-
looking statement in this Annual Report speaks only as of the
date on which it is made; the company assumes no obligation
to update or revise any such statements. Forward-looking
statements are based on the company’s current assumptions
regarding future business and financial performance; these
statements, by their nature, address matters that are uncertain
to different degrees. Forward-looking statements involve a
number of risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause
actual results to be materially different, as discussed more fully
elsewhere in this Annual Report and in the company’s filings with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), including the
company’s 2018 Form 10-K filed on February 26, 2019.

Yr.-to-Yr.

Percent/Margin
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change
Revenue $ 79,591 $ 79,139 0.6%*
Gross profit margin 46.4% 46.7%** (0.3) pts.
Total expense and other (income) $ 25,594 $ 25,543** 0.2%
Total expense and other (income)-to-revenue ratio 32.2% 32.3%** (0.1) pts.
Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 11,342 $ 11,400 (0.5)%
Provision for income taxes from continuing operations $ 2,619* $ 5,642% (53.6)%
Income from continuing operations $ 8,723* $ 5,758* 51.5%
Income from continuing operations margin 11.0% 7.3% 3.7 pts.
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax $ 5 $ (5) NM
Net income $ 8,728* $ 5,753% 51.7%
Earnings per share from continuing operations:

Assuming dilution $  9.51% $ 6.14% 54.9%
Consolidated earnings per share—assuming dilution $  9.52% $  6.14% 55.0%
Weighted-average shares outstanding

Assuming dilution 916.3 937.4 2.2)%
Assets*+ $123,382 $125,356 1.6)%
Liabilities** $106,452 $107,631 1.1)%
Equity*+* $ 16,929 $ 17,725 (4.5)%

* 0.0 percent adjusted for currency.

** Recast to reflect adoption of FASB guidance on presentation of net periodic pension and nonpension postretirement benefit costs.

* Includes charges of $2.0 billion or $2.23 of diluted earnings per share in 2018 and $5.5 billion or $5.84 of diluted earnings per share in 2017

associated with U.S. tax reform.
+*At December 31
NM—Not meaningful
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The following table provides the company’s operating (non-
GAAP) earnings for 2018 and 2017.

($ in millions except per share amounts)

Yr.-to-Yr.
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Percent Change
Net income as reported $ 8,728* $ 5,753* 51.7%
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 5 (5) NM
Income from continuing operations $ 8,723* $ 5,758* 51.5%
Non-operating adjustments (net of tax)
Acquisition-related charges 649 718 9.7)
Non-operating retirement-related costs/(income) 1,248 856** 45.9
U.S. tax reform charge 2,037 5,475 NM
Operating (non-GAAP) earnings* $12,657 $12,807** 1.2)%
Diluted operating (non-GAAP) earnings per share $ 13.81 $ 13.66** 1.1%

* See page 41 for a more detailed reconciliation of net income to operating (non-GAAP) earnings.

**Recast to reflect adoption of FASB guidance on presentation of net periodic pension and nonpension postretirement benefit costs.
* Includes charges of $2.0 billion in 2018 and $5.5 billion in 2017 associated with U.S. tax reform.

NM—Not meaningful

In 2018, the company reported $79.6 billion in revenue and $8.7
billion in income from continuing operations, which included
charges of $2.0 billion associated with U.S. tax reform. Operating
(non-GAAP) earnings were $12.7 billion, which excludes the tax
reform charges. Diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations were $9.51 as reported and $13.81 on an operating
(non-GAAP) basis. The company generated $15.2 billion in cash
from operations, $11.9 billion in free cash flow and delivered
shareholder returns of $10.1 billion in gross common stock
repurchases and dividends.

Total consolidated revenue in 2018 increased 0.6 percent as
reported and was flat adjusted for currency compared to the prior
year. Cognitive Solutions increased 0.2 percent as reported and
was essentially flat adjusted for currency. Solutions Software
grew 0.8 percent as reported (essentially flat adjusted for
currency), while Transaction Processing Software declined 1.2
percent as reported (2 percent adjusted for currency). Global
Business Services (GBS) increased 2.9 percent as reported and
2 percent adjusted for currency led by growth in Consulting.
Technology Services & Cloud Platforms (TS&CP) grew 0.5
percent as reported and was flat adjusted for currency, with
growth in Infrastructure Services and Integration Software
offset by declines in Technical Support Services. Within TS&CP,
there was continued strong growth in cloud revenue which
increased 23 percent year to year as reported and adjusted
for currency. Systems decreased 2 percent as reported and
adjusted for currency, with IBM Z declining year to year reflecting
product cycle dynamics. Storage Systems also decreased in a
competitive environment with ongoing pricing pressures, while
Power Systems grew as reported and adjusted for currency,
with strong performance in Power9-based processors and Linux
throughout the year.

In 2018, the company delivered solid strategic imperatives revenue
growth, generating $39.8 billion of revenue and growing 9 percent
as reported and adjusted for currency, with double-digit growth
in cloud and security. Cloud revenue of $19.2 billion increased 12
percent as reported and adjusted for currency, with as-a-Service
revenue up 22 percent as reported and adjusted for currency. The
annual exit run rate for as-a-Service revenue increased to $12.2
billion in 2018 compared to $10.3 billion in 2017.

From a geographic perspective, Americas revenue declined
1.7 percent year to year as reported (1 percent adjusted for
currency) with a decline in the U.S. of 2.4 percent. Europe/Middle
East/Africa (EMEA) increased 4.5 percent (1 percent adjusted
for currency). Asia Pacific was essentially flat year to year as
reported and adjusted for currency.

The consolidated gross margin of 46.4 percent decreased 0.3
points year to year and reflects the impacts of portfolio mix and
investment, partially offset by benefits from productivity and
improving services margins through the year. The operating (non-
GAAP) gross margin of 46.9 percent decreased 0.4 points versus
the prior year primarily driven by the same factors.
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Total expense and other (income) increased 0.2 percent in
2018 compared to the prior year. The year-to-year performance
was driven by decline in intellectual property (IP) income (2
points) and a higher level of workforce rebalancing charges
(1 point), offset by continued focus on efficiency resulting in
lower spending (3 points). Total operating (non-GAAP) expense
and other (income) decreased 0.4 percent year to year, driven
primarily by the same factors.

Pre-tax income from continuing operations of $11.3 billion
decreased 0.5 percent and the pre-tax margin was 14.3 percent,
adecrease of 0.2 points versus 2017. The continuing operations
effective tax rate for 2018 was 23.1 percent, including charges
of $2.0 billion associated with U.S. tax reform. This is compared
to an effective tax rate of 49.5 percent in 2017 which included
a $5.5 billion charge associated with U.S. tax reform. Without
these impacts, the continuing operations tax rate for 2018 would
have been 5.4 percent, compared to a 2017 rate of 1.5 percent.
Net income of $8.7 billion increased 51.7 percent year to year
as a result of the lower tax reform charges in 2018. Operating
(non-GAAP) pre-tax income from continuing operations of
$13.7 billion was flat year to year and the operating (non-GAAP)
pre-tax margin from continuing operations decreased 0.1 points
to 17.3 percent. Operating (non-GAAP) income from continuing
operations of $12.7 billion decreased 1.2 percent with an
operating (non-GAAP) income margin from continuing operations
of 15.9 percent, down 0.3 points year to year. The operating
(non-GAAP) effective tax rate from continuing operations in 2018
was 7.9 percent, compared to 6.8 percent in the prior year.

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations of $9.51 in
2018 increased 54.9 percent year to year, which included lower
year-to-year charges associated with U.S. tax reform. Operating
(non-GAAP) diluted earnings per share of $13.81 increased
1.1 percent versus 2017. In 2018, the company repurchased
32.9 million shares of its common stock at a cost of $4.4 billion
and had $3.3 billion remaining in the current share repurchase
authorization at December 31, 2018.

At December 31, 2018, the balance sheet remains strong and
the company continues to be committed to maintaining a strong
investment grade rating. Cash, restricted cash and marketable
securities at December 31, 2018 were $12.2 billion, a decrease
of $0.6 billion from December 31, 2017. Key drivers in the
balance sheet and total cash flows were:

Total assets decreased $2.0 billion (increased $1.2 billion
adjusted for currency) from December 31, 2017 driven by:

« Adeclinein receivables of $1.6 billion ($0.6 billion adjusted
for currency) driven by a decline in trade receivables of
$1.5 billion, and

« Adecrease in netintangibles and goodwill of $1.2 billion
($0.6 billion adjusted for currency) resulting from currency
impacts and intangibles amortization; partially offset by

« Anincrease in deferred costs of $1.0 billion ($1.2 billion
adjusted for currency) driven primarily by capitalized sales
commissions costs due to the adoption of the new revenue
standard.

Total liabilities decreased $1.2 billion (increased $1.3 billion
adjusted for currency) from December 31, 2017 driven by:

- Decreases in total debt ($1.0 billion), deferred income
($0.7 billion) and compensation and benefits ($0.5 billion);
partially offset by

« Increasesintaxes ($1.1 billion).

Total equity of $16.9 billion decreased $0.8 billion from
December 31, 2017 as a result of:

« Decreases from dividends ($5.7 billion) and treasury stock
($4.6 billion) primarily due to share repurchases; partially
offset by

« Increases from net income ($8.7 billion) and the transition
adjustment related to the adoption of the new revenue
standard ($0.6 billion).

The company generated $15.2 billion in cash flow provided
by operating activities, a decrease of $1.5 billion compared to
2017, driven primarily by a decrease in cash provided by financing
receivables ($0.8 billion), a decrease in cash sourced from sales
cycle working capital ($0.2 billion) and an increase in cash
income tax payments ($0.1 billion). Net cash used in investing
activities of $4.9 billion was $2.2 billion lower than the prior year,
primarily driven by decreases in cash used for net non-operating
receivables ($1.5 billion) and lower net purchases of marketable
securities and other investments ($0.5 billion). Net cash used
in financing activities of $10.5 billion increased $4.1 billion
compared to 2017, driven primarily by a decrease in net cash
sourced from debt transactions ($3.7 billion), with a lower level
of issuances and a higher level of maturities in the current year.

In January 2019, the company disclosed that it is expecting
GAAP earnings per share from continuing operations of at least
$12.45 and operating (non-GAAP) earnings of at least $13.90 per
diluted share for 2019. The company expects free cash flow to be
approximately $12 billion in 2019. Free cash flow realization is
expected to be approximately 100 percent of GAAP netincome.
Refer to page 61 in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section
for additional information on this non-GAAP measure. Refer to
the Looking Forward section on pages 59 and 60 for additional
information on the company’s expectations.
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DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Please refer to IBM’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
SEC on February 26, 2019 for Item 1A. entitled “Risk Factors.”

The company creates value for clients by providing integrated
solutions and products that leverage: data, information
technology, deep expertise in industries and business processes,
with trust and security and a broad ecosystem of partners and
alliances. IBM solutions typically create value by enabling new
capabilities for clients that transform their businesses and
help them engage with their customers and employees in new
ways. These solutions draw from an industry-leading portfolio
of consulting and IT implementation services, cloud, digital
and cognitive offerings, and enterprise systems and software
which are all bolstered by one of the world’s leading research
organizations.

IBM Strategy

IBM’s strategy is wholly focused on the needs of its clients. IBM
is atechnology company, but first and foremost it is an enterprise
company. IBM serves enterprises of all sizes, and IBM’s longest-
standing clients are leaders in their industries—the world’s
leading financial services institutions, airlines, manufacturers,
consumer goods and retail companies. IBM’s mission is to help
its clients transform their companies and lead in their industries.

One of the biggest priorities for IBM clients is to derive
competitive advantage through insights and the latest digital
technologies. Betterinsight about the wants and needs of
their customers will help them distinguish themselves in the
marketplace. Data-driven insight will also influence how they
design and produce their own products, as well as help them
identify opportunities in new markets.

However, most companies are harnessing only a small percent
of the valuable data they collect. As IBM clients embark on
the next chapter of their digital journey, the proper collection,
use, safeguarding and management of data is of paramount
importance. Choosing the right digital technologies to analyze
the data is also necessary.

IBM helps clients harness the power of their data through
technologies like AL, analytics and blockchain; on a hybrid cloud
that connects data across traditional and new environments; with
services that put a client’s data and insight to use in and for their
business. Underpinning all of this, IBM safeguards client data
with world-class technologies and approaches to security.

By reinventing themselves digitally around insight, clients
become what IBM calls Cognitive Enterprises.

What IBM Brings to Clients

Businesses are choosing IBM because they want to partner
with a company that can uniquely integrate three core
capabilities:

1. They want the most innovative technology, like AI,
blockchain, cybersecurity and quantum delivered in a
hybrid cloud environment.

2. They want industry expertise—from a partner that deeply
understands their industry and can apply innovation to
their business processes to drive transformation and
competitive advantage.

3. And, finally, they want a total commitment to trust and
security. Clients want to partner with a company that will
protect their valuable data and insights, and one that
develops and deploys new innovations with a commitment
to do so responsibly.

IBMis unique in that it can integrate all three core capabilities
for clients.

Innovative Technology

IBM has a long history of bringing innovative technology to the
world. For26 years, IBM has led the world in U.S. patents; six
IBMers are Nobel Laureates; and IBM engineers have developed
innumerable first-of-its-kind products and services. Current
examples of IBM’s innovative technology include:

« Analytics and Al: IBM’s long-standing leadership in
managing and extracting insights from data starts with a
portfolio of analytics and database offerings. A few years
ago, IBM brought AT into the mainstream with the Watson
platform, which to date has been the foundation of many
Enterprise AL implementations in production. Recently, IBM
augmented its Watson platform with a set of Al tools that
enable clients to trace the origins of the data their Al models
use, explain what is behind their recommendations and
ensure that bias has not crept into results. These
innovations are making AI more consumable by everyday
users—not just data scientists.

« Security: Businesses built around data require an
unparalleled level of data security. IBM is the leader in
information security for enterprises—with leadership in
both security software and services. Security is embedded
inside all of IBM’s products and services. For example,
IBM Z offers pervasive security by building data encryption
directly in its computing processor. In addition, IBM’s
services businesses are world class in embedding security
into the solutions they build and run for IBM clients.

» Blockchain is an exciting technology that is just beginning to
transform business processes. IBM’s platform has been
rated number one by leading analyst firms such as Juniper
Research and Everest Group. Blockchain technology
enables multiple parties to conduct business with each
other on a single, unified distributed system, eliminating the
costly and time-consuming hand-offs of fragmented
systems. IBM is deploying blockchain technology with
clients to transform how global trade is transacted, how
food safety is tracked and how supply chains are managed.
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< Cloud: Enterprise clients are in the very early stages of
the move to cloud. IBM estimates that only 20 percent of
workloads have moved to the cloud—with work ahead for
the remaining 80 percent. The first part was to move
business workloads that exist as a layer over core
processes. The hard part is ahead: moving the mission-
critical systems that run banking, retail, telecom and other
industries. Some of these workloads will remain in
traditional IT systems, some will move to a private cloud
inside the safety of a client’s firewall, others will move to
public clouds, and some will surge between all of these.
Wherever a workload may reside, it will need to share
its data across environments. All of this requires an
approach that is open, highly interoperable between
environments, and even interoperable between different
public clouds. This is what IBM has long called hybrid
cloud—and this describes the solution for the 80 percent of
the workloads that is to come. With in-depth experience
across all three environments, IBM brings the strongest
hybrid cloud solution to the market for enterprises—which
will be strengthened through the acquisition of Red Hat.

Industry Expertise
Changing a business requires in-depth understanding of how a
business works and how technology can make it work differently.

IBM brings both industry expertise and innovative technology to
clients through the IBM services and products businesses. This
combination makes IBM unique and essential.

A few examples of this capability are highlighted below:

« Global Business Services: the IBM GBS business is one of
the world’s largest professional services businesses. Its
mission is to help clients along the journey to becoming a
Cognitive Enterprise.

« Global Technology Services: the IBM GTS business runs
some of the world’s largest data centers—and thereby
some of the world’s most mission-critical workflows and
franchises. GTS helps clients along their journey to
the hybrid cloud—leveraging the best of their existing
systems in the context of the regulatory, security and
workflow of their industry.

« Industry and Domain-Specific Solutions: augmenting IBM’s
services businesses are software and solutions designed for
specific industries and domains. For example:

Health: IBM has become a leader in applying advanced
digital technologies to healthcare, including the
application of Al and data analytics to the diagnosis and
treatment of patients, bringing smart decisions to Health
Care payers, and helping Life Sciences companies
develop innovative products and services.

Financial Services: IBM is a leading provider in the
Financial Services industry; with IBM’s Promontory
Financial Group, a leading advisor in Financial Regulation
and Compliance, IBM offers an advanced set of solutions
for managing Risk and Compliance, a critical workflow in
the Financial Services industry.

Trust and Security

Data and Al—together, they are both the opportunity and
the issue of current times. They can make the world a better,
healthier and more productive place; but only if businesses and
consumers trust the companies putting data and AI to work.

IBM is a 107-year old business—and the reason it has been
successful for so long is because it has earned the trust of
its clients. IBM has not only followed guidelines around the
responsible handling of data and the stewardship of new
technology, but created them, published them, and invited others
to adopt similar commitments. IBM’s principles make clear that:

« The purpose of new technologies is to augment—not
replace—human expertise;

- Dataandinsights derived from AI belong to their owners
and creators (not their IT partners); and,

« New technologies must be transparent and explainable.

There are many companies in the IT industry who bring
technology products to the marketplace. Many bring technology
services to the marketplace. A few companies do both, but no one
can do it as well as IBM when it comes to meeting the needs of
clients. By bringing together technology and workflow, combining
it with industry expertise, innovation and deployment, IBM helps
clients and industries truly transform themselves.

This is what truly sets IBM apart.

Business Model

The company’s business model is built to support two principal
goals: helping enterprise clients to move from one era to the
next by bringing together innovative technology and industry
expertise, and providing long-term value to shareholders. The
business model has been developed over time through strategic
investments in capabilities and technologies that have long-term
growth and profitability prospects based on the value they deliver
to clients.

The company’s global capabilities include services, software,
systems, fundamental research and related financing. The broad
mix of businesses and capabilities are combined to provide
integrated solutions and platforms to the company’s clients.

The business model is dynamic, adapting to the continuously
changing industry and economic environment, including the
company’s transformation into cloud and as-a-Service delivery
models. The company continues to strengthen its position
through strategic organic investments and acquisitions in higher-
value areas, broadening its industry expertise and integrating Al
into more of what the company offers. In addition, the company
is transforming into a more agile enterprise to drive innovation
and speed, as well as helping to drive productivity, which
supports investments for participation in markets with significant
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long-term opportunity. The company also regularly evaluates its
portfolio and proactively maximizes shareholder value of non-
strategic assets by bringing products to end of life, engaging in
IP partnerships or executing divestitures.

This business model, supported by the company’s financial
model, has enabled the company to deliver strong earnings, cash
flows and returns to shareholders over the long term.

Business Segments and Capabilities

The company’s major operations consist of five business
segments: Cognitive Solutions, Global Business Services,
Technology Services & Cloud Platforms, Systems and Global
Financing.

Cognitive Solutions comprises a broad portfolio of primarily
software capabilities that help IBM’s clients to identify actionable
new insights and inform decision-making for competitive
advantage. Leveraging IBM’s research, technology and industry
expertise, this business delivers a full spectrum of capabilities,
from descriptive, predictive and prescriptive analytics to
artificial intelligence. Cognitive Solutions includes Watson, the
first enterprise AI platform that specializes in driving value and
knowledge from the 80 percent of the world’s data that sits
behind company firewalls. It enables businesses to reimagine
their workflows across a variety of industries and professions
and gives organizations complete control of their insights, data,
training and IP.

Additionally, Cognitive Solutions includes the new Watson
OpenScale technology—a first of a kind, open technology
platform that addresses key challenges of Al adoption. It enables
companies to manage Al transparently throughout the full AL
lifecycle, irrespective of where their AI applications were built
or in which environment they currently run.

IBM’s solutions are provided through the most contemporary
delivery methods including through cloud environments and
as-a-Service models. Cognitive Solutions consists of Solutions
Software and Transaction Processing Software.

Cognitive Solutions Capabilities

Solutions Software: provides the basis for many of the
company’s strategic areas. IBM has established the world’s
deepest portfolio of enterprise AL, including analytics and data
management platforms, cloud data services, talent management
solutions, and solutions tailored by industry. Watson Platform,
Watson Health and Watson Internet of Things (IoT) are certain
capabilities included in Solutions Software. IBM’s world-class
security platform weaves in Al to deliver integrated security
intelligence across clients’ entire operations, including their
cloud, applications, networks and data, helping them to prevent,
detect and remediate potential threats.

Transaction Processing Software: includes software that
primarily runs mission-critical systems in industries such as
banking, airlines and retail.

Global Business Services (GBS) provides clients with consulting,
application management and business process services.
These professional services deliver value and innovation to
clients through solutions which leverage industry, technology
and business strategy and process expertise. GBS is the
digital reinvention partner for IBM clients, combining industry
knowledge, functional expertise, and applications with the power
of business design and cognitive and cloud technologies. The
full portfolio of GBS services is backed by its globally integrated
delivery network and integration with technologies, solutions and
services from IBM units including IBM Watson, IBM Cloud, IBM
Research, and Global Technology Services.

In 2018, focused on digital reinvention, GBS assisted clients on
their journeys to becoming Cognitive Enterprises, helping them
engage their customers with new digital value propositions,
transform workflows using AI, and build hybrid, open cloud
infrastructures. This was delivered by the operating model
rolled out in 2017—Digital Strategy and iX, Cognitive Process
Transformation and Cloud Application Innovation, cross industry
and globally.

GBS Capabilities

Consulting: provides business consulting services focused on
bringing to market solutions that help clients shape their digital
blueprints and customer experiences, define their cognitive
operating models, unlock the potential in all data to improve
decision-making, set their next-generation talent strategies and
create new technology architectures in a cloud-centric world.

Application Management: delivers system integration,
application management, maintenance and support services for
packaged software, as well as custom and legacy applications.
Value is delivered through advanced capabilities in areas such
as security and privacy, application testing and modernization,
cloud application migration and automation.

Global Process Services (GPS): delivers finance, procurement,
talent and engagement, and industry-specific business process
outsourcing services. These services deliver improved business
results to clients through a consult-to-operate model which
includes the strategic change and/or operation of the client’s
processes, applications and infrastructure. GBS is redefining
process services for both growth and efficiency through the
application of the power of cognitive technologies like Watson,
as well as the IoT, blockchain and deep analytics.

Technology Services & Cloud Platforms (TS&CP) provides
comprehensive IT infrastructure and platform services that
create business value for clients. Clients gain access to leading-
edge, high-quality services, flexibility and economic value. This is
enabled through leverage of insights drawn from IBM’s decades
of experience across thousands of engagements, the skills of
practitioners, advanced technologies, applied innovation from
IBM Research and global scale.
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TS&CP Capabilities

Infrastructure Services: delivers a portfolio of project services,
managed and outsourcing services, and cloud-delivered services
focused on clients’ enterprise IT infrastructure environments
to enable digital transformation and deliver improved quality,
flexibility and economic value. The portfolio includes a
comprehensive set of hybrid cloud services and solutions to
assist enterprise clients in building and running contemporary IT
environments. These offerings integrate long-standing expertise in
service management and technology with the ability to utilize the
power of new technologies, drawn from across IBM’s businesses
and ecosystem partners. The portfolio is built using the IBM
Services Platform with Watson, designed to augment human
intelligence with cognitive technologies, and addresses hybrid
cloud, digital workplace, business resiliency, network, managed
applications, cloud and security. The company’s capabilities,
including IBM Cloud, cognitive computing and hybrid cloud
implementation, provide high-performance, end-to-end innovation
and an improved ability for clients to achieve business objectives.

Technical Support Services: delivers comprehensive support
services to maintain and improve the availability of clients’ IT
infrastructures. These offerings include maintenance for IBM
products and other technology platforms, as well as open source
and vendor software and solution support, drawing on innovative
technologies and leveraging the IBM Services Platform with
Watson capabilities.

Integration Software: delivers industry-leading hybrid cloud
solutions that empower clients to achieve rapid innovation,
hybrid integration and process transformation with choice
and consistency across public, dedicated and local cloud
environments, leveraging the IBM Platform-as-a-Service
solution. Integration Software offerings and capabilities help
clients address the digital imperatives to create, connect and
optimize their applications, data and infrastructure on their
journey to become coghnitive businesses.

Systems provides clients with innovative infrastructure
platforms to help meet the new requirements of hybrid cloud
and enterprise AI workloads. More than one-third of Systems
Hardware’s server and storage sales transactions are through the
company’s business partners, with the balance direct to end-user
clients. IBM Systems also designs advanced semiconductor and
systems technology in collaboration with IBM Research, primarily
for use in the company’s systems.

Systems Capabilities
Systems Hardware: includes IBM’s servers: IBM Z, Power
Systems and Storage Systems.

Servers: a range of high-performance systems designed to
address computing capacity, security and performance needs
of businesses, hyperscale cloud service providers and scientific
computing organizations. The portfolio includes IBM Z, a trusted
enterprise platform for integrating data, transactions and insight,
and Power Systems, a system designed from the ground up for
big data and enterprise AI, optimized for hybrid cloud and Linux,
and delivering open innovation with OpenPOWER.

Storage Systems: data storage products and solutions that
allow clients to retain and manage rapidly growing, complex
volumes of digital information and to fuel data-centric cognitive
applications. These solutions address critical client requirements
for information retention and archiving, security, compliance and
storage optimization, including data deduplication, availability
and virtualization. The portfolio consists of a broad range of flash
storage, disk and tape storage solutions.

Operating Systems Software: IBM Z operating system
environments include z/0S, a security-rich, high-performance
enterprise operating system, as well as Linux. Power Systems
offers a choice of AIX, IBM i or Linux operating systems. These
operating systems leverage POWER architecture to deliver
secure, reliable and high performing enterprise-class workloads
across a breadth of server offerings.

Global Financing encompasses two primary businesses:
financing, primarily conducted through IBM Credit LLC (IBM
Credit), and remanufacturing and remarketing. IBM Credit is
a wholly owned subsidiary of IBM that accesses the capital
markets directly. IBM Credit, through its financing solutions,
facilitates IBM clients’ acquisition of information technology
systems, software and services in the areas where the company
has expertise. The financing arrangements are predominantly
for products or services that are critical to the end users’
business operations. The company conducts a comprehensive
credit evaluation of its clients prior to extending financing. As
a captive financier, Global Financing has the benefit of both
deep knowledge of its client base and a clear insight into the
products and services financed. These factors allow the business
to effectively manage two of the major risks associated with
financing, credit and residual value, while generating strong
returns on equity. Global Financing also maintains a long-term
partnership with the company’s clients through various stages
of the IT asset life cycle—from initial purchase and technology
upgrades to asset disposition decisions.

Global Financing Capabilities

Client Financing: lease, installment payment plan and loan
financing to end users and internal clients for terms up to seven
years. Assets financed are primarily new and used IT hardware,
software and services where the company has expertise. Internal
financing is predominantly in support of Technology Services &
Cloud Platforms’ long-term client service contracts. All internal
financing arrangements are at arm’s-length rates and are based
upon market conditions.

Commercial Financing: short-term working capital financing
to suppliers, distributors and resellers of IBM and Original
Equipment Manufacturer (OEM) products and services. The OEM
portion will begin winding down starting in the second quarter of
2019 and continuing throughout the calendar year. Commercial
Financing also includes internal activity where Global Financing
factors a selected portion of the company’s accounts receivable
primarily for cash management purposes, at arm’s-length rates.



26

Management Discussion

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

Remanufacturing and Remarketing: assets include used
equipment returned from lease transactions, or used and surplus
equipment acquired internally or externally. These assets may
be refurbished or upgraded, and sold or leased to new or existing
clients both externally or internally. Externally remarketed
equipment revenue represents sales or leases to clients and
resellers. Internally remarketed equipment revenue primarily
represents used equipment that is sold internally to Systems
and Technology Services & Cloud Platforms. Systems may also
sell the equipment that it purchases from Global Financing to
external clients.

IBM Worldwide Organizations
The following worldwide organizations play key roles in IBM’s
delivery of value to its clients:

- Global Markets

« Research, Development and Intellectual Property

Global Markets

IBM has a global presence, operating in more than 175 countries
with a broad-based geographic distribution of revenue. The
company’s Global Markets organization manages IBM’s global
footprint, working closely with dedicated country-based
operating units to serve clients locally. These country teams
have client relationship managers who lead integrated teams of
consultants, solution specialists and delivery professionals to
enable clients’ growth and innovation.

By complementing local expertise with global experience and
digital capabilities, IBM builds deep and broad-based client
relationships. This local management focus fosters speed
in supporting clients, addressing new markets and making
investments in emerging opportunities. The Global Markets
organization serves clients with expertise in their industry as
well as through the products and services that IBM and partners
supply. IBM continues to expand its reach to new and existing
clients through digital marketplaces, digital sales and local
Business Partner resources.

Research, Development and Intellectual Property

IBM’s research and development (R&D) operations differentiate
the company from its competitors. IBM annually invests
approximately 7 percent of total revenue for R&D, focusing on
high-growth, high-value opportunities. IBM Research works
with clients and the company’s business units through global
labs on near-term and mid-term innovations. It delivers many
new technologies to IBM’s portfolio every year and helps clients
address their most difficult challenges. IBM Research scientists
are conducting pioneering work in artificial intelligence, quantum
computing, blockchain, security, cloud, nanotechnology, silicon
and post-silicon computing architectures and more—applying
these technologies across industries including financial services,
healthcare, blockchain and IoT.

In 2018, for the 26th consecutive year, IBM was awarded more
U.S. patents than any other company. IBM’s 9,100 patents
awarded in 2018 represent a diverse range of inventions in
strategic growth areas for the company, including more than
3,000 patents related to work in artificial intelligence, cloud,
cybersecurity and quantum computing.

The company actively continues to seek IP protection for its
innovations, while increasing emphasis on other initiatives
designed to leverage its IP leadership. Some of IBM’s
technological breakthroughs are used exclusively in IBM
products, while others are licensed and may be used in IBM
products and/or the products of the licensee. As part of its
business model, the company licenses certain of its intellectual
property assets, which constitute high-value technology, but
may be applicable in more mature markets. The licensee drives
the future development of the IP and ultimately expands the
customer base. This generates IP income for the company both
upon licensing, and with any ongoing royalty arrangements
between it and the licensee. While the company’s various
proprietary IP rights are important to its success, IBM believes its
business as a whole is not materially dependent on any particular
patent or license, or any particular group of patents or licenses.
IBM owns or is licensed under a number of patents, which vary
in duration, relating to its products.
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YEAR IN REVIEW

Results of Continuing Operations

Segment Details

The following is an analysis of the 2018 versus 2017 reportable segment results. The table below presents each reportable segment’s
external revenue and gross margin results. Segment pre-tax income includes transactions between segments that are intended to
reflect an arm’s-length transfer price and excludes certain unallocated corporate items.

($ in millions)
Yr.-to-Yr. Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent/ Percent Change
Margin Adjusted for
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change Currency
Revenue
Cognitive Solutions $18,481 $18,453 0.2% (0.4)%
Gross margin 77.5% 78.6%* (1.1) pts.
Global Business Services 16,817 16,348 2.9% 2.0%
Gross margin 26.7% 24.9%* 1.7 pts.
Technology Services & Cloud Platforms 34,462 34,277 0.5% (0.1)%
Gross margin 40.5% 40.3%* 0.2 pts.
Systems 8,034 8,194 (2.0)% (2.3)%
Gross margin 49.8% 53.2%* (3.4) pts.
Global Financing 1,590 1,696 (6.3)% (6.5)%
Gross margin 29.1% 29.3% (0.2) pts.
Other 207 171 21.0% 19.9%
Gross margin (140.7)% (173.9)%* 33.2pts.
Total consolidated revenue $79,591 $79,139 0.6% 0.0%
Total consolidated gross profit $36,936 $36,943* 0.0%
Total consolidated gross margin 46.4% 46.7%* (0.3) pts.
Non-operating adjustments
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 372 449 (17.2)%
Retirement-related costs/(income) — —* —%
Operating (non-GAAP) gross profit $37,307 $37,392* 0.2)%
Operating (non-GAAP) gross margin 46.9% 47.2%* (0.4) pts.

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net benefit cost.
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Cognitive Solutions

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.

Yr.-to-Yr. Percent Change

Percent Adjusted for

For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change Currency
Cognitive Solutions external revenue $18,481 $18,453 0.2% 0.40)%
Solutions Software $12,903 $12,806 0.8% 0.3%

Transaction Processing Software 5,578 5,647 1.2) 1.9)

Cognitive Solutions revenue of $18,481 million was essentially
flat as reported and adjusted for currency in 2018 compared to
the prior year. On an as-reported and constant currency basis,
there was growth in Solutions Software, while Transaction
Processing Software declined year to year.

Solutions Software revenue of $12,903 million grew 0.8 percent
as reported (essentially flat adjusted for currency) compared
to the prior year, led by the company’s analytics and security
platforms. Within analytics, the company had broad-based
growth across the Db2 portfolio, including analytics appliances
and increasing demand for IBM Cloud Private for Data, which
accelerated in the fourth quarter of 2018. The company
continued to have solid demand for integrated security and
services solutions with strong growth in security intelligence and
orchestration offerings. Across the industry verticals, Watson
Health and Watson Media & Weather grew revenue as reported
and adjusted for currency compared to the prior year. Certain
Solutions Software offerings which address horizontal domains,
specifically collaboration, commerce and talent, have been
impacted by secular shifts in the market. In December 2018,
the company announced its intent to divest its collaboration
and on-premise marketing and commerce products to HCL. This
transaction is expected to close by mid-year 2019.

Transaction Processing Software revenue of $5,578 million
decreased 1.2 percent as reported (2 percent adjusted for
currency) in 2018 compared to the prior year. There was
improved revenue performance sequentially in the fourth
quarter 2018 versus the third quarter 2018 reflecting clients’

commitment to the company’s platform for the long-term and
the value it provides in managing mission-critical workloads and
predictability in spending.

Cognitive Solutions total strategic imperatives revenue of $12.3
billion grew 3 percent as reported and 2 percent adjusted for
currency year to year. Cloud revenue of $2.6 billion grew 2 percent
as reported and adjusted for currency, with an as-a-Service exit
run rate of $2.0 billion.

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.

Percent/

Margin

For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017* Change

Coghnitive Solutions
External gross profit $14,319  $14,503 1.3)%
External gross profit

margin 77.5% 78.6% (1.1) pts.
Pre-tax income $ 7,154 $ 6,795 5.3%
Pre-tax margin 33.8% 32.2% 1.5pts.

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

Coghnitive Solutions gross profit margin decreased 1.1 points to
77.5 percent in 2018 compared to the prior year. The gross profit
margin decline was driven by an increasing mix toward SaaS and
increased royalty cost associated with IP licensing agreements
in 2018 compared to the prior year.

Pre-tax income of $7,154 million increased 5.3 percent
compared to the prior year with a pre-tax margin improvement
of 1.5 points to 33.8 percent, primarily driven by operational
efficiencies and mix.
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Global Business Services

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.

Yr.-to-Yr. Percent Change

Percent Adjusted for

For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change Currency
Global Business Services external revenue $16,817 $16,348 2.9% 2.0%
Consulting $ 7,705 $ 7,262 6.1% 5.1%

Global Process Services 1,259 1,265 (0.5) (0.5)

Application Management 7,852 7,821 0.4 (0.5)

Global Business Services revenue of $16,817 million increased 2.9
percent as reported and 2 percent adjusted for currency in 2018
compared to the prior year. This performance reflects the progress
the company has made to reposition this business, with strong
growth in Consulting, led by key offerings in digital and cloud
application, where the business is bringing together technology
and industry expertise to help clients on their digital journey.

Consulting revenue of $7,705 million increased 6.1 percent as
reported (5 percent adjusted for currency) compared to the
prior year. The improvement was driven by the company’s digital
strategy, including Digital Commerce and CRM offerings and
accelerated growth in next generation enterprise applications,
led by strong demand for consulting and implementation services.
GPS revenue of $1,259 million was essentially flat year to year
as reported and decreased 1 percent adjusted for currency.
GPS performance improved during the second half of 2018 on a
year-to-year basis as reported and adjusted for currency, as the
business has been reinventing industry workflows by leveraging
automation and infusing AL In January 2019, the company
announced the intent to divest its Seterus mortgage servicing
platform business (reported within GPS), which is expected
to close in the first quarter of 2019. Application Management
revenue of $7,852 million was flat as reported and declined 1
percent adjusted for currency compared to 2017. The company
continues to help clients move to the cloud with offerings such as
Cloud Migration Factory and cloud application development. The
business continued to decline in the more traditional application
management engagements.

Within GBS, total strategic imperatives revenue of $10.8 billion
grew 10 percent year to year as reported (9 percent adjusted
for currency). Cloud revenue of $4.7 billion grew 19 percent as
reported and adjusted for currency, with an as-a-Service exit run
rate of $2.1 billion.

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.

Percent/

Margin

For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017* Change

Global Business Services
External gross profit $4,484 $4,077 10.0%
External gross profit

margin 26.7% 24.9% 1.7 pts.
Pre-tax income $1,676 $1,362 23.0%
Pre-tax margin 9.8% 8.2% 1.6pts.

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

GBS gross profit margin increased 1.7 points to 26.7 percent
year to year and pre-tax income of $1,676 million increased
23.0 percent year to year. The pre-tax margin increased 1.6
points to 9.8 percent. The year-to-year improvements in margins
and pre-tax income are the result of the shift to higher-value
offerings, realignment of resources to key skill areas, increased
productivity and utilization as well as a benefit from currency,
due to the company’s global delivery model.
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Technology Services & Cloud Platforms

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.

Yr.-to-Yr. Percent Change

Percent Adjusted for

For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change Currency
Technology Services & Cloud Platforms external revenue $34,462 $34,277 0.5% (0.1)%
Infrastructure Services $23,007 $22,690 1.4% 0.7%

Technical Support Services 6,961 7,196 (3.3) (3.5)

Integration Software 4,493 4,390 2.3 1.9

Technology Services & Cloud Platforms revenue of $34,462  ($inmillions)

million increased 0.5 percent as reported (flat adjusted for Yr.-to-Yr.

currency) in 2018 compared to the prior year, with growth in Per;?rgitr/n

Infrastructure Services and Integration Software, offset by  For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017* Change

a decline in Technical Support Services. Cloud revenue grew
double-digits as reported and adjusted for currency. New
and existing clients are engaging IBM to manage their critical
infrastructure and deliver innovation, including migrating
their operations to an open hybrid cloud environment, while
simultaneously achieving predictable spending.

Infrastructure Services revenue of $23,007 million increased 1.4
percent as reported (1 percent adjusted for currency) compared
to the prior year. In Infrastructure Services, the business has
prioritized the portfolio to deliver high-value solutions that bring
productivity to clients and allow for expanding workloads, while
exiting some lower-value offerings. Technical Support Services
revenue of $6,961 million decreased 3.3 percent as reported
(3 percent adjusted for currency) year to year. This business
was impacted by the hardware product cycle dynamics in 2018,
but continued to grow its multi-vendor services offerings which
provide clients with an integrated approach by bringing expertise
and access to different vendor solutions. Integration Software
revenue of $4,493 million grew 2.3 percent as reported (2
percent adjusted for currency) compared to the prior year. There
was strong double-digit growth year to year in SaaS offerings,
with continued strong adoption of IBM Cloud Private, which
helps clients modernize their traditional workloads and provides
access to over 100 integrated IBM software offerings including
blockchain, Watson, IoT and analytics.

Within Technology Services & Cloud Platforms, strategic
imperatives revenue of $12.2 billion increased 18 percent year to
year as reported and adjusted for currency. Cloud revenue of $8.8
billion grew 23 percent as reported and adjusted for currency,
with an as-a-Service exit run rate of $8.0 billion.

Technology Services &
Cloud Platforms

External Technology

Services gross profit $10,307  $10,215 0.9%
External Technology

Services gross profit

margin 34.4% 34.2% 0.2pts.
External Integration
Software gross profit $ 3,651 $ 3,587 1.8%

External Integration
Software gross profit

margin 81.3% 81.7% (0.4) pts.
External total gross profit  $13,958  $13,802 1.1%
External total gross

profit margin 40.5% 40.3% 0.2 pts.
Pre-tax income $ 3,786 $ 4,286 11.7)%
Pre-tax margin 10.7% 12.3% (1.5) pts.

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

Technology Services & Cloud Platforms gross profit margin
of 40.5 percent was essentially flat year to year. The 2018
margin reflects benefits from productivity initiatives, including
automation of delivery processes infused with Al and global
workforce optimization. Pre-tax income of $3,786 million
decreased 11.7 percent. The pre-tax margin declined 1.5 points
year to year to 10.7 percent, reflecting the company’s continued
investment to expand its go-to-market capabilities and develop
new offerings for the hybrid market.
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Services Backlog and Signings

($in billions)
Yr.-to-Yr.
Yr.-to-Yr. Percent Change
Percent Adjusted for
At December 31: 2018 2017 Change Currency
Total backlog $116.1 $121.0 4.1)% (0.6)%

The estimated total services backlog at December 31,2018 was
$116 billion, a decrease of 4.1 percent as reported (1 percent
adjusted for currency).

Total services backlog includes Infrastructure Services,
Consulting, Global Process Services, Application Management
and Technical Support Services (TSS). Total backlog is intended
to be a statement of overall work under contract which is either
noncancellable, or which historically has very low likelihood
of termination, given the criticality of certain services to the
company’s clients. Total backlog does not include as-a-Service
arrangements that allow for termination under contractual
commitment terms. Backlog estimates are subject to change and
are affected by several factors, including terminations, changes
in the scope of contracts, periodic revalidations, adjustments for
revenue not materialized and adjustments for currency.

Services signings are management’s initial estimate of the
value of a client’s commitment under a services contract. There
are no third-party standards or requirements governing the

calculation of signings. The calculation used by management
involves estimates and judgments to gauge the extent of a client’s
commitment, including the type and duration of the agreement,
and the presence of termination charges or wind-down costs.

Signings include Infrastructure Services, Consulting, GPS and
Application Management contracts. Contract extensions and
increases in scope are treated as signings only to the extent
of the incremental new value. TSS is generally not included in
signings as the maintenance contracts tend to be more steady
state, where revenues equal renewals. Certain longer-term
TSS contracts that have characteristics similar to outsourcing
contracts are included in signings.

Contract portfolios purchased in an acquisition are treated as
positive backlog adjustments provided those contracts meet the
company’s requirements for initial signings. A new signing will be
recognized if a new services agreement is signed incidental or
coincidental to an acquisition or divestiture.

($ in millions)
Yr.-to-Yr.
Yr.-to-Yr. Percent Change
Percent Adjusted for
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change Currency
Total signings $44,700 $42,869 4.3% 4.9%
Systems
($ in millions)
Yr.-to-Yr.
Yr.-to-Yr. Percent Change
Percent Adjusted for
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change Currency
Systems external revenue $8,034 $8,194 (2.0)0% 2.3)%
Systems Hardware $6,363 $6,494 (2.00% 2.3)%
IBM z (5.4) (5.6)
Power Systems 8.8 8.7
Storage Systems (5.5) (5.9
Operating Systems Software 1,671 1,701 @.7) (2.4)

Systems revenue of $8,034 million decreased 2.0 percent year
to year as reported (2 percent adjusted for currency) driven by
strong IBM Z performance in the prior year and continuing price
pressures impacting Storage Systems. Both hardware platforms
were down year to year for the full year, as reported and adjusted
for currency. This performance was partially offset by strong
growth in Power Systems (which grew as reported and adjusted

for currency in 2018). Systems Hardware revenue of $6,363
million declined 2.0 percent as reported (2 percent adjusted
for currency). Operating Systems Software revenue of $1,671
million decreased 1.7 percent as reported (2 percent adjusted
for currency) compared to the prior year.
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Within Systems Hardware, IBM Z revenue decreased 5.4 percent
as reported (6 percent adjusted for currency) year to year, driven
by the strong performance in 2017 of the z14 mainframe which
was launched in the third quarter of 2017. The z14 continues to
be one of the most successful programs within IBM Z history,
and the company continued to grow the install base by adding
new clients and new mission-critical workloads to the platform.

Power Systems revenue increased 8.8 percent as reported
(9 percent adjusted for currency) year to year. As reported and
adjusted for currency, there was double-digit revenue growth in
both the low-end and high-end portfolio, mitigated by a decline
in the midrange products. Overall performance was driven by
Linux and continued strong adoption of the new POWER9-based
architecture. In the fourth quarter of 2018, the business released
the next generation POWER9 processors in the high-end.
These systems are designed for handling advanced analytics,
cloud environments and data-intensive workloads in AI, HANA
and UNIX markets. In 2018, the company delivered the most
powerful commercially available supercomputers built with
POWER9 technology to the U.S. Department of Energy labs.

Storage Systems revenue decreased 5.5 percent as reported
(6 percent adjusted for currency) year to year, with declines in
midrange products, mitigated by continued strong growth in flash
array offerings. The storage market remains very competitive,
with ongoing pricing pressures. The company continues to
introduce new innovative products with enhanced functionality
into its products, such as the extension of the next-generation
NVMe technology into its midrange products in December 2018.
This technology is expected to be extended across the storage
portfolio in the first half of 2019.

Within Systems, total strategic imperatives revenue of $4.5 billion
grew 4 percent year to year as reported (3 percent adjusted for
currency). Cloud revenue of $3.1 billion declined 10 percent as
reported and adjusted for currency, reflecting IBM Z product
cycle dynamics.

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent/
Margin
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017* Change
Systems
External Systems
Hardware gross profit $2,590 $2,893 (10.5)%
External Systems
Hardware gross
profit margin 40.7% 44.6% (3.8) pts.
External Operating
Systems Software
gross profit $1,412 $1,469 (3.99%
External Operating
Systems Software
gross profit margin 84.5% 86.4% (1.9) pts.
External total
gross profit $4,002 $4,362 (8.2)%
External total gross
profit margin 49.8% 53.2% (3.4) pts.
Pre-tax income $ 904 $1,128 (19.9Y%
Pre-tax margin 10.2% 12.6% (2.4) pts.

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

The Systems gross profit margin decreased 3.4 points to 49.8
percentin 2018 compared to the prior year. The overall decrease
year to year was driven by the mix away from IBM Z and margin
declines in Power Systems and Storage Systems.

Pre-tax income of $904 million declined 19.9 percent and pre-tax
margin decreased 2.4 points year to year to 10.2 percent driven
by the strong performance in IBM Z in the prior year, and the
continued investment in innovation across the Systems portfolio.

Global Financing

Global Financing is a reportable segment that is measured as
a stand-alone entity. Global Financing facilitates IBM clients’
acquisition of information technology systems, software and
services by providing financing solutions in the areas where the
company has expertise, while generating strong returns on equity.
Global Financing also optimizes the recovery of residual values by
selling assets sourced from end of lease, leasing used equipment
to new clients, or extending lease arrangements with current
clients. Sales of equipment include equipment returned at the
end of a lease, surplus internal equipment and used equipment
purchased externally. Residual value is a risk unique to the
financing business and management of this risk is dependent
upon the ability to accurately project future equipment values
at lease inception. Global Financing has insight into product
plans and cycles for the IBM products under lease. Based upon
this product information, Global Financing continually monitors
projections of future equipment values and compares them with
the residual values reflected in the portfolio.
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Results of Operations

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.

Percent

For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change
External revenue $1,590 $1,696 (6.3)%

Internal revenue 1,610 1,471 9.5
Total revenue $3,200 $3,168 1.0%
Pre-tax income $1,361 $1,278* 6.5%

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

In 2018, Global Financing delivered external revenue of $1,590
million and total revenue of $3,200 million, with an increase in
gross margin of 1.0 points. Total pre-tax income of $1,361 million
increased 6.5 percent compared to 2017 and return on equity
decreased 2.0 points to 30.8 percent.

In 2018, Global Financing total revenue increased 1.0 percent
compared to the prior year. This was due to an increase in internal
revenue of 9.5 percent, driven by an increase in internal financing
(up 17.6 percent to $424 million), and an increase in internal used
equipment sales (up 6.8 percent to $1,187 million). External
revenue declined 6.3 percent due to a decrease in external used
equipment sales (down 30.8 percent to $366 million), partially
offset by an increase in external financing (up 4.9 percent to
$1,223 million).

The increase in external financing revenue was due to the
increase in the average asset balances, partially offset by lower
asset yields. The increase in internal financing revenue was
primarily due to higher asset yields and average asset balances.

Total sales of used equipment represented 48.5 percent and 51.8
percent of Global Financing’s revenue for the years ended December 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. The decrease in 2018
was due to lower volume of external used equipment sales, partially
offset by increases in internal transactions. The gross profit margin
on used sales was 54.2 percent and 47.4 percent for the years
ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
The increase in the gross profit margin was driven by a shift toward
higher margin internal equipment sales.

Geographic Revenue

Global Financing pre-tax income increased 6.5 percent year to
year primarily driven by an increase in gross profit ($52 million)
and a decrease in total expense ($32 million).

The decrease in return on equity from 2017 to 2018 was primarily
due to lower net income. Refer to page 40 for the details of the
after-tax income and return on equity calculations.

Total unguaranteed residual value of leases, including operating
leases, at December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $699 million and
$724 million, respectively. In addition to the unguaranteed
residual value, on a limited basis, Global Financing will obtain
guarantees of the future value of the equipment to be returned
at end of lease.

Third-party residual value guarantees increase the minimum
lease payments as provided for by accounting standards that
are utilized in determining the classification of a lease as a
sales-type lease, direct financing lease or operating lease. The
aggregate asset values associated with the guarantees of sales-
type leases were $231 million and $716 million for the financing
transactions originated during the years ended December 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. In 2018, the residual
value guarantee program resulted in the company recognizing
approximately $148 million of revenue that would otherwise have
been recognized in future periods as operating lease revenue. If
the company had chosen to not participate in a residual value
guarantee program in 2018 and prior years, the 2018 impact
would be substantially mitigated by the effect of prior year
asset values being recognized as operating lease revenue in
the current year. The aggregate asset values associated with
the guarantees of direct financing leases were $163 million and
$154 million for the financing transactions originated during the
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The
associated aggregate guaranteed future values at the scheduled
end of lease were $18 million and $45 million for the financing
transactions originated during the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively. The cost of guarantees was $2
million and $4 million for the years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

In addition to the revenue presentation by reportable segment, the company also measures revenue performance on a geographic basis.

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.

Yr.-to-Yr. Percent Change

Percent Adjusted for

For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017* Change Currency
Total revenue $79,591 $79,139 0.6% 0.0%
Americas $36,994 $37,641 1.7)% (0.7)%

Europe/Middle East/Africa 25,491 24,397 4.5 1.3

Asia Pacific 17,106 17,102 0.0 (0.4)

* Recast to conform to current period presentation.

Total revenue of $79,591 million in 2018 increased 0.6 percent as reported (flat adjusted for currency) compared to the prior year.
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Americas revenue decreased 1.7 percent year to year as reported
(1 percent adjusted for currency) with a decline in North America,
as reported and adjusted for currency, and a decline in Latin
America as reported, but growth adjusted for currency. Within
North America, the U.S. decreased 2.4 percent and Canada
increased 1.4 percent (2 percent adjusted for currency). In Latin
America, Brazil decreased 0.9 percent as reported, but grew 8
percent adjusted for currency, and Mexico increased 2.8 percent
(4 percent adjusted for currency).

EMEA revenue increased 4.5 percent as reported and 1 percent
adjusted for currency. Germany increased 8.0 percent (4 percent
adjusted for currency) and the UK increased 6.2 percent (3
percent adjusted for currency). Spain increased 15.4 percent
(11 percent adjusted for currency) and France grew 3.4 percent
as reported, but declined 1 percent adjusted for currency. Italy
increased 4.0 percent as reported (flat adjusted for currency).

Asia Pacific revenue was essentially flat year to year as reported
and adjusted for currency. Japan increased 3.0 percent as
reported (1 percent adjusted for currency). Australia grew 2.0
percent as reported (5 percent adjusted for currency). China
decreased 7.8 percent (9 percent adjusted for currency) and
India decreased 10.1 percent (6 percent adjusted for currency).

Total Expense and Other (Income)
($ in millions)
Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent/
Margin
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change
Total consolidated expense
and other (income) $25,594  $25,543* 0.2%
Non-operating adjustments
Amortization of acquired
intangible assets (437) (496) (11.9)
Acquisition-related charges (16) (52) (70.2)
Non-operating retirement-
related (costs)/income (1,572) (1,341)* 17.3
Operating (hon-GAAP)
expense and
other (income) $23,569  $23,654* 0.4)%
Total consolidated
expense-to-revenue ratio 32.2% 32.3%* (0.1) pts.
Operating (non-GAAP)
expense-to-revenue ratio 29.6% 29.9%* (0.3) pts.

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

For additional information regarding total expense and other
(income) for both expense presentations, see the following
analyses by category.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change
Selling, general and
administrative expense
Selling, general and
administrative—other $16,438  $17,100* (3.9)%
Advertising and promotional
expense 1,466 1,445 1.5
Workforce rebalancing
charges 598 199 202.2
Amortization of acquired
intangible assets 435 496 12.2)
Stock-based compensation 361 384 (6.0)
Bad debt expense 67 55 (20.9)
Total consolidated
selling, general and
administrative expense $19,366  $19,680* (1.6)%
Non-operating adjustments
Amortization of acquired
intangible assets (435) (496) (12.2)
Acquisition-related charges a5) 3) 17.6
Non-operating retirement-
related (costs)/income - —* -
Operating (non-GAAP)
selling, general and
administrative expense $18,915  $19,170* 1.3)%

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

Total selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense
decreased 1.6 percent in 2018 versus 2017, driven primarily by
the following factors:

« Lower spending (4 points); partially offset by
« Higher workforce rebalancing charges (2 points).

Operating (non-GAAP) SG&A expense decreased 1.3 percent
year to year driven primarily by the same factors.

Bad debt expense increased $12 million in 2018 compared to
2017. The receivables provision coverage was 1.6 percent at
December 31, 2018, unchanged from December 31, 2017.
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Research, Development and Engineering Expense

($ in millions)

Other (Income) and Expense

($ in millions)

35

Yr.-to-Yr. Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent Percent
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017* Change For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change
Total consolidated Other (income) and expense
researcl:l, dev.elopment Foreign currency transaction
and engineering $5,379 $5,590 B8)%  |osses/(gains) $ (427) $ 405 NM
Non-operating adjustment (Gains)/losses on
Non-operating retirement- derivative instruments 434 (341) NM
related (costs)/income - - —  Interestincome (264) (144) 83.7%
Operating (non-GAAP) Net (gains)/losses from
researcr'!, dev'elopment securities and
and engineering $5,379 $5,590 B.8)%  jnvestment assets (102) (20) 404.2
* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net Retirement-related
benefit cost. costs/(income) 1,572 1,341* 17.3%
Other (63) (116) (46.0)
Research, development and engineering (RD&E) expense was Total consolidated other
6.8 percent of revenue in 2018 and 7.1 percent of revenue in 2017. (income) and expense $1,152 $1,125% 2.5%
. Non-operating adjustments
RD&E expense decreased 3.8 percent in 2018 versus 2017 . "
. iy dri by th 51 . f devel t Amortization of acquired
primarily - riven y e co.mp‘any s .everggmg of developmen intangible assets @) _ NM
partnerships consistent with its IP licensing strategy and lower .
spending year to year Acquisition-related
' charges 0 39) (99.2)%
Intellectual Property and Custom Development Income Non-operating retirement-
related costs/(income) (1,572) (1,341)* 17.3
(§in millions) Operating (non-GAAP) other
Yr.-to-Yr. (income) and expense $ (422) $ (255) 65.3%
Percent
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change  * Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
Licensing of intellectual benefit cost.
property including NM—Not meaningful
royalty-based fees $ 723 $1,193 (39.4)%
Custom development income 275 252 9.3  Total consolidated other (income) and expense was expense of
Sales/other transfers of $1,152 million in 2018 compared to $1,125 million in 2017. The
intellectual property 28 21 35,0 increase in expense of $28 million year over year was primarily
Total $1,026  $1,466 (30.0)% driven by:

Licensing of intellectual property including royalty-based
fees decreased 39.4 percent in 2018 compared to 2017. The
company entered into new partnership agreements in 2018,
which included three transactions with period income greater
than $100 million. There were also three transactions greater
than $100 million in 2017. The company licenses IP to partners
who allocate their skills to extend the value of assets that are
high value, but may be in mature markets. The timing and amount
of licensing, sales or other transfers of IP may vary significantly
from period to period depending upon the timing of licensing
agreements, economic conditions, industry consolidation and
the timing of new patents and know-how development.

= Higher retirement-related costs ($232 million); partially

offset by

= Higherinterest income ($120 million); and

Higher gains from securities and investment assets

($81 million).

Interest Expense

($ in millions)
Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change
Interest expense
Total $723 $615 17.6%

Interest expense increased $108 million compared to 2017.
Interest expense is presented in cost of financing in the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings only if the related external
borrowings are to support the Global Financing external business.
Overall interest expense (excluding capitalized interest) in 2018
was $1,480 million, an increase of $207 million year to year, driven
by higher average interest rates and higher average debt levels.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Pre-tax stock-based compensation cost of $510 million
decreased $24 million compared to 2017. This was due primarily
to decreases related to the conversion of stock-based awards
previously issued by acquired entities ($4 million), performance
share units ($7 million) and restricted stock units ($13 million).
Stock-based compensation cost, and the year-to-year change,
was reflected in the following categories: Cost: $82 million, down
$9 million; SG&A expense: $361 million, down $23 million; and
RD&E expense: $67 million, up $8 million.

Retirement-Related Plans

The following table provides the total pre-tax cost for all
retirement-related plans. These amounts are included in the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings within the caption (e.g., Cost,
SG&A, RD&E) relating to the job function of the plan participants.

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change
Retirement-related
plans—cost
Service cost $ 431 $ 429 0.4%
Multi-employer plans 38 40* (5.4)
Cost of defined
contribution plans 1,024 1,046 (2.1)
Total operating costs/
(income) $1,494  $1,516* 1.5)%
Interest cost $ 2,726 $ 2,961 (7.9)%
Expected return on
plan assets (4,049) (4,346) (6.8)
Recognized actuarial
losses 2,941 2,871 2.5
Amortization of prior
service costs/(credits) (73) (88)* (16.6)
Curtailments/settlements 11 19 (39.9)
Other costs 16 (76)* NM
Total non-operating
costs/(income) $ 1,572 $1,341* 17.3%
Total retirement-related
plans—cost $ 3,066 $ 2,857 7.3%

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

NM—Not meaningful

Total pre-tax retirement-related plan cost increased by $209
million compared to 2017, primarily driven by lower expected
return on plan assets ($296 million), an increase in other costs
($93 million) related to benefits from pension litigation in the prior
year and an increase in recognized actuarial losses ($70 million);
partially offset by lower interest costs ($235 million).

As discussed in the “Operating (hon-GAAP) Earnings” section on
pages 18 and 19, the company characterizes certain retirement-
related costs as operating and others as non-operating. Utilizing
this characterization, operating retirement-related costs in 2018
were $1,494 million, a decrease of $22 million compared to
2017, primarily driven by lower defined contribution plans cost
($22 million). Non-operating costs of $1,572 million increased
$232 million in 2018 compared to 2017, driven primarily
by lower expected return on plan assets ($296 million), an
increase in other costs ($93 million) related to benefits from
pension litigation in the prior year and an increase in recognized
actuarial losses ($70 million); partially offset by lower interest
costs ($235 million).

Income Taxes

The continuing operations effective tax rate for 2018 was 23.1
percent, a decrease of 26.4 points versus the prior year. In 2018,
the accounting for impacts of U.S. tax reform was completed and
the effects of measurement period adjustments were recognized
as a net full-year 2018 charge of $2.0 billion (17.7 points). This is
compared to a charge of $5.5 billion (48.0 points) in 2017 related
to the impact of the enactment of U.S. tax reform, a year-to-year
decrease of 30.4 points. Without these impacts, the continuing
operations tax rate for 2018 would have been 5.4 percent,
compared toa 2017 rate of 1.5 percent. The adjusted year-to-year
increase of 3.9 points is primarily driven by the following factors:

« A lower benefit year to year in the utilization of foreign
tax credits of 5.9 points;

« Benefits in 2017 related to an intra-entity asset transfer
of 5.1 points and the tax write down of an investment
of 1.7 points;

« Avyear-to-yearincrease in tax charges related to
intercompany payments of 1.3 points; partially offset by

« Benefits in 2018 related to domestic and foreign audit
activity (6.8 points), geographic mix of pre-tax earnings in
2018 (2.1 points) and the re-assessment of valuation
allowances (1.2 points).

The continuing operations operating (non-GAAP) effective tax
rate was 7.9 percent in 2018, an increase of 1.1 points versus
2017, principally driven by the same factors described above.

For more information on U.S. tax reform impacts, see note N,
“Taxes,” on pages 117 to 119.
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Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed on the basis of the
weighted-average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is
computed on the basis of the weighted-average number of
shares of common stock outstanding plus the effect of dilutive
potential common shares outstanding during the period using the
treasury stock method. Dilutive potential common shares include
outstanding stock options and stock awards.

Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 Change
Earnings per share of
common stock from
continuing operations
Assuming dilution $ 9.51* $ 6.14* 54.9%
Basic $ 9.56 $ 6.17 54.9%
Diluted operating
(non-GAAP) $13.81 $13.66** 1.1%
Weighted-average shares
outstanding (in millions)
Assuming dilution 916.3 937.4 (2.2)%
Basic 912.0 932.8 (2.2)%

* Includes a charge of $2.0 billion or $2.23 of diluted earnings per share
in 2018 and $5.5 billion or $5.84 of diluted earnings per share in 2017
associated with U.S. tax reform.

**Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

Actual shares outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017
were 892.5 million and 922.2 million, respectively. The average
number of common shares outstanding assuming dilution was
21.1 million shares lower in 2018 versus 2017. The decrease was
primarily the result of the common stock repurchase program.

Financial Position

Dynamics

At December 31, 2018, the company continued to have the
financial flexibility to support the business over the long term.
Cash, restricted cash and marketable securities at year end
were $12,222 million. During the year, the company continued to
manage the investment portfolio to meet its capital preservation
and liquidity objectives.

Total debt of $45,812 million decreased $1,012 million from prior
year-end levels. The commercial paper balance at December 31,
2018 was $2,995 million, an increase of $1,499 million from the
prior year end. Within total debt, $31,227 million is in support
of the Global Financing business which is leveraged ata9to 1
ratio. The company continues to have substantial flexibility in
the debt markets. During 2018, the company completed bond
issuances totaling $4,000 million, with terms ranging from 2 to
5 years, and interest rates ranging from 2.65 to 3.60 percent
depending on maturity. The company has consistently generated
strong cash flow from operations and continues to have access
to additional sources of liquidity through the capital markets and
its Credit Facilities.

Consistent with accounting standards, the company remeasured
the funded status of its retirement and postretirement plans at
December 31. At December 31, 2018, the overall net underfunded
position was $13,133 million, an increase of $243 million from
December 31, 2017 driven by lower asset returns, partially
offset by lower interest cost and an increase in discount rates.
At year end, the company’s qualified defined benefit plans were
well funded and the cash requirements related to these plans is
expected to be approximately $400 million in 2019 and in the
$350 million to $400 million range in 2020. In 2018, the return
on the U.S. Personal Pension Plan assets was (1.8) percent and
the plan was 104 percent funded at December 31. Overall, global
asset returns were (1.9) percent and the qualified defined benefit
plans worldwide were 99 percent funded at December 31, 2018.

During 2018, the company generated $15,247 million in cash
from operations, a decrease of $1,477 million compared to
2017. In addition, the company generated $11,876 million in free
cash flow, a decrease of $1,117 million versus the prior year.
See page 61 for additional information on free cash flow. The
company returned $10,109 million to shareholders in 2018, with
$5,666 million in dividends and $4,443 million in gross share
repurchases. In 2018, the company repurchased 32.9 million
shares and had $3.3 billion remaining in share repurchase
authorization at year end. The company’s cash generation
permits the company to invest and deploy capital to areas with
the most attractive long-term opportunities.

Global Financing Financial Position Key Metrics

($ in millions)
At December 31: 2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,833 $ 2,696
Net investment in sales-type

and direct financing leases® 6,924 7,253
Equipment under operating leases—

external clients® 444 477
Client loans 12,802 12,450
Total client financing assets 20,170 20,180
Commercial financing receivables 11,838 11,590
Intercompany financing receivables®® 4,873 5,056
Total assets $41,320  $41,096
Debt 31,227 31,434
Total equity $ 3,470 $ 3,484

@ Includes deferred initial direct costs which are eliminated in IBM’s
consolidated results.

@ Includes intercompany mark-up, priced on an arm’s-length basis, on
products purchased from the company’s product divisions which is
eliminated in IBM’s consolidated results.

® Entire amount eliminated for purposes of IBM’s consolidated results
and therefore does not appear on page 72.

@ These assets, along with all other financing assets in this table, are
leveraged at the value in the table using Global Financing debt.
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At December 31, 2018, substantially all financing assets were
IT-related assets, and approximately 55 percent of the total
external portfolio was with investment-grade clients with no
direct exposure to consumers. This investment-grade percentage
is based on the credit ratings of the companies in the portfolio.
Additionally, the company takes actions to transfer exposure to
third parties. On that basis, the investment-grade content would
increase by 16 points to 71 percent, a slight increase year to year.

The company has a long-standing practice of taking mitigation
actions, in certain circumstances, to transfer credit risk to
third parties, including credit insurance, financial guarantees,
nonrecourse borrowings, transfers of receivables recorded as
true sales in accordance with accounting guidance or sales of
equipment under operating lease.

IBM Working Capital

($ in millions)

At December 31: 2018 2017
Current assets $49,146  $49,735
Current liabilities 38,227 37,363
Working capital $10,918  $12,373
Current ratio 1.29:1 1.33:1

Working capital decreased $1,454 million from the year-end
2017 position. The key changes are described below:

Current assets decreased $590 million (increased $1,009 million
adjusted for currency) due to:

« Adeclinein receivables of $1,067 million ($261 million
adjusted for currency) driven by a decline in trade
receivables of $1,496 million; partially offset by

« Anincrease of $519 million ($598 million adjusted for
currency) in prepaid expenses and other current assets
primarily due to the reclassification of certain trade
receivables due to the adoption of the new revenue
standard.

Current liabilities increased $865 million ($2,076 million adjusted
for currency) as a result of:

« Anincrease in short-term debt of $3,220 million ($3,284
million adjusted for currency) primarily as a result of
reclassifications of $7,252 million from long-term debt to
reflect upcoming maturities and an increase in commercial
paper of $1,499 million; partially offset by maturities of
$5,586 million. The increase in short-term debt was
partially offset by

« Adecrease in taxes payable of $1,173 million ($1,099
million adjusted for currency) principally driven by the
resolution in the first-quarter 2018 of certain matters
related to the ongoing U.S. tax audit of the company’s
2013-2014 tax returns; and

« Adecrease in other accrued expenses and liabilities of
$569 million driven by currency-related decreases of
$502 million; and

« Adecrease in deferred income of $387 million ($44 million

adjusted for currency).

Receivables and Allowances
Roll Forward of Total IBM Receivables Allowance
for Credit Losses

($ in millions)

January 1, December 31,
2018 Additions*  Write-offs** Other* 2018
$668 $66 $(64) $(31) $639

* Additions for Allowance for Credit Losses are charged to expense.

**Refer to note A, “Significant Accounting Policies,” on pages 76 to 88 for
additional information regarding Allowance for Credit Loss write-offs.

* Primarily represents translation adjustments.

The total IBM receivables provision coverage was 1.6 percent at
December 31, 2018, unchanged compared to December 31, 2017.

Global Financing Receivables and Allowances

The following table presents external Global Financing receivables
excluding residual values, the allowance for credit losses and
immaterial miscellaneous receivables:

($ in millions)

At December 31: 2018 2017
Recorded investment® $31,182  $30,892
Specific allowance for credit losses 220 258
Unallocated allowance for credit losses 72 78
Total allowance for credit losses 292 336
Net financing receivables $30,890 $30,556
Allowance for credit losses coverage 0.9% 1.1%

@ Includes deferred initial direct costs which are eliminated in IBM’s
consolidated results.

The percentage of Global Financing receivables reserved was
0.9 percent at December 31, 2018, compared to 1.1 percent
at December 31, 2017. In 2018, write-offs of $41 million
of receivables previously reserved resulted in a 14 percent
reduction in the specific reserves, from $258 million at
December 31, 2017, to $220 million at December 31, 2018.
See note F, “Financing Receivables,” on pages 103 to 106
for additional information. Unallocated reserves decreased
10 percent from $78 million at December 31, 2017, to $72 million
at December 31, 2018.
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Roll Forward of Global Financing Receivables Allowance
for Credit Losses (included in Total IBM)

($ in millions)

January 1, December 31,
2018 Additions*  Write-offs** Other™ 2018
$336 $14 $(41) $(17) $292

* Additions for Allowance for Credit Losses are charged to expense.

**Refer to note A, “Significant Accounting Policies,” on pages 76 to 88 for
additional information regarding Allowance for Credit Loss write-offs.

* Primarily represents translation adjustments.

Global Financing’s bad debt expense was $14 million in 2018,
compared to $17 million in 2017. The year-to-year decrease in
bad debt expense was primarily due to lower specific reserve
requirements in 2018.

Noncurrent Assets and Liabilities

($ in millions)

At December 31: 2018 2017
Noncurrent assets $74,236  $75,621
Long-term debt $35,605  $39,837
Noncurrent liabilities (excluding debt) $32,621  $30,432

The decrease in noncurrent assets of $1,385 million (an increase
of $177 million adjusted for currency) was driven by:

« Adecrease in netintangibles and goodwill of $1,178 million
resulting from intangibles amortization and currency
impacts of $553 million.

Long-term debt decreased $4,232 million ($3,994 million
adjusted for currency) primarily driven by:

« Reclassifications to short-term debt of $7,252 million to
reflect upcoming maturities; and

« Early retirement of long-term debt of $942 million; partially
offset by

- Issuances of $4,673 million.
Noncurrent liabilities (excluding debt) increased $2,189 million
($3,236 million adjusted for currency) primarily driven by:

= Anincrease in other liabilities of $2,209 million, primarily
driven by the company’s election to include GILTI in
measuring deferred taxes ($1,927 million).

Debt

The company’s funding requirements are continually monitored
and strategies are executed to manage the overall asset and
liability profile. Additionally, the company maintains sufficient
flexibility to access global funding sources as needed.

($ in millions)

At December 31: 2018 2017

Total company debt $45,812  $46,824

Total Global Financing segment debt $31,227  $31,434
Debt to support external clients 27,536 27,556
Debt to support internal clients 3,690 3,878

Non-Global Financing debt 14,585 15,390

Global Financing provides financing predominantly for the
company’s external client assets, as well as for assets under
contract by other IBM units. These assets, primarily for TS&CP,
generate long-term, stable revenue streams similar to the Global
Financing asset portfolio. Based on their attributes, these TS&CP
assets are leveraged with the balance of the Global Financing
asset base.

Non-Global Financing debt of $14,585 million declined $805
million from prior year-end levels.

At December 31: 2018

9.0x

2017
9.0x

Global Financing debt-to-equity ratio

The debt used to fund Global Financing assets is composed
of intercompany loans and external debt. Total debt changes
generally correspond with the level of client and commercial
financing receivables, the level of cash and cash equivalents,
the change in intercompany and external payables and the
change in intercompany investment from IBM. The terms of
the intercompany loans are set by the company to substantially
match the term, currency and interest rate variability underlying
the financing receivable and are based on arm’s-length pricing.

Global Financing provides financing predominantly for the
company’s external client assets, as well as for assets under
contract by other IBM units. As previously stated, the company
measures Global Financing as a stand-alone entity, and
accordingly, interest expense relating to debt supporting Global
Financing’s external client and internal business is included in
the “Global Financing Results of Operations” on page 33 and
in note U, “Segment Information,” on pages 141 to 146. In the
company’s Consolidated Statement of Earnings, the external
debt-related interest expense supporting Global Financing’s
internal financing to the company is reclassified from cost of
financing to interest expense.
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Equity

Total equity decreased by $795 million from December 31, 2017
primarily due to decreases from dividends ($5,666 million),
and treasury stock ($4,564 million) primarily due to share
repurchases; partially offset by increases from net income
($8,728 million) and transition adjustments related to the
adoption of the new revenue standard ($580 million).

Cash Flow

The company’s cash flows from operating, investing and
financing activities, as reflected in the Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows on page 73 are summarized in the table below.
These amounts include the cash flows associated with the Global
Financing business.

($ in millions)
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017

Net cash provided by/(used in)
continuing operations

Operating activities $ 15,247  $16,724
Investing activities (4,913) (7,081)*
(10,469) (6,418)

Financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes
on cash, cash equivalents and

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $1,477
million in 2018 driven by the following key factors:

« Adecrease in cash provided by financing receivables of
$764 million driven by an increase in client financing
receivables due to higher volumes;

« Adecrease in cash sourced from sales cycle working capital
of $240 million; and

= Anincrease in cash income tax payments of $148 million.

Net cash used in investing activities decreased $2,167 million
driven by:

« Adecrease from net non-operating financing receivables of
$1,525 million; and

« Adecrease in net purchases of marketable securities and
other investments of $485 million.

Net cash used in financing activities increased $4,051 million
driven by the following factors:

« Adecrease in net cash sourced from debt transactions of
$3,746 million primarily driven by a lower level of issuances
and a higher level of maturities in the current year.

Global Financing Return on Equity Calculation

restricted cash (495) 937
Net change in cash, cash equivalents ($ in millions)
and restricted cash $ (630) $ 4,161* AtDecember31: 2018 2017+
Numerator

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on restricted cash.

Global Financing after-tax income®* $1,065 $1,114
Denominator

Average Global Financing equity®** $3,460 $3,393
Global Financing return on equity®/® 30.8% 32.8%

* Calculated based upon an estimated tax rate principally based on
Global Financing’s geographic mix of earnings as IBM’s provision for
income taxes is determined on a consolidated basis.

**Average of the ending equity for Global Financing for the last five
quarters.

* Recast to reflect the adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of
net benefit cost.
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GAAP Reconciliation

The tables below provide a reconciliation of the company’s income statement results as reported under GAAP to its operating earnings
presentation which is a non-GAAP measure. The company’s calculation of operating (non-GAAP) earnings, as presented, may differ
from similarly titled measures reported by other companies. Please refer to the “Operating (non-GAAP) Earnings” section on pages
18 and 19 for the company’s rationale for presenting operating earnings information.

($ in millions except per share amounts)

Acquisition- Retirement-

Related Related Tax Reform Operating
For the year ended December 31, 2018: GAAP Adjustments Adjustments Charges (non-GAAP)
Gross profit $36,936 $ 372 $ - $ - $37,307
Gross profit margin 46.4% 0.5pts. —pts. — pts. 46.9%
SG&A $19,366 $(451) $ - $ - $18,915
RD&E 5,379 - - - 5,379
Other (income) and expense 1,152 2) (1,572) — (422)
Total expense and other (income) 25,594 (453) (1,572) — 23,569
Pre-tax income from continuing operations 11,342 824 1,572 — 13,739
Pre-tax margin from continuing operations 14.3% 1.0pts. 2.0pts. — pts. 17.3%
Provision for income taxes* $ 2,619 $176 $ 324 $(2,037) $ 1,082
Effective tax rate 23.1% (0.1)pts. (0.3)pts. (14.8)pts. 7.9%
Income from continuing operations $ 8,723 $ 649 $1,248 $ 2,037 $12,657
Income margin from continuing operations 11.0% 0.8 pts. 1.6pts. 2.6 pts. 15.9%
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 9.51 $0.71 $ 1.36 $ 223 $ 13.81

* The tax impact on operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax income is calculated under the same accounting principles applied to the GAAP pre-tax income
which employs an annual effective tax rate method to the results.

($ in millions except per share amounts)

Acquisition- Retirement-

Related Related Tax Reform Operating
For the year ended December 31, 2017: GAAP**  Adjustments Adjustments** Charge (non-GAAP)**
Gross profit $36,943 $ 449 $ — $ — $37,392
Gross profit margin 46.7% 0.6 pts. —pts. —pts. 47.2%
SG&A $19,680 $(509) $ - $ - $19,170
RD&E 5,590 - - - 5,590
Other (income) and expense 1,125 39) (1,341) — (255)
Total expense and other (income) 25,543 (548) (1,341) — 23,654
Pre-tax income from continuing operations 11,400 997 1,341 — 13,738
Pre-tax margin from continuing operations 14.4% 1.3 pts. 1.7 pts. —pts. 17.4%
Provision for income taxes* $ 5,642 $279 $ 485 $(5,475) $ 931
Effective tax rate 49.5% (1.6) pts. (1.3) pts. (39.9) pts. 6.8%
Income from continuing operations $ 5,758 $ 718 $ 856 $ 5,475 $12,807
Income margin from continuing operations 7.3% 0.9 pts. 1.1pts. 6.9 pts. 16.2%
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 6.14 $0.77 $ 091 $ 5.84 $ 13.66

* The tax impact on operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax income is calculated under the same accounting principles applied to the GAAP pre-tax income
which employs an annual effective tax rate method to the results.

**Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net periodic pension and nonpension postretirement benefit costs.
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Consolidated Fourth-Quarter Results

($ and shares in millions except per share amounts)

Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent/
Margin

For the fourth quarter: 2018 2017 Change
Revenue $21,760 $22,543 (3.5)%*
Gross profit margin 49.1% 49.0%** 0.1pts.
Total expense and other (income) $ 6,253 $ 6,580** (5.00%
Total expense and other (income)-to-revenue ratio 28.7% 29.2%** (0.5)pts.
Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 4,434 $ 4,469 (0.8)%
Provision for income taxes from continuing operations $ 2,481* $ 5,522* (55.1)
Income/(loss) from continuing operations $ 1,954+ $ (1,053)* NM
Income/(loss) from continuing operations margin 9.0% 4. 7% 13.6pts.
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 2) $ ) 70.7%
Net income/(loss) $ 1,951* $(1,054)* NM
Earnings/(loss) per share from continuing operations:

Assuming dilution $ 2.15* $ (1.14)* NM
Consolidated earnings/(loss) per share—assuming dilution $ 2.15* $ (1.14)* NM
Weighted-average shares outstanding

Assuming dilution 905.2 924.5 2.1)%

* (1.2) percent adjusted for currency.

**Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net benefit cost.

* Includes a charge of $1.9 billion or $2.15 of diluted earnings per share in 2018 and $5.5 billion or $5.90 of diluted earnings per share in 2017

associated with U.S. tax reform.
NM—Not meaningful

The following table provides the company’s operating (non-GAAP) earnings for the fourth quarter of 2018 and 2017.

($ in millions except per share amounts)

Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent
For the fourth quarter: 2018 2017 Change
Net income/(loss) as reported $1,951+ $(1,054)* NM
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 2) @) 70.7%
Income/(loss) from continuing operations 1,954+ (1,053)* NM
Non-operating adjustments (net of tax)
Acquisition-related charges 171 181 (5.3)
Non-operating retirement-related costs/(income) 348 174** 99.5
U.S. tax reform charge 1,944 5,475 NM
Operating (non-GAAP) earnings* $4,417 $ 4,777** (7.5)%
Diluted operating (non-GAAP) earnings per share $ 4.87 $ 5.14** (5.3)%

* See page 47 for a more detailed reconciliation of net income to operating (non-GAAP) earnings.
**Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net benefit cost.
* Includes a charge of $1.9 billion in 2018 and $5.5 billion in 2017 associated with U.S. tax reform.

NM—Not meaningful
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Snapshot

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the company reported $21.8 billion
in revenue and net income from continuing operations of $2.0
billion, which included a charge of $1.9 billion associated with U.S.
tax reform. Fourth-quarter operating (non-GAAP) earnings were
$4.4 billion, which excludes the tax charge. Fourth-quarter diluted
earnings per share from continuing operations was $2.15 and
operating (non-GAAP) diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations was $4.87. The company generated $4.1 billion in cash
from operations and $6.5 billion in free cash flow in the fourth
quarter of 2018 and delivered shareholder returns of $3.5 billion
through gross common stock repurchases and dividends.

In the fourth quarter, revenue decreased 3.5 percent as reported
and 1 percent adjusted for currency. Cognitive Solutions was
flat as reported, but grew 2 percent adjusted for currency,
with growth in Solutions Software, 1 percent as reported and 3
percent adjusted for currency, led by analytics and AI offerings.
Transaction Processing Software decreased 1 percent year
to year as reported, but grew 1 percent adjusted for currency
reflecting strong transactional performance in the quarter. GBS
increased 4.1 percent as reported, and 6 percent adjusted for
currency, led by Consulting. There was growth across all GBS
lines of business as reported and adjusted for currency as the
company focuses on clients’ digital transformation. Technology
Services & Cloud Platforms decreased 2.9 percent as reported,
but was flat adjusted for currency. Infrastructure Services
declined year to year as reported, but was flat adjusted for
currency. There was strong growth in signings reflecting demand
for hybrid cloud implementations and productivity solutions.
Within TS&CP, Integration Software grew year to year driven by
continued strong adoption of IBM Cloud Private and improved
transactional volumes. Systems decreased 21.3 percent as
reported and 20 percent adjusted for currency, reflecting the
impact of the IBM Z product cycle dynamics. Growth in Power
Systems, as reported and adjusted for currency was more than
offset by declines in IBM Z and Storage Systems.

The company continued to deliver solid strategic imperatives
revenue growth, generating $11.5 billion of revenue and growing
3 percent as reported and 5 percent adjusted for currency.
Strategic imperatives revenue growth was impacted by the IBM Z
cycle. Excluding IBM Z, strategic imperatives growth would have
been 9 percent as reported and 11 percent adjusted for currency.
There was strong growth across analytics, cloud and security,
excluding IBM Z. Total Cloud revenue of $5.7 billion increased 3
percent as reported and 6 percent adjusted for currency, and was
also impacted by the IBM Z cycle. Total Cloud revenue growth,
excluding IBM Z, would have been 15 percent as reported and 19
percent adjusted for currency. Cloud-as-a-Service revenue was
up 18 percent (21 percent adjusted for currency) and the annual
exit run rate for as-a-Service revenue increased to $12.2 billion in
the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to $11.4 billion in the third
quarter of 2018. Analytics revenue of $6.4 billion increased 6
percent as reported (8 percent adjusted for currency).

From a geographic revenue perspective, Americas decreased
5.3 percent (4 percent adjusted for currency) year to year, with
declines in the U.S. and Canada, partially offset by growth in Latin
America. EMEA decreased 1.3 percent as reported, but grew 2
percent adjusted for currency. Germany grew as reported and
adjusted for currency and the UK declined as reported, but grew

adjusted for currency. However, there were declines in France
and other countries. Asia Pacific decreased 2.7 percent as
reported (1 percent adjusted for currency). There was growth in
Japan as reported and adjusted for currency. Australia declined
as reported, but grew adjusted for currency, and China decreased
year to year as reported and adjusted for currency.

The consolidated gross profit margin of 49.1 percent and
operating (non-GAAP) gross margin of 49.5 percent both
increased 0.1 points compared to the prior year, with margin
expansion in the services businesses, offset by a decline in the
Systems gross margin and an impact from mix.

Total expense and other (income) decreased 5.0 percent in the
fourth quarter compared to the prior year. The year-to-year
decrease was driven by the effects of currency (4 points) and
lower spending (3 points), partially offset by lower intellectual
property income (2 points). The expense dynamics reflect the
company’s focus on driving productivity in the business and new
ways of working, including using agile methodologies, leveraging
automation and infusing AI into its processes. Total operating
(non-GAAP) expense and other (income) decreased 5.2 percent
year to year driven primarily by the same factors.

Pre-tax income from continuing operations of $4.4 billion in the
fourth quarter decreased 0.8 percent year to year, however,
the pre-tax margin of 20.4 percent increased 0.6 points. The
continuing operations effective tax rate for the fourth quarter was
55.9 percent, which included a $1.9 billion charge related to U.S.
tax reform. Normalized for this charge, the continuing operations
effective tax rate for the quarter would have been 12.9 percent.
Income from continuing operations in the fourth quarter was
$2.0 billion compared to a loss from continuing operations of
$1.1 billion in 2017, which included a $5.5 billion charge related
to U.S. tax reform. Operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax income from
continuing operations of $5.0 billion decreased 1.1 percent year
to year. Operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax margin from continuing
operations increased 0.5 points to 23.1 percent. Operating
(non-GAAP) income from continuing operations of $4.4 billion
decreased 7.5 percent. The operating (non-GAAP) effective tax
rate from continuing operations in the fourth quarter of 2018 was
12.2 percent versus 6.1 percent in the prior year.

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations was $2.15
in the fourth quarter compared to a loss per share of $(1.14)
in the prior year, with both years including charges associated
with U.S. tax reform. Operating (non-GAAP) diluted earnings per
share of $4.87 decreased 5.3 percent versus the fourth quarter
of 2017. In the fourth quarter, the company repurchased 17.0
million shares of its common stock at a cost of $2.1 billion and
had $3.3 billion remaining in the share repurchase authorization
at December 31, 2018.
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Results of Continuing Operations
Segment Details

The following is an analysis of the fourth quarter of 2018 versus the fourth quarter of 2017 reportable segment external revenue and
gross margin results. Segment pre-tax income includes transactions between the segments that are intended to reflect an arm’s-
length transfer price and excludes certain unallocated corporate items.

($ in millions)
Yr.-to-Yr. Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent/ Percent Change
Margin Adjusted for
For the fourth quarter: 2018 2017 Change Currency
Revenue
Cognitive Solutions $ 5,455 $ 5,432 0.4% 2.2%
Gross margin 79.4% 79.2%* 0.2pts.
Global Business Services 4,322 4,152 4.1% 6.5%
Gross margin 27.6% 24.6%* 3.0pts.
Technology Services & Cloud Platforms 8,929 9,198 (2.99% 0.0%
Gross margin 42.3% 40.8%* 1.5pts.
Systems 2,621 3,332 (21.3)% (20.1)%
Gross margin 50.8% 55.7%* (4.9) pts.
Global Financing 402 450 (10.7)% (8.6)%
Gross margin 29.1% 29.5% (0.3) pts.
Other 32 (20) NM NM
Gross margin (186.2)% 70.2%* (256.5) pts.
Total consolidated revenue $21,760 $22,543 (3.5)% 1.2)%
Total consolidated gross profit $10,687 $11,049* 3.3)%
Total consolidated gross margin 49.1% 49.0%* 0.1pts.
Non-operating adjustments
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 89 99 (10.4)%
Retirement-related costs/(income) — —* —%
Operating (non-GAAP) gross profit $10,776 $11,149* 3.3)%
Operating (non-GAAP) gross margin 49.5% 49.5%* 0.1pts.

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net benefit cost.

NM—Not meaningful

Coghnitive Solutions

Cognitive Solutions revenue of $5,455 million grew 0.4 percent
as reported and 2 percent adjusted for currency in the fourth
quarter of 2018 compared to the prior year, with growth in
Solutions Software as reported and adjusted for currency. The
company continued to deliver innovation to clients and scale
platforms and solutions, driving growth in transactional revenue
and Saas signings. Although Transaction Processing Software
declined as reported, it grew adjusted for currency as the
business capitalized on a strong pipeline of larger transactions
driven by client buying cycles.

In the fourth quarter, Solutions Software revenue of $3,823
million grew 0.9 percent as reported and 3 percent adjusted for
currency. Within Solutions Software, high-value areas such as
analytics and AI drove growth as clients use IBM solutions to
leverage their data for competitive advantage. Certain analytics
platforms, such as the Db2 portfolio including analytics
appliances, and Data Science offerings had broad-based growth
in the fourth quarter as the company continues to innovate and
enhance functionality within these offerings. In addition, client

demand for IBM Cloud Private for Data has accelerated with over
100 clients adopting the platform in the first six months since its
launch. There was also solid demand for integrated security and
services solutions, as well as growth in key areas within Watson
Health and Watson IoT offerings.

Transaction Processing Software revenue of $1,632 million
decreased 0.6 percent as reported, but grew 1 percent adjusted
for currency compared to the prior year. There was strong
transactional performance in the quarter reflecting clients’
continued commitment to IBM’s platform for the long-term given
the value the company provides in managing mission-critical
workloads and for predictability in spending.

Cognitive Solutions total fourth-quarter strategic imperatives
revenue of $3.7 billion increased 7 percent as reported and 9
percent adjusted for currency. Cloud revenue of $0.7 billion grew
4 percent as reported and 5 percent adjusted for currency, with
an as-a-Service exit run rate of $2.0 billion.
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Cognitive Solutions gross profit margin of 79.4 percent in the
fourth quarter of 2018 was essentially flat compared to the prior
year. Pre-tax income of $2,437 million increased 7.2 percent
compared to the prior year. The pre-tax margin grew 2.9 points,
to 40.3 percent driven by operating leverage from growth in
revenue, operational efficiencies and a mix toward software,
with continued investment in key strategic areas.

Global Business Services

Global Business Services revenue of $4,322 million increased
4.1 percent as reported (6 percent adjusted for currency) in the
fourth quarter of 2018 compared to the prior year with growth
as reported and adjusted for currency across all three lines of
business. GBS’ performance reflects the repositioning of this
business and the value clients recognize when combining the
company'’s technology and industry expertise as they integrate
their digital initiatives and internal process transformation.

Consulting revenue of $2,008 million increased 7.5 percent as
reported (10 percent adjusted for currency). The growth during
the fourth quarter was led by the company’s digital strategy and
next generation Enterprise Applications. GPS revenue of $325
million increased 2.4 percent as reported (5 percent adjusted for
currency) driven by Cognitive Process Services offerings, which
leverage automation and AI to reinvent industry workflows.
Application Management revenue of $1,989 million increased
1.1 percent as reported (4 percent adjusted for currency). This
return to growth was driven by strong performance in Cloud
Migration Factory and cloud application development, while
traditional application management engagements declined as
clients continue to migrate to the cloud. The growth also reflects
the achievement of significant milestones across a few accounts.

GBS strategic imperatives revenue of $2.9 billion grew 11
percent as reported (14 percent adjusted for currency) year to
year. Cloud revenue of $1.4 billion grew 30 percent as reported
(34 percent adjusted for currency), with an as-a-Service exit run
rate of $2.1 billion.

GBS fourth-quarter gross profit margin increased 3.0 points year
to year to 27.6 percent. Pre-tax income of $566 million increased
73.4 percent year to year. The pre-tax margin increased 5.2
points to 12.9 percent. The strong growth in margins reflects
operating leverage as a result of revenue growth driven by a mix
to higher-value offerings, as well as benefits from currency, given
GBS’ global delivery model, and the yield from productivity and
utilization initiatives.

Technology Services & Cloud Platforms

Technology Services & Cloud Platforms revenue of $8,929 million
decreased 2.9 percent as reported, but was flat adjusted for
currency in the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to the prior year.
There was continued strong growth in cloud revenue, as new and
existing clients turn to IBM to manage their critical infrastructure
and help deliver innovation in an open hybrid cloud environment.

Infrastructure Services revenue of $5,819 million declined 2.9
percent as reported (flat adjusted for currency) compared to
the prior year. As the company prioritizes the offerings within its
portfolio, it is moving away from certain lower-value offerings,
which will impact revenue performance in the near term, but will
improve margin growth in the longer term. Technical Support
Services revenue of $1,722 million decreased 6.4 percent as
reported (3 percent adjusted for currency), driven primarily by
the dynamics of the Systems hardware product cycle. Integration
Software revenue of $1,387 million increased 1.8 percent as
reported (4 percent adjusted for currency) compared to the prior
year. There was continued strong adoption of IBM Cloud Private,
an innovative platform that assists clients in modernizing their
traditional workloads, and improved transactional performance
in the quarter. The company continues to enable clients in the
open hybrid cloud environment through innovative new offerings.

Technology Services & Cloud Platforms strategic imperatives
revenue of $3.2 billion grew 10 percent year to year as reported
(13 percent adjusted for currency). Cloud revenue of $2.4 billion
grew 19 percent as reported (22 percent adjusted for currency),
with an as-a-Service exit run rate of $8.0 billion.

Technology Services & Cloud Platforms gross profit margin
increased 1.5 points to 42.3 percent, driven primarily by service
delivery improvements resulting from infusing Al and automation
into business processes and leveraging productivity and talent
optimization efforts. Pre-tax income of $1,392 million decreased
3.4 percent. The pre-tax margin of 15.2 percent was flat year to
year and improved sequentially compared to the third quarter
of 2018. The company continues to invest in developing new
offerings to capture the hybrid market opportunities.

Systems

Systems revenue of $2,621 million declined 21.3 percent year to
year as reported (20 percent adjusted for currency) in the fourth
quarter of 2018. Systems Hardware revenue of $2,175 million
decreased 24.1 percent as reported (23 percent adjusted for
currency). The year-to-year revenue decline was driven primarily
by IBM Z product cycle dynamics and a decrease in Storage
Systems (as reported and adjusted for currency), partially
offset by growth in Power Systems (as reported and adjusted
for currency). Operating Systems Software revenue of $446
million decreased 4.4 percent as reported (3 percent adjusted
for currency) compared to the prior year.

Within Systems Hardware, fourth-quarter IBM Z revenue declined
45.2 percent as reported (44 percent adjusted for currency) year
toyear as a result of the IBM Z product cycle and strong demand
forz14 in the prior year. Since launching the z14 six quarters ago,
this platform continues to track ahead of prior programs, and the
install base grew as new clients and new workloads continued
to be added to the platform. Over 55 percent of installed MIPs
inventory is in emerging workload areas.
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Power Systems revenue grew 8.6 percent as reported (10 percent
adjusted for currency) year to year driven by Linux and continued
strong performance of the new POWER9-based processors. The
low-end and high-end portfolios had double-digit growth in the
quarter. The release of the next generation POWER9 processor
was completed during the quarter, with HANA certification
extended to high-end processors. Power Systems are designed
for handling advanced analytics and data-intensive workloads in
cloud environments within AI, HANA and UNIX markets.

Storage Systems revenue decreased 8.0 percent as reported
(7 percent adjusted for currency) with declines in midrange, and
the market remains very competitive with price pressure. There
was double-digit growth (as reported and adjusted for currency)
in high-end hardware products and in all-flash array offerings.

Systems strategic imperatives revenue of $1.6 billion declined
23 percent year to year as reported (22 percent adjusted for
currency). Cloud revenue of $1.1 billion decreased 32 percent
as reported (31 percent adjusted for currency). Both reflected
IBM Z product cycle dynamics.

The Systems gross profit margin decreased 4.9 points to 50.8
percent in the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to the prior
year. The overall decrease year to year was driven primarily by
product cycle dynamics with a mix away from IBM Z and margin
declines in Power Systems and Storage Systems, partially offset
by Operating Systems Software margin improvement. In the
fourth quarter of 2018, pre-tax income of $551 million declined
39.2 percent and pre-tax margin decreased 6.5 points year to
year to 19.3 percent driven by the strong fourth-quarter 2017
performance in Systems Hardware. The company continues to
develop next-generation technology and deliver new innovative
functionality across its Systems portfolio.

Global Financing

Global Financing revenue of $402 million decreased 10.7 percent
year to year. Global Financing fourth-quarter pre-tax income
decreased 27.9 percent to $319 million and the pre-tax margin of
41.3 percent decreased 3.1 points year to year. The decrease in
pre-tax income was driven by a decrease in gross profit, partially
offset by a decrease in SG&A expense and financing receivable
provisions.

Geographic Revenue

Total revenue of $21,760 million decreased 3.5 percent as
reported and 1 percent adjusted for currency in the fourth
quarter of 2018 compared to the prior year. Americas revenue
of $10,222 million decreased 5.3 percent as reported and 4
percent adjusted for currency. EMEA fourth-quarter revenue of
$7,081 million decreased 1.3 percent as reported, but increased
2 percent adjusted for currency. Asia Pacific revenue of $4,458
million declined 2.7 percent and 1 percent adjusted for currency.

Within Americas, revenue in the U.S. decreased 7.0 percent year
to year, driven primarily by the strong IBM Z performance in the
prior year. Canada decreased 4.1 percent as reported, but was
flat adjusted for currency. Latin America increased 4.8 percent
as reported and 17 percent adjusted for currency. Within Latin
America, Brazilincreased 8.1 percent as reported and 20 percent
adjusted for currency. Mexico increased 12.6 percent as reported
and 16 percent adjusted for currency.

In the fourth quarter, EMEA revenue performance by country
varied. The UK decreased 0.9 percent as reported, but increased
3 percent adjusted for currency. France decreased 14.2 percent
asreported and 11 percent adjusted for currency. Italy decreased
1.2 percent as reported, but increased 2 percent adjusted
for currency. Germany increased 7.9 percent as reported and
12 percent adjusted for currency. Spain increased 12.7 percent
as reported and 17 percent adjusted for currency. Russia grew
4.0 percent as reported and adjusted for currency.

Within Asia Pacific, China decreased 25.0 percent as reported
and 23 percent adjusted for currency primarily due to strong
performance in the financial sector in the prior year. India
decreased 10.4 as reported, but was essentially flat adjusted for
currency. Australia decreased 1.6 percent as reported, but grew
5 percent adjusted for currency. Japan increased 5.6 percent as
reported and 5 percent adjusted for currency.

Total Expense and Other (Income)

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent/
Margin
For the fourth quarter: 2018 2017* Change
Total consolidated expense
and other (income) $6,253 $6,580 (5.0)%
Non-operating adjustments
Amortization of acquired
intangible assets (106) (115) (7.1)
Acquisition-related
charges 13) (33) (61.1)
Non-operating retirement-
related (costs)/income (387) (371) 4.2

Operating (non-GAAP)
expense and other
(income) $5,746 $6,061 (5.2)%

Total consolidated

expense-to-revenue ratio 28.7% 29.2% (0.5)pts.

Operating (non-GAAP)

expense-to-revenue ratio 26.4% 26.9% (0.5)pts.

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

Total expense and other (income) decreased 5.0 percent in the
fourth quarter with an expense-to-revenue ratio of 28.7 percent
compared to 29.2 percent in the fourth quarter of 2017. Total
operating (non-GAAP) expense and other (income) decreased
5.2 percent year to year. The year-to-year decrease in total
expense and other (income) was primarily the result of the effects
of currency (4 points) and lower spending (3 points), partially offset
by lower intellectual property income (2 points). The expense
dynamics reflected the impacts from currency and the continued
efficiency in the underlying spending, offset by continued
investment to build and reinvent new solutions and platforms.
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Cash Flow

The company generated $4.1 billion in cash flow from operating
activities in the fourth quarter of 2018, a decrease of $1.6
billion compared to the fourth quarter of 2017, primarily due
to a decline from financing receivables. Net cash sourced from
investing activities of $0.5 billion was $4.3 billion higher than
the prior year’s net use of cash, primarily driven by an increase
in cash from net proceeds from disposition of marketable

GAAP Reconciliation

The tables below provide a reconciliation of the company’s
income statement results as reported under GAAP to its
operating earnings presentation which is a non-GAAP measure.
The company’s calculation of operating (non-GAAP) earnings, as
presented, may differ from similarly titled measures reported by
other companies. Refer to the “Operating (non-GAAP) Earnings”
section on pages 18 and 19 for the company’s rationale for

securities and other investments ($2.3 billion) and an increase
from net non-operating financing receivables ($1.6 billion). Net
cash used in financing activities of $4.6 billion increased $3.7
billion compared to the prior year, primarily driven by higher net
debt maturities ($2.3 billion) and higher gross common stock
repurchases ($1.4 billion).

($ in millions except per share amounts)

presenting operating earnings information.

Acquisition- Retirement-

Related Related Tax Reform Operating
For the fourth quarter 2018: GAAP Adjustments Adjustments Charges (non-GAAP)
Gross profit $10,687 $ 89 $ - $ - $10,776
Gross profit margin 49.1% 0.4 pts. —pts. —pts. 49.5%
SG&A $ 4,701 $(119) $ - $ - $ 4,582
RD&E 1,358 — — — 1,358
Other (income) and expense 185 1) (387) — (203)
Total expense and other (income) 6,253 (119) (387) — 5,746
Pre-tax income from continuing operations 4,434 208 387 - 5,030
Pre-tax margin from continuing operations 20.4% 1.0pts. 1.8pts. —pts. 23.1%
Provision for income taxes* $ 2,481 $ 37 $ 39 $(1,944) $ 613
Effective tax rate 55.9% (1.6)pts. (3.5)pts. (38.7)pts. 12.2%
Income from continuing operations $ 1,954 $171 $ 348 $1,944 $ 4,417
Income margin from continuing operations 9.0% 0.8 pts. 1.6pts. 8.9pts. 20.3%
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 215 $0.19 $0.38 $ 215 $ 4.87

* The tax impact on operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax income from continuing operations is calculated under the same accounting principles applied
to the GAAP pre-tax income which employs an annual effective tax rate method to the results.

($ in millions except per share amounts)

Acquisition- Retirement-
Related Related Tax Reform Operating
For the fourth quarter 2017: GAAP**  Adjustments Adjustments** Charge (non-GAAP)**
Gross profit $11,049 $ 99 $ - $ — $11,149
Gross profit margin 49.0% 0.4 pts. —pts. —pts. 49.5%
SG&A $ 5,013 $(116) $ - $ — $ 4,897
RD&E 1,378 - - - 1,378
Other (income) and expense 374 32) (371) — (30)
Total expense and other (income) 6,580 (148) (371) — 6,061
Pre-tax income from continuing operations 4,469 247 371 - 5,087
Pre-tax margin from continuing operations 19.8% 1.1pts. 1.6pts. —pts. 22.6%
Provision for income taxes* $ 5,522 $ 67 $197 $(5,475) $ 310
Effective tax rate 123.6% (4.7) pts. (5.1) pts. (107.6) pts. 6.1%
Income/(loss) from continuing operations $ (1,053) $ 181 $174 $ 5,475 $ 4,777
Income/(loss) margin from continuing operations 4.7Y% 0.8pts. 0.8 pts. 24.3 pts. 21.2%
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share from
continuing operations $ (1.14) $0.19 $0.19 $ 5.90 $ 514

* The tax impact on operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax income from continuing operations is calculated under the same accounting principles applied to
the GAAP pre-tax income which employs an annual effective tax rate method to the results.

**Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net periodic pension and nonpension postretirement benefit costs.
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PRIOR YEAR IN REVIEW

This section provides a summary of the company’s financial performance in 2017 as compared to 2016. For additional information,

see the company’s 2017 Annual Report.

($ and shares in millions except per share amounts)

Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent/
Margin

For the year ended December 31: 2017 2016 Change
Revenue $ 79,139 $ 79,919 (1.0)%*
Gross profit margin 46.7%** 48.2%** (1.5) pts.
Total expense and other (income) $ 25,5643**  $§ 26,186** (2.5)%
Total expense and other (income)-to-revenue ratio 32.3%** 32.8%** (0.5) pts.
Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 11,400 $ 12,330 (7.5)%
Provision for income taxes from continuing operations $ 5,642" $ 449 NM
Income from continuing operations $ 5,758*% $ 11,881 (51.5)%
Income from continuing operations margin 7.3% 14.9% (7.6) pts.
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax $ (5) $ 9) 44. 7Y%
Net income $ 5,753* $ 11,872 (51.5)%
Earnings per share from continuing operations:

Assuming dilution $ 6.14% $ 12.39 (50.4)%
Consolidated earnings per share—assuming dilution $ 6147 $ 12.38 (50.4)%
Weighted-average shares outstanding

Assuming dilution 937.4 958.7 2.2)%
Assetstt $125,356 $117,470 6.7%
Liabilities** $107,631 $ 99,078 8.6%
Equity*™* $ 17,725 $ 18,392 (3.6)%
* (1.3) percent adjusted for currency.

** Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net benefit cost.
* Includes a charge of $5.5 billion associated with U.S. tax reform, or $5.84 of diluted earnings per share in 2017.
**+At December 31
NM—Not meaningful
The following table provides the company’s operating (non-GAAP) earnings for 2017 and 2016.
($ in millions except per share amounts)

Yr.-to-Yr.

Percent

For the year ended December 31: 2017 2016 Change
Net income as reported $ 5,753* $11,872 (51.5)%
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (5) 9) (44.7)
Income from continuing operations $ 5,758* $11,881 (51.5)%
Non-operating adjustments (net of tax)

Acquisition-related charges 718 735 (2.3)

Non-operating retirement-related costs/(income) 856** 265** 223.3

U.S. tax reform charge 5,475 — NM
Operating (non-GAAP) earnings* $12,807** $12,880** (0.6)%
Diluted operating (non-GAAP) earnings per share $ 13.66** $ 13.44** 1.6%

* See page 58 for a more detailed reconciliation of net income to operating (non-GAAP) earnings.
**Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net benefit cost.

* Includes a charge of $5.5 billion associated with U.S. tax reform.

NM—Not meaningful
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Snapshot

In 2017, the company reported $79.1 billion in revenue and $5.8
billion in income from continuing operations, which included a
charge of $5.5 billion associated with the enactment of U.S. tax
reform. Operating (non-GAAP) earnings were $12.8 billion, which
excluded the tax reform charge. Diluted earnings per share from
continuing operations were $6.14 as reported and $13.66 on
an operating (non-GAAP) basis. The company generated $16.7
billion in cash from operations, $13.0 billion in free cash flow and
delivered shareholder returns of $9.8 billion in gross common
stock repurchases and dividends.

Total consolidated revenue in 2017 decreased 1.0 percent as
reported and 1 percent year to year adjusted for currency. The
company returned to revenue growth in the fourth quarter with
anincrease of 3.6 percent as reported and 1 percent adjusted for
currency. Year-to-year revenue performance improved sequentially
in the second half of 2017 compared to first-half performance.
Contributors to the second-half improvement included:
momentum in cloud and as-a-Service offerings, strong Systems
growth across IBM Z, Power Systems and Storage Systems,
improved software transactional performance and improved
growth in Consulting.

Cognitive Solutions increased 1.5 percent as reported and
1 percent adjusted for currency with growth in Solutions Software
and Transaction Processing Software as reported and adjusted
for currency. Solutions Software performance included growth
in annuity revenue, led by as-a-Service solutions. Global Business
Services decreased 2.1 percent as reported and 2 percent
adjusted for currency with declines across all lines of business.
GBS strategic imperatives revenue increased 10 percent as
reported and adjusted for currency year to year as the business
shifted resources and moved into the high-value strategic
areas of digital, cloud and analytics. Technology Services
& Cloud Platforms decreased 3.0 percent as reported and
3 percent adjusted for currency, primarily driven by a decline in
Infrastructure Services. Technology Services & Cloud Platforms
strategic imperatives revenue was up 19 percent as reported and
18 percent adjusted for currency year to year, driven by hybrid
cloud services, security and mobile. Systems increased 6.2
percent as reported and 5 percent adjusted for currency driven
by strong contribution from the z14 mainframe in the second half
of 2017 and growth in Storage Systems.

The company continued to deliver solid growth in its strategic
imperatives which generated $36.5 billion of revenue and grew
11 percent as reported and adjusted for currency. Total Cloud
revenue of $17.0 billion increased 24 percent as reported and
adjusted for currency, with as-a-Service revenue up 31 percent
as reported and adjusted for currency. The annual exit run rate
for as-a-Service revenue increased to $10.3 billion in 2017
compared to $8.6 billion in 2016. Analytics revenue of $20.6
billion increased 6 percent as reported and adjusted for currency.
Mobile increased 19 percent as reported and adjusted for
currency and Security increased 55 percent (54 percent adjusted
for currency).

The consolidated gross margin of 46.7 percent decreased 1.5
points year to year and reflected investments and mix, partially
offset by benefits from productivity. The operating (non-GAAP)
gross margin of 47.2 percent decreased 1.6 points versus the
prior year primarily driven by the same factors.

Total expense and other (income) decreased 2.5 percent in
2017 compared to the prior year. The year-to-year decrease
was primarily the result of continued focus on efficiency in
spending and reduced expenses for workforce transformation.
This included a lower level of workforce rebalancing charges
(3 points), lower operational spending (3 points) and a 2016
charge for real estate actions (1 point). The year-to-year decrease
in total expense and other (income) was partially offset by
higher retirement-related costs (3 points), spending related to
acquisitions completed in the prior 12 months (1 point) and a
decline in IP income (1 point). Total operating (non-GAAP)
expense and other (income) decreased 6.2 percent year to year,
driven primarily by the same factors, excluding the impact of
higher non-operational retirement related costs.

Pre-tax income from continuing operations of $11.4 billion
decreased 7.5 percent and the pre-tax margin was 14.4 percent,
adecrease of 1.0 points versus 2016. The continuing operations
effective tax rate for 2017 was 49.5 percent, which included a
charge of $5.5 billion from the enactment of U.S. tax reform in
December 2017, compared to 3.6 percent in 2016. The charge
encompassed several elements, including taxes on accumulated
overseas profits and the revaluation of certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities. The low tax rate in 2016 was primarily the
result of a refund ($1.0 billion) of previously paid Japan taxes
plus interest. Income from continuing operations of $5.8 billion
decreased 51.5 percent, impacted by the tax reform charge, and
the netincome margin was 7.3 percent, a decrease of 7.6 points
versus 2016. Net income of $5.8 billion decreased 51.5 percent



50

Management Discussion

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

year to year. Operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax income from
continuing operations of $13.7 billion decreased 0.3 percent
year to year and the operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax margin from
continuing operations was 17.4 percent. Operating (non-GAAP)
income from continuing operations of $12.8 billion decreased
0.6 percent with an operating (non-GAAP) income margin from
continuing operations of 16.2 percent, essentially flat year to
year. The operating (non-GAAP) effective tax rate from continuing
operations in 2017 was 6.8 percent, which included the effect
of discrete tax benefits in the first and second quarters of 2017.

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations of $6.14
in 2017, which included the one-time charge associated with
U.S. tax reform, decreased 50.4 percent year to year. Operating
(non-GAAP) diluted earnings per share of $13.66 increased 1.6
percent versus 2016. In 2017, the company repurchased 27.2
million shares of its common stock at a cost of $4.3 billion.

At December 31, 2017, the balance sheet remained strong and
well positioned to support the business over the long term. Cash,
restricted cash and marketable securities at December 31, 2017
were $12.8 billion, an increase of $4.1 billion from December 31,
2016. Key drivers in the balance sheet and total cash flows were:

Total assets increased $7.9 billion ($3.0 billion adjusted for
currency) from December 31, 2016 driven by:

- Increasesin cash, restricted cash and marketable securities
($4.1 billion), total receivables ($2.9 billion), retirement plan
assets ($1.6 billion) and goodwill ($0.6 billion); partially
offset by

« Decreases inintangible assets ($0.9 billion).

Total liabilities increased $8.6 billion ($4.0 billion adjusted for
currency) from December 31, 2016 driven by:

« Increases in total debt ($4.7 billion) and taxes ($3.5 billion).

Total equity of $17.7 billion decreased $0.7 billion from
December 31, 2016 as a result of:

« Decreases from dividends ($5.5 billion) and share
repurchases ($4.3 billion); partially offset by

= Increases from net income ($5.8 billion), retirement-related
benefit plans ($2.3 billion) and equity translation
adjustments ($0.8 billion).

The company generated $16.7 billion in cash flow provided by
operating activities, a decrease of $0.4 billion compared to 2016,
driven primarily by performance-related declines within net
income and an increase in cash tax payments, partially offset by an
increase in cash provided by receivables. Net cash used in investing
activities of $7.1 billion was $3.8 billion lower than the prior year,
primarily driven by a decrease in cash used for acquisitions
($5.2 billion). Net cash used in financing activities of $6.4 billion
increased $0.5 billion compared to 2016, driven primarily by
increased gross common share repurchases ($0.8 billion).



Management Discussion

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

Results of Continuing Operations
Segment Details

The following is an analysis of the 2017 versus 2016 reportable segment results. The table below presents each reportable segment’s
external revenue and gross margin results. Segment pre-tax income includes transactions between segments that are intended to
reflect an arm’s-length transfer price and excludes certain unallocated corporate items.

($ in millions)
Yr.-to-Yr. Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent/ Percent Change
Margin Adjusted for
For the year ended December 31: 2017 2016 Change Currency
Revenue
Cognitive Solutions $18,453 $18,187 1.5% 1.0%
Gross margin 78.6%* 81.8%* (3.2) pts.
Global Business Services 16,348 16,700 (2.1)% 1.8)%
Gross margin 24.9%* 26.7%* (1.8) pts.
Technology Services & Cloud Platforms 34,277 35,337 3.00% B3.4)%
Gross margin 40.3%* 41.8%* (1.5) pts.
Systems 8,194 7,714 6.2% 5.4%
Gross margin 53.2%* 55.7%* (2.5) pts.
Global Financing 1,696 1,692 0.3% 0.7Y%
Gross margin 29.3% 38.7% (9.4) pts.
Other 171 289 (40.7)% (41.1)%
Gross margin (173.9)%* (184.7)%* 10.8pts.
Total consolidated revenue $79,139 $79,919 (1.00% 1.3)%
Total consolidated gross profit $36,943* $38,516* (4.1)%
Total consolidated gross margin 46.7%* 48.2%* (1.5) pts.
Non-operating adjustments
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 449 494 9.2)%
Retirement-related costs/(income) —* —* —%
Operating (non-GAAP) gross profit $37,392* $39,010* 4.1)%
Operating (non-GAAP) gross margin 47.2%* 48.8%* (1.6) pts.
* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net benefit cost.
Coghnitive Solutions
($ in millions)
Yr.-to-Yr.
Yr.-to-Yr. Percent Change
Percent Adjusted for
For the year ended December 31: 2017 2016 Change Currency
Coghnitive Solutions external revenue $18,453 $18,187 1.5% 1.0%
Solutions Software $12,806 $12,589 1.7% 1.3%
Transaction Processing Software 5,647 5,598 0.9 0.3

The growth in Solutions Software revenue was led by key areas
including security, industry platforms and Watson offerings,
as the company continued to embed cognitive into its security
offerings and drive vertical solutions. The company continued to
expand the market for Watson Health which had strong double-
digit revenue growth as reported and adjusted for currency
compared to the prior year. There was year-to-year growth in
annuity revenue as reported and at constant currency with strong
double-digit growth in SaaS revenue as reported and adjusted

for currency. Transaction Processing Software revenue grew as
reported, but was essentially flat adjusted for currency compared
to the prior year.

Cognitive Solutions total strategic imperatives revenue of $12.0
billion grew 2 percent year to year as reported and adjusted
for currency. Cloud revenue of $2.5 billion grew 19 percent as
reported and adjusted for currency, with an as-a-Service exit run
rate of $2.1 billion.
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Gross margin in Cognitive Solutions was impacted by continued
investment and an increased mix toward SaaS. There was also a
higher level of royalty cost associated with IP licensing
agreements compared to the prior year.

($ in millions)
Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent/
Margin
For the year ended December 31: 2017* 2016* Change
Coghnitive Solutions
External gross profit $14,503  $14,883 (2.6)%
External gross profit
margin 78.6% 81.8% (3.2)pts.
Pre-tax income $ 6,795 $ 6,325 7.4%
Pre-tax margin 32.2% 30.4% 1.8 pts.

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

Global Business Services

($ in millions)
Yr.-to-Yr.
Yr.-to-Yr. Percent Change
Percent Adjusted for
For the year ended December 31: 2017 2016 Change Currency
Global Business Services external revenue $16,348 $16,700 2.1)% 1.8)%
Consulting $ 7,262 $ 7,332 (1.0)% (0.4)%
Global Process Services 1,265 1,388 (8.8) (9.0)
Application Management 7,821 7,980 (2.0) 1.9)
Global Business Services revenue decreased in 2017 compared  ($ in millions)
to the prior year, with declines across Consulting, GPS and Yr.-to-Yr.
Application Management. The company continued to transform Pe&i?g?ﬁ
this business and shift its practices to digital, cognitive and  For the year ended December 31: 2017* 2016*  Change
cloud. Total strategic imperatives revenue of $9.8 billion grew Global Business Services
10 percent as reported an.d 'adjusted for currency year to year. External gross profit $4,077 $4,457 8.5)%
Cloud revenue of $4.0 billion grew 34 percent as reported -
(35 percent adjusted for currency), with an as-a-Service exit run Externa! gross profit
o . margin 24.9% 26.7% (1.8) pts.
rate of $1.3 billion. However, this growth was more than offset by - o
declines in the more traditional areas that the company has been Pre-taxincome $1,362 $1,683 (19.0)%
shifting away from such as large ERP and on-premise enterprise Pre-tax margin 8.2% 9.8% (1.7) pts.

application implementation.

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

Profit performance for 2017 was impacted by investments to
drive transformation and reflected pricing and profit pressure in
the more traditional IT services. The company’s continued focus
is on improving productivity with a streamlined practice model
and new project management approaches.
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Technology Services & Cloud Platforms

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.

Yr.-to-Yr. Percent Change

Percent Adjusted for

For the year ended December 31: 2017 2016 Change Currency
Technology Services & Cloud Platforms external revenue $34,277 $35,337 3.00% (3.4)%
Infrastructure Services $22,690 $23,543 (3.6)% 4.1)%

Technical Support Services 7,196 7,272 (1.0) (1.5)

Integration Software 4,390 4,521 (2.9) (3.4)

Technology Services & Cloud Platforms revenue decreased in
2017 compared to the prior year, with declines across all lines
of business. The revenue decline in Infrastructure Services
reflected the impact of contract conclusions at the end of 2016
and the shift away from lower-value work within the business.
While Technical Support Services also declined year to year, the
company focused on growing its multi-vendor support services
providing clients a single source of expertise across different
vendor solutions. Within Integration Software, although the
annuity base remained relatively stable year to year in 2017,
transactional revenue declined as the portfolio shifted to the
IBM Cloud. Strategic imperatives revenue of $10.4 billion grew
19 percent year to year as reported (18 percent adjusted for
currency). Cloud revenue of $7.1 billion grew 21 percent as
reported (20 percent adjusted for currency), with an as-a-Service
exit run rate of $6.9 billion.

The TS&CP gross profit margin decline in 2017 was driven
primarily by large contract conclusions, delays in productivity
improvements, mix from Integration Software and investments
in cloud, which were partially offset by savings from prior-year
workforce rebalancing. Pre-tax income performance included
a lower level of charges related to workforce and real estate
actions in 2017 compared to 2016.

($ in millions)
Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent/
Margin
For the year ended December 31: 2017* 2016* Change
Technology Services &
Cloud Platforms
External Technology
Services gross profit $10,215  $10,927 (6.5)%
External Technology
Services gross profit
margin 34.2% 35.5% (1.3) pts.
External Integration
Software gross profit $ 3,587 $ 3,830 (6.4)%
External Integration
Software gross profit
margin 81.7% 84.7% (3.0) pts.
External total gross profit  $13,802  $14,757 (6.5)%
External total gross profit
margin 40.3% 41.8% (1.5) pts.
Pre-tax income $ 4,286 $ 4,643 (7.7Y%
Pre-tax margin 12.3% 12.9% (0.6) pts.

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.
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Systems

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.

Yr.-to-Yr. Percent Change

Percent Adjusted for

For the year ended December 31: 2017 2016 Change Currency
Systems external revenue $8,194 $7,714 6.2% 5.4%
Systems Hardware $6,494 $5,926 9.6% 8.6%

IBMZ 24.0 22.3

Power Systems 3.7) (4.3)

Storage Systems 7.7 7.0

Operating Systems Software 1,701 1,788 (4.9) (5.3)

The year-to-year growth in Systems revenue was driven by a
combination of strong z14 market acceptance following its
successful launch in the third quarter of 2017 and growth
in Storage Systems. In 2017, all-flash array offerings were a
catalyst for Storage Systems growth, with strong double-digit
growth throughout the year. Power Systems revenue decreased
with declines in the mid-range and low-range products, partially
offset by growth in the high-end. This performance reflected the
company’s shift to a growing Linux market while continuing to
serve a high-value, but declining UNIX market. Total strategic
imperatives revenue of $4.3 billion grew 28 percent year to year
as reported (26 percent adjusted for currency). Cloud revenue
of $3.4 billion grew 26 percent as reported (25 percent adjusted
for currency).

($ in millions)
Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent/
Margin
For the year ended December 31: 2017* 2016* Change
Systems
External Systems Hardware
gross profit $2,893 $2,719 6.4%
External Systems Hardware
gross profit margin 44.6% 45.9% (1.3)pts.
External Operating Systems
Software gross profit $1,469 $1,577 (6.9)%
External Operating Systems
Software gross profit
margin 86.4% 88.2% (1.8)pts.
External total gross profit $4,362 $4,296 1.5%
External total gross
profit margin 53.2% 55.7% (2.5)pts.
Pre-tax income $1,128 $ 925 21.9%
Pre-tax margin 12.6% 10.9% 1.7pts.

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

The Systems gross profit margin decrease was driven by margin
declines across all product lines, partially offset by product mix
primarily toward higher margin IBM Z, reflecting product cycle
dynamics. Pre-tax income growth was driven by the strong
performance in Systems Hardware. Overall 2017 performance
reflected a successful repositioning of the business through
continuous reinvention of core platforms and expansion into
new workloads.

Global Financing

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.

Percent

For the year ended December 31: 2017 2016 Change
Results of Operations
External revenue $1,696 $1,692 0.3%
Internal revenue 1,471 1,802 (18.4)
Total revenue $3,168 $3,494 (9.3)%
Pre-tax income $1,278*  $1,654* (22.8)%

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

The decline in Global Financing total revenue was driven by a
decline in internal revenue with external revenue essentially flat
compared to the prior year. External revenue grew 0.3 percent
due to an increase in external used equipment sales (up 14.9
percent), partially offset by a decline in external financing (down
5.2 percent). The decline in internal revenue of 18.4 percent was
driven by a decrease in internal used equipment sales (down 25.2
percent), partially offset by an increase in internal financing (up
13.9 percent). The decrease in Global Financing pre-tax income
was primarily driven by a decrease in gross profit, partially offset
by a decline in financing receivables provisions.
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Geographic Revenue

In addition to the revenue presentation by reportable segment, the company also measures revenue performance on a geographic basis.

($ in millions)
Yr.-to-Yr.
Yr.-to-Yr. Percent Change
Percent Adjusted for
For the year ended December 31: 2017* 2016* Change Currency
Total revenue $79,139 $79,919 (1.0)% 1.3)%
Americas $37,641 $37,697 (0.1)% (0.6)%
Europe/Middle East/Africa 24,397 24,805 (1.6) 2.7)
Asia Pacific 17,102 17,417 (1.8) 0.9)
* Recast to conform to 2018 presentation.
Americas revenue was essentially flat year to year as reported,  Total Expense and Other (Income)
but decreased 1 percent adjusted for currency with a decline in (& in millions)
North America partially offset by growth in Latin America, both P
as reported and adjusted for currency. Within North America, the Percent/
U.S. decreased 1.4 percent and Canada increased 4.9 percent Margin
(3 percent adjusted for currency). In Latin America, Brazil For the year ended December 31: 2017 2016 Change
increased 7.6 percent (1 percent adjusted for currency) and  Total consolidated expense
Mexico increased 9.2 percent (10 percent adjusted for currency). and other (income) $25,543"  $26,186" (2.5)%
Non-operating adjustments
EMEA revenue decreased 1.6 percent as reported and 3 percent Amortization of acquired
adjusted for currency. The UK decreased 11.2 percent (7 percent intangible assets (496) (503) (1.4)
adjusted for currency) and Germany decreased 3.2 percent Acquisition-related charges (52) (5) NM

(6 percent adjusted for currency). France increased 6.7 percent
(4 percent adjusted for currency), and Spain was up 8.3 percent
(6 percent adjusted for currency).

Asia Pacific revenue decreased 1.8 percent as reported and
1 percent adjusted for currency. Japan decreased 1.2 percent
as reported, but increased 2 percent adjusted for currency.
India grew 8.6 percent as reported and 5 percent adjusted
for currency. China decreased 9.7 percent (9 percent adjusted
for currency) and Australia decreased 5.8 percent (9 percent
adjusted for currency).

Non-operating retirement-
related (costs)/income (1,341)* (448)* 199.5
Operating (non-GAAP)
expense and

other (income) $23,654* $25,230* 6.2)%
Total consolidated

expense-to-revenue ratio 32.3%* 32.8%* (0.5)pts.
Operating (non-GAAP)

expense-to-revenue ratio 29.9%* 31.6%* (1.7)pts.

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

NM—Not meaningful
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Selling, General and Administrative Expense

($ in millions)

Research, Development and Engineering Expense

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr. Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent Percent
For the year ended December 31: 2017 2016 Change For the year ended December 31: 2017* 2016* Change
Selling, general and Total consolidated
administrative expense research, development
Selling, general and and engineering $5,590 $5,726 2.4)%
administrative—other $17,100* $17,513* (2.4)% Non-operating adjustment
Advertising and promotional Non-operating retirement-
expense 1,445 1,327 8.9 related (costs)/income - - -
Workforce rebalancing Operating (non-GAAP)
charges 199 1,038 (80.9) research, development
Amortization of acquired and engineering $5,590 $5,726 (2.8)%
intangible assets 496 503 L4 . Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
Stock-based compensation 384 401 (4.2) benefit cost.
Bad debt expense 55 87 (36.5)
Total consolidated RD&E expense was 7.1 percent of revenue in 2017 and 7.2 percent
selling, general and of revenue in 2016.
administrative expense $19,680* $20,869* (5.7)%
Non-operating adjustments RD&E expense decreased 2.4 percent in 2017 versus 2016
Amortization of acquired primarily driven by:
intangible assets (496) (503) (1.4) . Lower spending (4 points); partially offset by
Acquisition-related
iharges a3) 2 NS The impact of acquisitions completed in the prior 12-month
] ; period (1 point); and
Non-operating retirement-
related (costs)/income —* —* — - Theeffects of currency.
Operating (hon-GAAP)
selling, general and Intellectual Property and Custom Development Income
administrative expense $19,170* $20,368* (5.9)%
($ in millions)
* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net Yr.-to-Yr.
benefit cost. Percent
NM—Not meaningful For the year ended December 31: 2017 2016 Change
Licensing of intellectual
Total SG&A expense decreased 5.7 percent in 2017 versus 2016, property including
driven primarily by the following factors: royalty-based fees $1,193 $1,390 (14.1)%
. . Custom development income 252 214 17.5
= Lower workforce rebalancing charges (4 points); and
Sales/other transfers of
= Lower spending (3 points); partially offset by intellectual property 21 27 (24.2)
Total $1,466 $1,631 (10.2)%

- Spending related to acquisitions in the prior 12 months
(1 point).

Operating (non-GAAP) SG&A expense decreased 5.9 percent
year to year driven primarily by the same factors.

Bad debt expense decreased $32 million in 2017 compared
to 2016. The receivables provision coverage was 1.6 percent
at December 31, 2017, a decrease of 40 basis points from
December 31, 2016.

Licensing of intellectual property including royalty-based fees
decreased 14.1 percent in 2017 compared to 2016. The company
entered into new partnership agreements in 2017, which included
three transactions with period income greater than $100 million,
compared to four transactions greater than $100 million in 2016.
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Other (Income) and Expense

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent
For the year ended December 31: 2017 2016 Change
Other (income) and expense
Foreign currency transaction
losses/(gains) $ 405 $(116) NM
(Gains)/losses on
derivative instruments (341) 260 NM
Interest income (144) (108) 33.5%
Net (gains)/losses from
securities and
investment assets (20) 23 NM
Retirement-related
costs/(income) 1,341* 448* 199.5%
Other (116) 85 NM
Total consolidated other
(income) and expense $1,125* $ 593* 89.8%
Non-operating adjustments
Acquisition-related
charges (39) (7) 444.6
Non-operating retirement-
related (costs)/income (1,341)* (448)* 199.5
Operating (hon-GAAP) other
(income) and expense $ (255) $ 138 NM

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net
benefit cost.

NM—Not meaningful

Total consolidated other (income) and expense was expense of
$1,125 million in 2017 compared to $593 million in 2016. The
increase in expense of $532 million year over year was primarily
driven by:

= Higher retirement-related costs ($893 million); and
- Lower gains on divestitures ($61 million); partially offset by

- Real estate capacity charges (reflected in Other in the
table above) in 2016 related to workforce transformation
($328 million); and

« Lower net exchange losses ($81 million).

Interest Expense

($ in millions)

Yr.-to-Yr.
Percent
For the year ended December 31: 2017 2016 Change
Interest expense
Total $615 $630 (2.3)%

Interest expense decreased $15 million compared to 2016.
Interest expense is presented in cost of financing in the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings only if the related external
borrowings are to support the Global Financing external business.
Overallinterest expense (excluding capitalized interest) in 2017
was $1,273 million, an increase of $67 million year to year,
primarily driven by higher average interest rates.

Income Taxes

The continuing operations effective tax rate for 2017 was
49.5 percent, an increase of 45.8 points versus the prior year. The
fourth-quarter 2017 charge of $5.5 billion related to the impact
of the enactment of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act resulted in an
increase to the effective tax rate of 48.0 points. Without this impact,
the continuing operations tax rate would have been 1.5 percent
compared to a 2016 rate of 3.6 percent, with the remaining change
in the rate year to year driven by the following factors:

« Anincreased benefit year to year in the utilization of
foreign tax credits of 5.4 points;

= Abenefit related to an intra-entity asset transfer in the
first quarter of 2017 of 5.1 points;

« A benefit due to the tax write down of an investment in the
fourth quarter of 2017 of 1.7 points; and

« A benefit due to the geographic mix of pre-tax earnings in
2017 of 1.0 points; partially offset by

« The favorable resolution of the longstanding tax matter in
Japan in 2016 of 9.5 points; and

- Anincrease year to year in tax charges related to
intercompany payments of 1.5 points.

The continuing operations operating (non-GAAP) effective tax
rate was 6.8 percent, an increase of 0.2 points versus 2016,
principally driven by the same factors described above. In
2017, the geographic and product mix of pre-tax earnings were
more favorable than the company expected and there was
increased utilization of foreign tax credits. These impacts drove
the underlying continuing operations operating (non-GAAP)
effective tax rate to approximately 12 percent before discrete
period benefits.

Financial Position

Cash, restricted cash and marketable securities at December 31,
2017 were $12,842 million. During 2017, the company continued
to manage the investment portfolio to meet its capital preservation
and liquidity objectives.

Total debt of $46,824 million increased $4,655 million from prior
year-end levels. The commercial paper balance at December 31,
2017 was $1,496 million, an increase of $597 million from the
prior year end. Within total debt, $31,434 million was in support
of the Global Financing business which was leveraged at a 9.0
to 1 ratio. During 2017, the company completed bond issuances
totaling $7,986 million, with terms ranging from 2 to 12 years,
and interest rates ranging from 0.95 to 3.30 percent depending
on maturity. This included IBM Credit’s first public debt issuance
of $3,000 million in September 2017. The company generated
strong cash flow from operations and continued to have access
to additional sources of liquidity through the capital markets and
its Credit Facilities.

Consistent with accounting standards, the company remeasured
the funded status of its retirement and postretirement plans at
December 31. At December 31, 2017, the overall net under-
funded position was $12,890 million, a decrease of $1,949
million from December 31, 2016 driven by asset returns, partially
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offset by interest cost and a decrease in discount rates. The
company’s qualified defined benefit plans were well funded and
the cash requirements related to these plans remain stable going
forward at approximately $400 million per year through 2020. In
2017, the return on the U.S. Personal Pension Plan assets was 9.6
percent and the plan was 104 percent funded at December 31.
Overall, global asset returns were 8.3 percent and the qualified
defined benefit plans worldwide were 100 percent funded at
December 31, 2017.

GAAP Reconciliation

During 2017, the company generated $16,724 million in cash
from operations, a decrease of $360 million compared to 2016. In
addition, the company generated $12,992 million in free cash flow,
an increase of $1,293 million versus the prior year. The company
returned $9,847 million to shareholders in 2017, with $5,506
million in dividends and $4,340 million in gross share repurchases.
In 2017, the company repurchased 27.2 million shares.

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the company’s income statement results as reported under GAAP to its operating
earnings presentation which is a non-GAAP measure. The company’s calculation of operating (hon-GAAP) earnings, as presented,
may differ from similarly titled measures reported by other companies. Refer to the “Operating (non-GAAP) Earnings” section on
pages 18 and 19 for the company’s rationale for presenting operating earnings information.

($ in millions except per share amounts)

Acquisition- Retirement-

Related Related Tax Reform Operating
For the year ended December 31, 2017: GAAP**  Adjustments Adjustments** Charge (non-GAAP)**
Gross profit $36,943 $449 $ — $ — $37,392
Gross profit margin 46.7% 0.6 pts. —pts. —pts. 47.2%
SG&A $19,680 $(509) $ - $ - $19,170
RD&E 5,590 - - - 5,590
Other (income) and expense 1,125 39) (1,341) — (255)
Total expense and other (income) 25,543 (548) (1,341) — 23,654
Pre-tax income from continuing operations 11,400 997 1,341 — 13,738
Pre-tax margin from continuing operations 14.4% 1.3 pts. 1.7 pts. —pts. 17.4%
Provision for income taxes* $ 5,642 $279 $ 485 $(5,475) $ 931
Effective tax rate 49.5% (1.6) pts. (1.3) pts. (39.9) pts. 6.8%
Income from continuing operations $ 5,758 $ 718 $ 856 $ 5,475 $12,807
Income margin from continuing operations 7.3% 0.9pts. 1.1pts. 6.9pts. 16.2%
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 614 $0.77 $ 091 $ 584 $ 13.66

* The tax impact on operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax income is calculated under the same accounting principles applied to the GAAP pre-tax income

which employs an annual effective tax rate method to the results.

**Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net benefit cost.

($ in millions except per share amounts)

Acquisition- Retirement-

Related Related Operating
For the year ended December 31, 2016: GAAP**  Adjustments Adjustments** (non-GAAP)**
Gross profit $38,516 $ 494 $ - $39,010
Gross profit margin 48.2% 0.6 pts. —pts. 48.8%
SG&A $20,869 $ (501) $ - $20,368
RD&E 5,726 - — 5,726
Other (income) and expense 593 @] (448) 138
Total expense and other (income) 26,186 (508) (448) 25,230
Pre-tax income from continuing operations 12,330 1,003 448 13,780
Pre-tax margin from continuing operations 15.4% 1.3 pts. 0.6 pts. 17.2%
Provision for income taxes* $ 449 $ 268 $ 183 $ 900
Effective tax rate 3.6% 1.7 pts. 1.2 pts. 6.5%
Income from continuing operations $11,881 $ 735 $ 265 $12,880
Income margin from continuing operations 14.9% 0.9pts. 0.3pts. 16.1%
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 12.39 $ 0.77 $0.28 $ 13.44

* The tax impact on operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax income is calculated under the same accounting principles applied to the GAAP pre-tax income

which employs an annual effective tax rate method to the results.

**Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net benefit cost.
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OTHER INFORMATION

Looking Forward

The company’s strategies, investments and actions are all made
with an objective of optimizing long-term performance. A long-
term perspective ensures that the company is well-positioned to
take advantage of the major shifts in technology, business and
the global economy.

As part of its long-term strategic model, the company expects
to continue to allocate capital efficiently and effectively to
investments, and to return value to shareholders through a
combination of dividends and share repurchases. Over the long
term, in consideration of the opportunities it will continue to
develop, the company continues to expect to have the ability to
generate low single-digit revenue growth, and with a higher-value
business mix, mid single-digit profit growth, high single-digit
operating (non-GAAP) earnings per share growth, with free cash
flow realization of GAAP net income over 90 percent.

Over the last several years, the company has been making
investments and shifting resources, embedding AI and cloud
into its offerings while building new solutions and modernizing
its existing platforms. These investments not only drive current
performance, but will extend the company’s innovation leadership
into the future. The company’s key differentiators are built around
three pillars—innovative technology, industry expertise and trust
and security, uniquely delivered through an integrated model.

IBM’s proposed acquisition of Red Hat will bring together the
best-in-class hybrid cloud providers and will enable companies
to securely unlock the full value of cloud for their businesses.
IBM and Red Hat will be strongly positioned to address this
opportunity and accelerate hybrid cloud adoption. The company
is proceeding through the regulatory process and expects to
close the transaction in the second half of 2019. The acquisition
of Red Hat reinforces IBM’s high-value model. It is expected to
accelerate IBM’s revenue growth, gross margin and be accretive
to free cash flow within 12 months of closing. The company will
continue with a disciplined financial policy and is committed
to maintaining strong investment-grade credit ratings and
supporting a solid and growing dividend. The company will target
a leverage profile consistent with a mid to high single A credit
rating. In order to reduce debt, the company intends to suspend
its share repurchase program in 2020 and 2021.

At mid-January 2019 spot rates, the company expects a 4 point
currency headwind to first quarter 2019 revenue growth, which
is approximately two points worse than the year-to-year impact
realized in the fourth quarter of 2018. The company expects 1 to
2 point sequential improvement in revenue growth at constant
currency from the fourth quarter 2018 to the first quarter 2019.
For full-year 2019, the company expects to expand gross and
pre-tax margins.

Overall, the company expects GAAP earnings per share from
continuing operations for 2019 to be at least $12.45. Excluding
acquisition-related charges of $0.91 per share, non-operating
retirement-related items of $0.45 per share and tax reform
enactment impacts of $0.09 per share, operating (non-GAAP)
earnings per share is expected to be at least $13.90. For the first

quarter of 2019, the company expects GAAP earnings per share
from continuing operations and operating (non-GAAP) earnings
per share to be approximately 16 percent of the respective full-
year expectations. In January 2019, the company announced
the intent to divest certain software products and its mortgage-
servicing business during the year. The estimates of the impacts
from these divestitures are not dependent on timing of closing
and have been included in the full-year earnings per share
expectations. However, earnings per share expectations do not
include Red Hat, as financial implications for 2019 are heavily
dependent on the timing of the closing. Expectations will be
updated after the transaction closes.

The company expects free cash flow to be approximately $12
billion in 2019. Free cash flow expectations for the year reflect
expected operational profit performance and continued working
capital efficiency, partially offset by a cash tax headwind. Free
cash flow realization, which is defined as free cash flow to
income from continuing operations (GAAP), is expected to be
approximately 100 percent for the year. These expectations
also take into account the estimated impact of the announced
divestitures of the select IBM software products and mortgage
servicing business and an estimate of pre-closing financing costs
associated with the Red Hat acquisition.

For full-year 2019, the company expects the GAAP effective tax
rate to be approximately 14 percent, excluding discrete items. The
company expects its operating (non-GAAP) tax rate for 2019 to be
approximately 11 to 12 percent (which is a 3 to 4 points headwind
year to year), including an estimate of potential discrete items.
The rates will change year to year based on discrete tax events,
such as the settlement of income tax audits and changes in tax
laws, as well as recurring factors including the geographic mix
of income before taxes, state and local taxes and the effects of
various globalincome tax strategies. The GAAP effective tax rate
could also be affected by adjustments to the previously recorded
charges for U.S. tax reform attributable to any changes in law,
new regulations and guidance, audit adjustments, among others.

Beginning in the second quarter of 2019 and continuing
throughout the year, IBM’s Global Financing business will begin
winding down the portion of its commercial financing operations
which provides short-term working capital solutions for OEM
information technology suppliers, distributors and resellers.
IBM Global Financing will continue to provide differentiated
end-to-end financing solutions, including commercial financing
in support of IBM partner relationships. The wind down of this
activity is expected to reduce IBM’s revenue, with a nominal
impact to profit, however, it does not change the company’s
earnings per share and free cash flow expectations for 2019.

Beginning in 2019, within the IBM U.S. Qualified Personal
Pension Plan, substantially all the plan participants are now
considered inactive, which, as required by U.S. GAAP, results in
a change in the amortization period of unrecognized actuarial
losses, from the average remaining service period of active plan
participants to the average remaining life expectancy of inactive
plan participants. These periods are approximately 6 years and
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18 years, respectively. As a result of this change, there will be
a reduction to 2019 amortization expense of approximately
$900 million. Actuarial loss amortization is reported within
non-operating pension costs. There will be no impact to 2019
operating (non-GAAP) retirement-related costs, funded status,
retiree benefit payments or funding requirements of the U.S.
Qualified Personal Pension Plan. However, there will be an impact
to free cash flow realization in 2019.

The company expects 2019 pre-tax retirement-related plan cost
to be approximately $2.0 billion, a decrease of approximately
$1 billion compared to 2018. This estimate reflects current
pension plan assumptions at December 31, 2018. Within total
retirement-related plan cost, operating retirement-related plan
cost is expected to be approximately $1.5 billion, approximately
flat versus 2018. Non-operating retirement-related plan cost
is expected to be approximately $0.6 billion, a decrease of
approximately $1 billion compared to 2018, primarily driven
by lower actuarial loss amortization resulting from the change
in amortization period for the U.S. plan. Contributions for all
retirement-related plans are expected to be approximately
$2.4 billion in 2019, an increase of approximately $100 million
compared to 2018.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The company has consistently generated strong cash flow
from operations, providing a source of funds ranging between
$15.2 billion and $17.1 billion per year over the past three years.
The company provides for additional liquidity through several
sources: maintaining an adequate cash balance, access to
global funding sources, committed global credit facilities and
other committed and uncommitted lines of credit worldwide.
The following table provides a summary of the major sources of
liquidity for the years ended December 31, 2016 through 2018.

Cash Flow and Liquidity Trends

($in billions)

2018 2017 2016

Net cash from
operating activities $15.2 $16.7 $17.1

Cash, restricted cash and
short-term marketable

securities $12.2 $12.8* $ 8.8*
Committed global
credit facilities $15.3 $15.3 $10.3

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on restricted cash.

On October 28, 2018, IBM announced its intent to acquire all
the outstanding shares of Red Hat. The transaction is subject to
customary closing conditions, including regulatory clearance. The
company intends to fund this transaction through a combination
of cash and debt. In connection with this acquisition, IBM entered
into a commitment letter under which certain banks committed
to provide the company with a 364-day unsecured bridge term
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $20 billion
to fund the acquisition.

The major rating agencies’ ratings on the company’s debt
securities at December 31, 2018 appear in the table below. As a
result of the proposed Red Hat transaction, in the fourth quarter
of 2018, Standard and Poor’s lowered IBM and IBM Credit’s long-
term debt rating to A from A+, with no change to the short-term
debt rating of A-1, and Fitch Ratings has lowered IBM and IBM
Credit’s long-term debt rating to A from A+, with no change to
the short-term debt rating of F1. Moody’s placed IBM and IBM
Credit’s long-term debt rating of A1 under review for downgrade,
with no change to the short-term debt rating of Prime-1. IBM will
continue with a disciplined financial policy and is committed to
maintaining strong investment-grade credit ratings.

The company’s indenture governing its debt securities and its
various credit facilities each contain significant covenants which
obligate the company to promptly pay principal and interest,
limit the aggregate amount of secured indebtedness and sale
and leaseback transactions to 10 percent of the company’s
consolidated net tangible assets, and restrict the company’s
ability to merge or consolidate unless certain conditions are met.
The credit facilities also include a covenant on the company’s
consolidated net interest expense ratio, which cannot be less
than 2.20to 1.0, as well as a cross default provision with respect
to other defaulted indebtedness of at least $500 million.

The company is in compliance with all of its significant debt
covenants and provides periodic certification to its lenders. The
failure to comply with its debt covenants could constitute an
event of default with respect to the debt to which such provisions
apply. If certain events of default were to occur, the principal and
interest on the debt to which such event of default applied would
become immediately due and payable.

The company does not have “ratings trigger” provisions in
its debt covenants or documentation, which would allow the
holders to declare an event of default and seek to accelerate
payments thereunder in the event of a change in credit rating.
The company’s contractual agreements governing derivative
instruments contain standard market clauses which can trigger
the termination of the agreement if the company’s credit rating
were to fall below investment grade. At December 31, 2018, the
fair value of those instruments that were in a liability position was
$383 million, before any applicable netting, and this position is
subject to fluctuations in fair value period to period based on
the level of the company’s outstanding instruments and market
conditions. The company has no other contractual arrangements
that, in the event of a change in credit rating, would result in a
material adverse effect on its financial position or liquidity.

Moody’s
Standard Investors Fitch
IBM and IBM Credit Ratings and Poor’s Service Ratings
Senior long-term debt A Al A
Commercial paper A-1 Prime-1 F1

The company prepares its Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
in accordance with applicable accounting standards for cash
flow presentation on page 73 and highlights causes and events
underlying sources and uses of cash in that format on page 40.
For the purpose of running its business, the company manages,
monitors and analyzes cash flows in a different format.



Management Discussion

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

Management uses free cash flow as a measure to evaluate
its operating results, plan share repurchase levels, strategic
investments and assess its ability and need to incur and service
debt. The entire free cash flow amount is not necessarily available
for discretionary expenditures. The company defines free cash
flow as net cash from operating activities less the change in
Global Financing receivables and net capital expenditures,
including the investment in software. A key objective of the
Global Financing business is to generate strong returns on equity,
and increasing receivables is the basis for growth. Accordingly,
management considers Global Financing receivables as a
profit-generating investment, not as working capital that should
be minimized for efficiency. Therefore, management includes
presentations of both free cash flow and net cash from operating
activities that exclude the effect of Global Financing receivables.
Free cash flow guidance is derived using an estimate of profit,
working capital and operational cash outflows. As previously
noted, the company views Global Financing receivables as a
profit-generating investment which it seeks to maximize and
therefore it is not considered when formulating guidance for free
cash flow. As a result, the company does not estimate a GAAP
Net Cash from Operations expectation metric.

From the perspective of how management views cash flow, in
2018, after investing $3.7 billion in capital investments primarily
in support of the services and cloud-based businesses, the
company generated free cash flow of $11.9 billion, a decrease of

$1.1 billion compared to 2017. The decrease was primarily driven
by higher capital expenditures, declines in sales cycle working
capital and an increase in cash income tax payments.

In 2018, the company continued to focus its cash utilization
on returning value to shareholders including $5.7 billion in
dividends and $4.4 billion in gross common stock repurchases
(32.9 million shares).

Over the past three years, the company generated over $36 billion
in free cash flow. During that period, the company invested over
$6 billion in strategic acquisitions and returned over $28 billion
to shareholders through dividends and gross share repurchases.
The company’s performance during this period demonstrates
that there is fungibility across the elements of share repurchases,
dividends and acquisitions. The amount of prospective returns
to shareholders in the form of dividends and share repurchases
will vary based upon several factors including each year’s
operating results, capital expenditure requirements, research and
development investments and acquisitions, as well as the factors
discussed on page 62. As a result of the proposed transaction
to acquire Red Hat, subject to closing, the company intends to
suspend its share repurchase program in 2020 and 2021.

The company’s Board of Directors considers the dividend
payment on a quarterly basis. In the second quarter of 2018, the
Board of Directors increased the company’s quarterly common
stock dividend from $1.50 to $1.57 per share.

The table below represents the way in which management reviews cash flow as described above.

($in billions)
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 2016
Net cash from operating activities per GAAP $15.2 $16.7 $17.1
Less: the change in Global Financing receivables (0.3) 0.4 1.7
Net cash from operating activities,
excluding Global Financing receivables 15.6 16.3 15.4
Capital expenditures, net (3.7) (3.3) (3.7)
Free cash flow (FCF) 11.9 13.0 11.7
Acquisitions (0.2) (0.5) (5.7)
Divestitures — (0.2) (0.5)
Share repurchase (4.4) (4.3) (3.5)
Common stock repurchases for tax withholdings 0.2) (0.2) 0.1)
Dividends (5.7) (5.5) (5.3)
Non-Global Financing debt (0.5) 1.1 1.3
Other (includes Global Financing receivables
and Global Financing debt) (1.6) 0.8* 2.4*
Change in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and
short-term marketable securities $ (0.6) $ 4.1* $ 0.4*
FCF as percent of Income from Continuing Operations 136%** 226%** 98%

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on restricted cash.

**111% in 2018 excluding charges of $2.0 billion and 116% in 2017 excluding the charge of $5.5 billion associated with the enactment of

U.S. tax reform.
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Events that could temporarily change the historical cash flow
dynamics discussed previously include significant changes
in operating results, material changes in geographic sources
of cash, unexpected adverse impacts from litigation, future
pension funding requirements during periods of severe downturn
in the capital markets or the timing of tax payments. Whether
any litigation has such an adverse impact will depend on a
number of variables, which are more completely described in
note M, “Contingencies and Commitments,” on pages 115 to
117. With respect to pension funding, in 2018, the company
contributed $363 million to its non-U.S. defined benefit
plans compared to $409 million in 2017. As highlighted in the
Contractual Obligations table, the company expects to make
legally mandated pension plan contributions to certain non-U.S.
plans of approximately $1.8 billion in the next five years. The
2019 contributions are currently expected to be approximately
$400 million. Contributions related to all retirement-related
plans are expected to be approximately $2.4 billion in 2019,

Contractual Obligations

an increase of approximately $100 million compared to 2018.
Financial market performance could increase the legally
mandated minimum contributions in certain non-U.S. countries
that require more frequent remeasurement of the funded status.
The company is not quantifying any further impact from pension
funding because it is not possible to predict future movements in
the capital markets or pension plan funding regulations.

In 2019, the company is not legally required to make any
contributions to the U.S. defined benefit pension plans.

The company’s cash flows are sufficient to fund its current
operations and obligations, including investing and financing
activities such as dividends and debt service. When additional
requirements arise, the company has several liquidity options
available. These options may include the ability to borrow
additional funds at reasonable interest rates and utilizing its
committed global credit facilities.

($ in millions)
Total Contractual Payments Due In
Payment Stream 2019 2020-21 2022-23 After 2023
Long-term debt obligations $43,155 $ 7,048 $13,914 $ 7,736 $14,457
Interest on long-term debt obligations 9,260 1,175 1,784 1,243 5,059
Capital (finance) lease obligations 41 3 5 5 28
Operating lease obligations 5,628 1,581 2,147 1,085 815
Purchase obligations 3,171 1,079 1,114 776 202
Other long-term liabilities:
Minimum defined benefit plan pension funding
(mandated)* 1,800 400 700 700
Excess 401(k) Plus Plan 1,581 201 441 493 446
Long-term termination benefits 991 179 143 114 555
Tax reserves** 4,172 551
Other 1,410 211 363 153 683
Total $71,209 $12,427 $20,611 $12,305 $22,245

* As funded status on plans will vary, obligations for mandated minimum pension payments after 2023 could not be reasonably estimated.

**These amounts represent the liability for unrecognized tax benefits. The company estimates that approximately $551 million of the liability is
expected to be settled within the next 12 months. The settlement period for the noncurrent portion of the income tax liability cannot be reasonably
estimated as the timing of the payments will depend on the progress of tax examinations with the various tax authorities; however, it is not expected

to be due within the next 12 months.
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Total contractual obligations are reported in the previous table
excluding the effects of time value and therefore, may not equal
the amounts reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position. Certain noncurrent liabilities are excluded from the
previous table as their future cash outflows are uncertain. This
includes deferred taxes, derivatives, deferred income, disability
benefits and other sundry items. Certain obligations related to
the company’s divestitures are included.

Purchase obligations include all commitments to purchase goods
or services of either a fixed or minimum quantity that meet any
of the following criteria: (1) they are noncancelable, (2) the
company would incur a penalty if the agreement was canceled,
or (3) the company must make specified minimum payments
even if it does not take delivery of the contracted products or
services (take-or-pay). If the obligation to purchase goods or
services is noncancelable, the entire value of the contract is
included in the previous table. If the obligation is cancelable,
but the company would incur a penalty if canceled, the dollar
amount of the penalty is included as a purchase obligation.
Contracted minimum amounts specified in take-or-pay contracts
are also included in the table as they represent the portion of
each contract that is a firm commitment.

In the ordinary course of business, the company enters into
contracts that specify that the company will purchase all or a
portion of its requirements of a specific product, commodity or
service from a supplier or vendor. These contracts are generally
entered into in order to secure pricing or other negotiated terms.
They do not specify fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased
and, therefore, the company does not consider them to be
purchase obligations.

Interest on floating-rate debt obligations is calculated using the
effective interest rate at December 31, 2018, plus the interest
rate spread associated with that debt, if any.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

From time to time, the company may enter into off-balance sheet
arrangements as defined by SEC Financial Reporting Release
67 (FRR-67), “Disclosure in Management’s Discussion and
Analysis about Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Aggregate
Contractual Obligations.”

At December 31, 2018, the company had no off-balance sheet
arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a material
current or future effect on the company’s financial condition,
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources. See
the table on page 62 for the company’s contractual obligations, and
note M, “Contingencies and Commitments,” on pages 115 to 117,
for detailed information about the company’s guarantees, financial
commitments and indemnification arrangements. The company does
not have retained interests in assets transferred to unconsolidated
entities or other material off-balance sheet interests or instruments.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The application of GAAP requires the company to make estimates
and assumptions about certain items and future events that directly
affect its reported financial condition. The accounting estimates and
assumptions discussed in this section are those that the company
considers to be the most critical to its financial statements. An
accounting estimate is considered critical if both (a) the nature of the
estimate or assumption is material due to the levels of subjectivity
and judgment involved, and (b) the impact within a reasonable
range of outcomes of the estimate and assumption is material to the
company’s financial condition. Senior management has discussed
the development, selection and disclosure of these estimates with
the Audit Committee of the company’s Board of Directors. The
company’s significant accounting policies are described in note A,
“Significant Accounting Policies,” on pages 76 to 88.

A quantitative sensitivity analysis is provided where that
information is reasonably available, can be reliably estimated and
provides material information to investors. The amounts used to
assess sensitivity (e.g., 1 percent, 10 percent, etc.) are included to
allow users of the Annual Report to understand a general direction
cause and effect of changes in the estimates and do not represent
management’s predictions of variability. For all of these estimates,
it should be noted that future events rarely develop exactly as
forecasted, and estimates require regular review and adjustment.

Pension Assumptions

For the company’s defined benefit pension plans, the
measurement of the benefit obligation to plan participants and
net periodic pension (income)/cost requires the use of certain
assumptions, including, among others, estimates of discount
rates and expected return on plan assets.

Changes in the discount rate assumptions would impact the
(gain)/loss amortization and interest cost components of the
net periodic pension (income)/cost calculation and the projected
benefit obligation (PBO). The company increased the discount
rate assumption for the IBM Personal Pension Plan (PPP), a U.S.-
based defined benefit plan, by 70 basis points to 4.10 percent on
December 31, 2018. This change will decrease pre-tax income
recognized in 2019 by an estimated $17 million. If the discount
rate assumption for the PPP had decreased by 70 basis points on
December 31, 2018, pre-tax income recognized in 2019 would
have increased by an estimated $50 million. Further changes in
the discount rate assumptions would impact the PBO which, in
turn, may impact the company’s funding decisions if the PBO
exceeds plan assets. A 25 basis point increase or decrease in the
discount rate would cause a corresponding decrease or increase,
respectively, in the PPP’s PBO of an estimated $1.1 billion based
upon December 31, 2018 data.

The expected long-term return on plan assets assumption is used
in calculating the net periodic pension (income)/cost. Expected
returns on plan assets are calculated based on the market-
related value of plan assets, which recognizes changes in the
fair value of plan assets systematically over a five-year period in
the expected return on plan assets line in net periodic pension
(income)/cost. The differences between the actual return on
plan assets and the expected long-term return on plan assets



64

Management Discussion

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

are recognized over five years in the expected return on plan
assets line in net periodic pension (income)/cost and also as a
component of actuarial (gains)/losses, which are recognized over
the service lives or life expectancy of the participants, depending
on the plan, provided such amounts exceed thresholds which are
based upon the benefit obligation or the value of plan assets, as
provided by accounting standards.

To the extent the outlook for long-term returns changes such
that management changes its expected long-term return on plan
assets assumption, each 50 basis point increase or decrease in
the expected long-term return on PPP plan assets assumption
would have an estimated decrease or increase, respectively, of
$248 million on the following year’s pre-tax net periodic pension
(income)/cost (based upon the PPP’s plan assets at December 31,
2018 and assuming no contributions are made in 2019).

The company may voluntarily make contributions or be required,
by law, to make contributions to its pension plans. Actual
results that differ from the estimates may result in more or less
future company funding into the pension plans than is planned
by management. Impacts of these types of changes on the
company’s pension plans in other countries worldwide would
vary depending upon the status of each respective plan.

In addition to the above, the company evaluates other pension
assumptions involving demographic factors, such as retirement
age and mortality, and updates these assumptions to reflect
experience and expectations for the future. Actual results in
any given year can differ from actuarial assumptions because of
economic and other factors.

For additional information on the company’s pension plans and
the development of these assumptions, see note T, “Retirement-
Related Benefits,” on pages 127 to 141.

Revenue Recognition

Application of GAAP related to the measurement and recognition
of revenue requires the company to make judgments and
estimates. Specifically, complex arrangements with nonstandard
terms and conditions may require significant contract
interpretation to determine the appropriate accounting, including
whether promised goods and services specified in an arrangement
are distinct performance obligations. Other significant judgments
include determining whether IBM or a reseller is acting as the
principalin a transaction and whether separate contracts should
be combined and considered part of one arrangement.

Revenue recognition is also impacted by the company’s ability
to determine when a contract is probable of collection and to
estimate variable consideration, including, for example, rebates,
volume discounts, service-level penalties, and performance
bonuses. The company considers various factors when making
these judgments, including a review of specific transactions,
historical experience and market and economic conditions.
Evaluations are conducted each quarter to assess the adequacy
of the estimates. If the estimates were changed by 10 percent
in 2018, the impact on net income would have been immaterial.

Costs to Complete Service Contracts

The company enters into numerous service contracts through
its services businesses. During the contractual period,
revenue, cost and profits may be impacted by estimates of the
ultimate profitability of each contract, especially contracts for
which the company uses cost-to-cost measures of progress
(i.e. percentage-of-completion (POC) method of accounting). If
at any time these estimates indicate the POC contract will be
unprofitable, the entire estimated loss for the remainder of the
contract is recorded immediately in cost. The company performs
ongoing profitability analyses of its POC-based services contracts
in order to determine whether the latest estimates require
updating. Key factors reviewed by the company to estimate the
future costs to complete each contract are future labor costs and
product costs and expected productivity efficiencies. Contract
loss provisions recorded as a component of other accrued
expenses and liabilities were $24 million and $25 million at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Income Taxes

The company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. and numerous
foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgments are required in
determining the consolidated provision for income taxes.

During the ordinary course of business, there are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. As a result, the company recognizes
tax liabilities based on estimates of whether additional taxes and
interest will be due. These tax liabilities are recognized when,
despite the company’s belief that its tax return positions are
supportable, the company believes that certain positions may not
be fully sustained upon review by tax authorities. The company
believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open
audit years based on its assessment of many factors, including
past experience and interpretations of tax law. This assessment
relies on estimates and assumptions, and may involve a series
of complex judgments about future events. To the extent that
new information becomes available which causes the company
to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of existing tax
liabilities, such changes to tax liabilities will impact income tax
expense in the period in which such determination is made.

Significant judgment is also required in determining any valuation
allowance recorded against deferred tax assets. In assessing
the need for a valuation allowance, management considers all
available evidence for each jurisdiction including past operating
results, estimates of future taxable income and the feasibility of
ongoing tax planning strategies. In the event that the company
changes its determination as to the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be realized, the company will adjust its valuation
allowance with a corresponding impact to income tax expense in
the period in which such determination is made.

The consolidated provision for income taxes will change period
to period based on nonrecurring events, such as the settlement
of income tax audits and changes in tax laws, as well as recurring
factors including the geographic mix of income before taxes,
state and local taxes and the effects of various global income
tax strategies.
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To the extent that the provision for income taxes increases/
decreases by 1 percent of income from continuing operations
before income taxes, consolidated net income would have
decreased/improved by $113 million in 2018.

Valuation of Assets

The application of business combination and impairment
accounting requires the use of significant estimates and
assumptions. The acquisition method of accounting for business
combinations requires the company to estimate the fair value
of assets acquired including separately identifiable intangible
assets, liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in
the acquiree to properly allocate purchase price consideration.
Impairment testing for assets, other than goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets, requires the allocation of cash flows to
those assets or group of assets and if required, an estimate of fair
value for the assets or group of assets. The company’s estimates
are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which
are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. These valuations
require the use of management’s assumptions, which would not
reflect unanticipated events and circumstances that may occur.

Valuation of Goodwill

The company reviews goodwill for impairment annually and
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable. In 2018,
the company assessed the qualitative risk factors to determine
whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting
unit is less than its carrying amount.

The company assesses qualitative factors in each of its
reporting units that carry goodwill including relevant events
and circumstances that affect the fair value of reporting units.
Examples include, but are not limited to, macroeconomic,
industry and market conditions, as well as other individual factors
such as:

« Aloss of key personnel;

« Asignificant adverse shift in the operating environment of
the reporting unit such as unanticipated competition;

- Asignificant pending litigation;

« A more likely than not expectation that a reporting unit or a
significant portion of a reporting unit will be sold or otherwise
disposed of; and

- Anadverse action or assessment by a regulator.

The company assesses these qualitative factors to determine
whether it is necessary to perform the two-step quantitative
goodwill impairment test. This quantitative test is required only
if the company concludes that it is more likely than not that a
reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amount. After
performing the annual goodwill impairment qualitative analysis
during the fourth quarter of 2018, the company determined it was
not necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test.

Loss Contingencies

The company is currently involved in various claims and legal
proceedings. At least quarterly, the company reviews the status
of each significant matter and assesses its potential financial
exposure. If the potential loss from any claim or legal proceeding is
considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated,
the company accrues a liability for the estimated loss. Significant
judgment is required in both the determination of probability
and the determination as to whether an exposure is reasonably
estimable. Because of uncertainties related to these matters,
accruals are based only on the best information available at the
time. As additional information becomes available, the company
reassesses the potential liability related to its pending claims and
litigation, and may revise its estimates. These revisions in the
estimates of the potential liabilities could have a material impact
on the company’s results of operations and financial position.

Global Financing Receivables Allowance for Credit Losses
The Global Financing business reviews its financing receivables
portfolio on a regular basis in order to assess collectibility and
records adjustments to the allowance for credit losses at least
quarterly. A description of the methods used by management
to estimate the amount of uncollectible receivables is included
in note A, “Significant Accounting Policies,” on pages 76 to 88.
Factors that could result in actual receivable losses that are
materially different from the estimated reserve include significant
changes in the economy, or a sudden change in the economic
health of a significant client that represents a concentration in
Global Financing’s receivables portfolio.

To the extent that actual collectibility differs from management’s
estimates currently provided for by 10 percent, Global
Financing’s segment pre-tax income and the company’s income
from continuing operations before income taxes would be higher
or lower by an estimated $29 million depending upon whether
the actual collectibility was better or worse, respectively, than
the estimates.

Residual Value

Residual value represents the estimated fair value of equipment
under lease as of the end of the lease. Residual value estimates
impact the determination of whether a lease is classified as
operating or capital. Global Financing estimates the future fair
value of leased equipment by using historical models, analyzing
the current market for new and used equipment, and obtaining
forward-looking product information such as marketing plans
and technological innovations. Residual value estimates are
periodically reviewed and “other than temporary” declines
in estimated future residual values are recognized upon
identification. Anticipated increases in future residual values
are not recognized until the equipment is remarketed.

Factors that could cause actual results to materially differ from
the estimates include significant changes in the used-equipment
market brought on by unforeseen changes in technology innovations
and any resulting changes in the useful lives of used equipment.
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To the extent that actual residual value recovery is lower than
management’s estimates by 10 percent, Global Financing’s
segment pre-tax income and the company’s income from
continuing operations before income taxes for 2018 would have
been lower by an estimated $70 million. If the actual residual
value recovery is higher than management’s estimates, the
increase in income will be realized at the end of lease when the
equipment is remarketed.

Currency Rate Fluctuations

Changes in the relative values of non-U.S. currencies to the
U.S. dollar affect the company’s financial results and financial
position. At December 31, 2018, currency changes resulted
in assets and liabilities denominated in local currencies being
translated into fewer dollars than at year-end 2017. The company
uses financial hedging instruments to limit specific currency risks
related to financing transactions and other foreign currency-
based transactions.

During periods of sustained movements in currency, the
marketplace and competition adjust to the changing rates. For
example, when pricing offerings in the marketplace, the company
may use some of the advantage from a weakening U.S. dollar to
improve its position competitively, and price more aggressively to
win the business, essentially passing on a portion of the currency
advantage to its customers. Competition will frequently take the
same action. Consequently, the company believes that some of
the currency-based changes in cost impact the prices charged to
clients. The company also maintains currency hedging programs
for cash management purposes which temporarily mitigate,
but do not eliminate, the volatility of currency impacts on the
company’s financial results.

The company translates revenue, cost and expense in its non-
U.S. operations at current exchange rates in the reported period.
References to “adjusted for currency” or “constant currency”
reflect adjustments based upon a simple mathematical formula.
However, this constant currency methodology that the company
utilizes to disclose this information does not incorporate any
operational actions that management could take to mitigate
fluctuating currency rates. Currency movements impacted the
company’s year-to-year revenue and earnings per share growth
in 2018. Based on the currency rate movements in 2018, total
revenue increased 0.6 percent as reported and was flat at
constant currency versus 2017. On an income from continuing
operations before income taxes basis, these translation impacts
offset by the net impact of hedging activities resulted in a
theoretical maximum (assuming no pricing or sourcing actions)
increase of approximately $300 million in 2018, on both an
as-reported basis and operating (non-GAAP) basis. The same
mathematical exercise resulted in an increase of approximately
$100 million in 2017 on an as-reported basis and an operating
(non-GAAP) basis. The company views these amounts as
a theoretical maximum impact to its as-reported financial
results. Considering the operational responses mentioned
above, movements of exchange rates, and the nature and timing
of hedging instruments, it is difficult to predict future currency
impacts on any particular period, but the company believes it
could be substantially less than the theoretical maximum given
the competitive pressure in the marketplace.

For non-U.S. subsidiaries and branches that operate in U.S.
dollars or whose economic environment is highly inflationary,
translation adjustments are reflected in results of operations.
Generally, the company manages currency risk in these entities
by linking prices and contracts to U.S. dollars.

During 2018 there were reported economic events impacting
the Argentinean economy, such as significant depreciation
of the Argentine peso, increases in interest rates and the
Argentine government requesting financial assistance from the
International Monetary Fund. The three-year cumulative inflation
rates, using a combination of monthly indices, exceeded the 100
percent threshold for hyperinflation. As a result, effective July 1,
2018, the company changed the functional currency from local
currency to U.S. dollar functional for Argentina with no material
impact. The ongoing impact from the change is not expected to
be material given the size of the company’s operations in the
country (less than 1 percent of total 2018 revenue).

Market Risk

In the normal course of business, the financial position of
the company is routinely subject to a variety of risks. In
addition to the market risk associated with interest rate and
currency movements on outstanding debt and non-U.S. dollar
denominated assets and liabilities, other examples of risk include
collectibility of accounts receivable and recoverability of residual
values on leased assets.

The company regularly assesses these risks and has established
policies and business practices to protect against the adverse
effects of these and other potential exposures. As a result, the
company does not anticipate any material losses from these risks.

The company’s debt, in support of the Global Financing business
and the geographic breadth of the company’s operations,
contains an element of market risk from changes in interest and
currency rates. The company manages this risk, in part, through
the use of a variety of financial instruments including derivatives,
as described in note D, “Financial Instruments—Derivative
Financial Instruments,” on pages 97 to 102.

To meet disclosure requirements, the company performs a
sensitivity analysis to determine the effects that market risk
exposures may have on the fair values of the company’s debt
and other financial instruments.

The financial instruments that are included in the sensitivity
analysis are comprised of the company’s cash and cash
equivalents, marketable securities, short-term and long-term
loans, commercial financing and installment payment receivables,
investments, long-term and short-term debt and derivative
financial instruments. The company’s derivative financial
instruments generally include interest rate swaps, foreign
currency swaps and forward contracts.
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To perform the sensitivity analysis, the company assesses the risk of
loss in fair values from the effect of hypothetical changes in interest
rates and foreign currency exchange rates on market-sensitive
instruments. The market values for interest and foreign currency
exchange risk are computed based on the present value of future
cash flows as affected by the changes in rates that are attributable
to the market risk being measured. The discount rates used for the
present value computations were selected based on market interest
and foreign currency exchange rates in effect at December 31,2018
and 2017. The differences in this comparison are the hypothetical
gains or losses associated with each type of risk.

Information provided by the sensitivity analysis does not
necessarily represent the actual changes in fair value that the
company would incur under normal market conditions because,
due to practical limitations, all variables other than the specific
market risk factor are held constant. In addition, the results
of the model are constrained by the fact that certain items
are specifically excluded from the analysis, while the financial
instruments relating to the financing or hedging of those items
are included by definition. Excluded items include short-term
and long-term receivables from sales-type and direct financing
leases, forecasted foreign currency cash flows and the company’s
netinvestment in foreign operations. As a consequence, reported
changes in the values of some of the financial instruments
impacting the results of the sensitivity analysis are not matched
with the offsetting changes in the values of the items that those
instruments are designed to finance or hedge.

The results of the sensitivity analysis at December 31,2018 and
2017, are as follows:

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2018, a 10 percent decrease in the levels
of interest rates with all other variables held constant would
result in a decrease in the fair value of the company’s financial
instruments of $422 million as compared with a decrease of
$201 million at December 31, 2017. A 10 percent increase in
the levels of interest rates with all other variables held constant
would result in an increase in the fair value of the company’s
financial instruments of $408 million as compared to an increase
of $232 million at December 31, 2017. Changes in the relative
sensitivity of the fair value of the company’s financial instrument
portfolio for these theoretical changes in the level of interest
rates are primarily driven by changes in the company’s debt
maturities, interest rate profile and amount.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

At December 31, 2018, a 10 percent weaker U.S. dollar against
foreign currencies, with all other variables held constant, would
result in an increase in the fair value of the company’s financial
instruments of $697 million as compared with an increase of
$363 million at December 31, 2017. Conversely, a 10 percent
stronger U.S. dollar against foreign currencies, with all other
variables held constant, would result in a decrease in the fair
value of the company’s financial instruments of $697 million
compared with a decrease of $363 million at December 31, 2017.

Financing Risks

See the “Description of Business” on page 25 for a discussion of
the financing risks associated with the Global Financing business
and management’s actions to mitigate such risks.

Cybersecurity

While cybersecurity risk can never be completely eliminated, the
company’s approach draws on the depth and breadth of its global
capabilities, both in terms of its offerings to clients and its internal
approaches to risk management. The company offers commercial
solutions that deliver capabilities in areas such as identity and
access management, data security, application security, network
security and endpoint security. IBM’s solutions include pervasive
encryption, security intelligence, analytics, cognitive and artificial
intelligence, and forensic tools that can process information on
customer IT security events and vulnerabilities and provide
detailed information to customers about potential threats and
security posture. The company also offers professional consulting
and technical services solutions for security from assessment
and incident response to deployment and resource augmentation.
In addition, the company offers managed and outsourced
security solutions from multiple security operations centers
around the world. Finally, security is embedded in a multitude
of IBM products and offerings through secure engineering and
operations, and by critical functions (encryption, access control,
etc.) in servers, storage, software, services and other solutions.

From an enterprise perspective, IBM implements a multi-faceted
risk-management approach to identify and address cybersecurity
risks. The company has established policies and procedures that
provide the foundation upon which IBM’s infrastructure and data
are managed. IBM performs ongoing assessments regarding its
technical controls and its methods for identifying emerging risks
related to cybersecurity. The company uses a layered approach
with overlapping controls to defend against cybersecurity attacks
and threats on networks, end-user devices, servers, applications,
data and cloud solutions. The company also has a security
monitoring program and a global incident response process to
respond to cybersecurity threats and attacks. In addition, the
company utilizes a combination of online training, educational
tools, videos and other awareness initiatives to foster a culture
of security awareness and responsibility among its workforce.

Employees and Related Workforce

(In thousands)

For the year ended December 31: 2018
IBM/wholly owned subsidiaries 350.6
Less-than-wholly owned subsidiaries 9.4
Complementary 211

As a globally integrated enterprise, the company operates in
more than 175 countries and is continuing to shift its business
to the higher value segments of enterprise IT. The company
continues to remix its skills and people needs to match the best
opportunities in the marketplace.

The complementary workforce is an approximation of equivalent
full-time employees hired under temporary, part-time and
limited-term employment arrangements to meet specific
business needs in a flexible and cost-effective manner.
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Report of Management
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Management Responsibility

for Financial Information

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the financial
information presented in this Annual Report rests with IBM
management. The accompanying financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, applying certain
estimates and judgments as required.

IBM maintains an effective internal control structure. It consists,
in part, of organizational arrangements with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and delegation of authority, and comprehensive
systems and control procedures. An important element of the
control environment is an ongoing internal audit program. Our
system also contains self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions
are taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified.

To assure the effective administration of internal controls,
we carefully select and train our employees, develop and
disseminate written policies and procedures, provide appropriate
communication channels and foster an environment conducive to
the effective functioning of controls. We believe that it is essential
for the company to conduct its business affairs in accordance
with the highest ethical standards, as set forth in the IBM
Business Conduct Guidelines. These guidelines, translated into
numerous languages, are distributed to employees throughout
the world, and reemphasized through internal programs to assure
that they are understood and followed.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is composed
solely of independent, non-management directors, and is
responsible for recommending to the Board the independent
registered public accounting firm to be retained for the coming
year, subject to stockholder ratification. The Audit Committee
meets regularly and privately with the independent registered
public accounting firm, with the company’s internal auditors, as
well as with IBM management, to review accounting, auditing,
internal control structure and financial reporting matters.

Management’s Report on Internal Control

Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting of the company.
Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

The company’s internal control over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(i) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition
of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this evaluation,
management concluded that the company’s internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2018.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, is retained to audit IBM’s Consolidated Financial
Statements and the effectiveness of the internal control over
financial reporting. Its accompanying report is based on audits
conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

ﬂw%%

Virginia M. Rometty
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
February 26, 2019

James J. Kavanaugh
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
February 26, 2019
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To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
International Business Machines Corporation:

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position of International Business Machines Corporation
and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2018
and 2017, and the related Consolidated Statements of Earnings,
Comprehensive Income, Changes in Equity, and Cash Flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2018, including the related notes (collectively referred to as
the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2018 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these
consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing on page
68. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements and on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a
public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company
in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of
the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also
included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over

Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition
of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York
February 26, 2019

We, or firms that we have ultimately acquired, have served as
the Company’s auditor since 1923. For the period from 1923 to
1958, the Company was audited by firms that a predecessor firm
to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP ultimately acquired.



70

Consolidated Statement of Earnings
International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

($ in millions except per share amounts)

For the year ended December 31: Notes 2018 2017 2016
Revenue
Services $51,350 $50,709 $51,268
Sales 26,641 26,715 26,942
Financing 1,599 1,715 1,710
Total revenue 0 79,591 79,139 79,919
Cost
Services 34,059 33,811* 33,792*
Sales 7,464 7,175* 6,566*
Financing 1,132 1,210 1,044
Total cost 42,655 42,196* 41,403*
Gross profit 36,936 36,943* 38,516*
Expense and other (income)
Selling, general and administrative 19,366 19,680* 20,869*
Research, development and engineering P 5,379 5,590* 5,726*
Intellectual property and custom development income (1,026) (1,466) (1,631)
Other (income) and expense 1,152 1,125* 593*
Interest expense D&J 723 615 630
Total expense and other (income) 25,594 25,543* 26,186*
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 11,342 11,400 12,330
Provision for income taxes N 2,619 5,642 449
Income from continuing operations 8,723 5,758 11,881
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 5 (5) 9)
Netincome $ 8,728 $ 5,753 $11,872

Earnings/(loss) per share of common stock
Assuming dilution

Continuing operations Q $ 9.51 $ 6.14 $ 12.39
Discontinued operations Q 0.01 0.00 (0.01)
Total Q $ 9.52 $ 6.14 $ 12.38
Basic
Continuing operations Q $ 9.56 $ 6.17 $ 12.44
Discontinued operations Q 0.01 0.00 (0.01)
Total Q $ 9.57 $ 6.17 $ 12.43
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
Assuming dilution 916,315,714 937,385,625 958,714,097
Basic 912,048,072 932,828,295 955,422,530

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on presentation of net periodic pension and nonpension postretirement benefit costs.
Amounts may not add due to rounding.

The accompanying notes on pages 76 through 146 are an integral part of the financial statements.



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

($ in millions)
For the year ended December 31: Notes 2018 2017 2016
Net income $ 8,728 $5,753 $11,872
Other comprehensive income/(loss), before tax
Foreign currency translation adjustments L (730) 152 (20)
Net changes related to available-for-sale securities L
Unrealized gains/(losses) arising during the period 2 1 (38)
Reclassification of (gains)/losses to net income — 1 34
Total net changes related to available-for-sale securities 2) 2 3)
Unrealized gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges L
Unrealized gains/(losses) arising during the period (136) (58) 243
Reclassification of (gains)/losses to net income 449 (363) 102
Total unrealized gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 313 (421) 345
Retirement-related benefit plans L
Prior service costs/(credits) (182) 0 —
Net (losses)/gains arising during the period (2,517) 682 (2,490)
Curtailments and settlements 11 19 (16)
Amortization of prior service (credits)/costs (73) (88) (107)
Amortization of net (gains)/losses 2,966 2,889 2,764
Total retirement-related benefit plans 204 3,502 150
Other comprehensive income/(loss), before tax L (215) 3,235 472
Income tax (expense)/benefit related to items
of other comprehensive income L (262) (429) (263)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) L (476) 2,806 209
Total comprehensive income $ 8,252 $8,559 $12,081

Amounts may not add due to rounding.

The accompanying notes on pages 76 through 146 are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

($ in millions except per share amounts)

At December 31: Notes 2018 2017
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,379 $ 11,972
Restricted cash 225 262*
Marketable securities D 618 608
Notes and accounts receivable—trade (net of allowances of
$309in 2018 and $297 in 2017) 7,432 8,928
Short-term financing receivables (net of allowances of $244 in 2018 and $261 in 2017) F 22,388 21,721
Other accounts receivable (net of allowances of $38 in 2018 and $36 in 2017) 743 981
Inventories E 1,682 1,583
Deferred costs ] 2,300 1,820**
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,378 1,860* **
Total current assets 49,146 49,735
Property, plant and equipment G 32,460 32,331
Less: Accumulated depreciation G 21,668 21,215
Property, plant and equipment—net G 10,792 11,116
Long-term financing receivables (net of allowances of $48 in 2018 and $74 in 2017) F 9,148 9,550
Prepaid pension assets T 4,666 4,643
Deferred costs ] 2,676 2,136**
Deferred taxes N 5,216 4,862
Goodwill I 36,265 36,788
Intangible assets—net I 3,087 3,742
Investments and sundry assets H 2,386 2,783**
Total assets $ 123,382 $ 125,356
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Taxes N $ 3,046 $ 4,219
Short-term debt D&J 10,207 6,987
Accounts payable 6,558 6,451
Compensation and benefits 3,310 3,644
Deferred income 11,165 11,552
Other accrued expenses and liabilities 3,941 4,510
Total current liabilities 38,227 37,363
Long-term debt D&J 35,605 39,837
Retirement and nonpension postretirement benefit obligations T 17,002 16,720
Deferred income 3,445 3,746
Other liabilities K 12,174 9,965
Total liabilities 106,452 107,631
Contingencies and commitments M
Equity L
IBM stockholders’ equity
Common stock, par value $.20 per share, and additional paid-in capital 55,151 54,566
Shares authorized: 4,687,500,000
Shares issued (2018—2,233,427,058; 2017—2,229,428,813)
Retained earnings 159,206 153,126
Treasury stock, at cost (shares: 2018—1,340,947,648; 2017—1,307,249,588) (168,071) (163,507)
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) (29,490) (26,592)
Total IBM stockholders’ equity 16,796 17,594
Noncontrolling interests A 134 131
Total equity 16,929 17,725
Total liabilities and equity $ 123,382 $ 125,356

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on restricted cash.
**Recast to conform to current period presentation.
Amounts may not add due to rounding.

The accompanying notes on pages 76 through 146 are an integral part of the financial statements.



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

($ in millions)
For the year ended December 31: 2018 2017 2016
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 8,728 $ 5,753 $11,872
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation 3,127 3,021 2,837
Amortization of intangibles 1,353 1,520 1,544
Stock-based compensation 510 534 544
Deferred taxes 853 (931) (1,132)
Net (gain)/loss on asset sales and other 123 14 62
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions/divestitures
Receivables (including financing receivables) 1,006 1,297 712
Retirement related 1,368 1,014 54
Inventories (127) 18 (14)
Other assets/other liabilities 1,819) 4,437 408
Accounts payable 126 47 197
Net cash provided by operating activities 15,247 16,724 17,084
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment (3,395) (3,229) (3,567)
Proceeds from disposition of property, plant and equipment 248 460 424
Investment in software (569) (544) (583)
Purchases of marketable securities and other investments (7,041) (4,949)* (5,853)*
Proceeds from disposition of marketable securities and other investments 6,487 3,910 5,692
Non-operating finance receivables—net (503) (2,028) (891)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (139) (496) (5,696)*
Divestiture of businesses, net of cash transferred - (205) (454)
Net cash used in investing activities (4,913) (7,081)* (10,928)*
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from new debt 6,891 9,643 9,132
Payments to settle debt (8,533) (6,816) (6,395)
Short-term borrowings/(repayments) less than 90 days—net 1,341 620 26
Common stock repurchases (4,443) (4,340) (3,502)
Common stock repurchases for tax withholdings (171) (193) (126)
Financing—other 111 175 204
Cash dividends paid (5,666) (5,506) (5,256)
Net cash used in financing activities (10,469) (6,418) (5,917)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (495) 937 (51)
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (630) 4,161* 188*
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at January 1 12,234 8,073* 7,885*
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at December 31 $ 11,604 $12,234* $ 8,073*
Supplemental data
Income taxes paid—net of refunds received $ 1,745 $ 1,597 $ 1,078
Interest paid on debt $ 1,423 $ 1,208 $ 1,158

* Recast to reflect adoption of the FASB guidance on restricted cash.
Amounts may not add due to rounding.

The accompanying notes on pages 76 through 146 are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

($ in millions)
Common Accumulated
Stock and Other Total IBM Non-
Additional Retained Treasury Comprehensive Stockholders’  Controlling Total
Paid-In Capital Earnings Stock  Income/(Loss) Equity Interests Equity
2016
Equity, January 1, 2016 $53,262  $146,124  $(155,518) $(29,607)  $14,262 $162 $14,424
Net income plus other
comprehensive income/(loss)
Net income 11,872 11,872 11,872
Other comprehensive
income/(loss) 209 209 209
Total comprehensive income/(loss) $12,081 $12,081
Cash dividends paid—
common stock ($5.50 per share) (5,256) (5,256) (5,256)
Common stock issued under
employee plans
(3,893,366 shares) 695 695 695
Purchases (854,365 shares)
and sales (383,077 shares)
of treasury stock under
employee plans—net 18 (77) (59) (59)
Other treasury shares purchased,
not retired (23,283,400 shares) (3,455) (3,455) (3,455)
Changes in other equity (22) 0 (22) (22)
Changes in noncontrolling interests (16) (16)
Equity, December 31, 2016 $53,935  $152,759  $(159,050) $(29,398) $18,246 $146 $18,392
Amounts may not add due to rounding.
The accompanying notes on pages 76 through 146 are an integral part of the financial statements.
($ in millions)
Common Accumulated
Stock and Other Total IBM Non-
Additional Retained Treasury Comprehensive Stockholders’  Controlling Total
Paid-In Capital Earnings Stock  Income/(Loss) Equity Interests Equity
2017
Equity, January 1, 2017 $53,935  $152,759  $(159,050) $(29,398) $18,246 $146 $18,392
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle* 102 102 102
Net income plus other
comprehensive income/(loss)
Net income 5,753 5,753 5,753
Other comprehensive
income/(loss) 2,806 2,806 2,806
Total comprehensive income/(loss) $ 8,559 $ 8,559
Cash dividends paid—
common stock ($5.90 per share) (5,506) (5,506) (5,506)
Common stock issued under
employee plans
(4,311,998 shares) 631 631 631
Purchases (1,226,080 shares)
and sales (463,083 shares)
of treasury stock under
employee plans—net 18 (134) (116) (116)
Other treasury shares purchased,
not retired (27,237,179 shares) (4,323) (4,323) (4,323)
Changes in other equity 0 0 0
Changes in noncontrolling interests (15) (15)
Equity, December 31, 2017 $54,566  $153,126  $(163,507) $(26,592) $17,594 $131 $17,725

* Reflects the adoption of the FASB guidance on intra-entity transfers of assets.

Amounts may not add due to rounding.

The accompanying notes on pages 76 through 146 are an integral part of the financial statements.



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

($ in millions)
Common Accumulated
Stock and Other Total IBM Non-
Additional Retained Treasury Comprehensive Stockholders’  Controlling Total
Paid-In Capital Earnings Stock  Income/(Loss) Equity Interests Equity
2018
Equity, January 1, 2018 $54,566 $153,126 $(163,507) $(26,592) $17,594 $131 $17,725
Cumulative effect of changes in
accounting principle
Revenue* 580 580 580
Stranded tax effects/other* 2,422 (2,422)
Net income plus other
comprehensive income/(loss)
Net income 8,728 8,728 8,728
Other comprehensive
income/(loss) (476) (476) (476)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) $ 8,252 $ 8,252
Cash dividends paid—
common stock ($6.21 per share) (5,666) (5,666) (5,666)
Common stock issued under
employee plans
(3,998,245 shares) 585 585 585
Purchases (1,173,416 shares)
and sales (424,589 shares)
of treasury stock under
employee plans—net 15 a17) (103) (103)
Other treasury shares purchased,
not retired (32,949,233 shares) (4,447) (4,447) (4,447)
Changes in other equity 0 0 0 0
Changes in noncontrolling interests 3 3
Equity, December 31, 2018 $55,151  $159,206  $(168,071) $(29,490) $16,796 $134 $16,929

* Reflects the adoption of FASB guidance. Refer to note B, “Accounting Changes””

Amounts may not add due to rounding.

The accompanying notes on pages 76 through 146 are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

NOTE A. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and
footnotes of the International Business Machines Corporation
(IBM or the company) have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAP).

Within the financial statements and tables presented, certain
columns and rows may not add due to the use of rounded
numbers for disclosure purposes. Percentages presented are
calculated from the underlying whole-dollar amounts. Certain
prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the
current year presentation. This is annotated where applicable.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (U.S. tax
reform) was enacted in the U.S. This Act introduced many
changes, including lowering the U.S. corporate tax rate to 21
percent, changes in incentives, provisions to prevent U.S. base
erosion and significant changes in the taxation of international
income, including provisions which allow for the repatriation of
foreign earnings without U.S. tax.

The enactment of U.S. tax reform resulted in a provisional charge
of $5.5 billion to tax expense in the fourth-quarter and year-
ended December 31, 2017. The charge was primarily the result
of the one-time U.S. transition tax, and any foreign tax costs on
undistributed foreign earnings, as well as the remeasurement
of deferred tax balances to the new U.S. federal tax rate. During
the fourth quarter of 2018, the accounting for impacts of U.S.
tax reform was completed and the effects of measurement
period adjustments were recognized as a charge to tax expense
of $1.9 billion and $2.0 billion in the fourth quarter and year
ended December 31, 2018, respectively. The 2018 charges were
primarily attributable to the election to include Global Intangible
Low-Taxed Income (GILTI) in measuring deferred taxes, in
addition to refinements to the one-time U.S. transition tax and
foreign tax costs on undistributed foreign earnings. Refer to note
N, “Taxes,” on pages 117 to 119 for additional information.

Noncontrolling interest amounts of $17 million, $17 million and $16
million, net of tax, for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017
and 2016, respectively, are included as a reduction within other
(income) and expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of
IBM and its controlled subsidiaries, which are primarily majority
owned. Any noncontrolling interest in the equity of a subsidiary
is reported in Equity in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position. Netincome and losses attributable to the noncontrolling
interest is reported as described above in the Consolidated
Statement of Earnings. The accounts of variable interest entities

(VIEs) are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements, if
required. Investments in business entities in which the company
does not have control, but has the ability to exercise significant
influence over operating and financial policies, are accounted for
using the equity method and the company’s proportionate share
of income or loss is recorded in other (income) and expense. The
accounting policy for other investments in equity securities is
described on pages 86 and 87 within “Marketable Securities.”
Equity investments in non-publicly traded entities lacking
controlling financial interest or significant influence are primarily
measured at cost, net of impairment, if any. All intercompany
transactions and accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs, expenses
and other comprehensive income/(loss) (OCI) that are reported
in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying
disclosures. These estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge of current events, historical experience, actions
that the company may undertake in the future and on various
other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. As a result, actual results may be different from
these estimates. See “Critical Accounting Estimates” on pages 63
to 66 for a discussion of the company’s critical accounting estimates.

Revenue

Effective January 1, 2018, the company adopted the new
accounting standard related to the recognition of revenue in
contracts with customers under the modified retrospective
transition method. This method was applied to contracts that
were not complete as of the date of initial application. The
impact related to adopting the new standard was not material.
Certain changes resulting from adopting the new standard,
such as terminology differences, impacted the company’s
description of its significant accounting policies in 2018.
For further information regarding the adoption of the new standard,
see note B, “Accounting Changes,” on pages 89 to 91, and
note O, “Revenue Recognition,” on pages 120 to 122.

The company accounts for a contract with a client when it has
written approval, the contract is committed, the rights of the
parties, including payment terms, are identified, the contract has
commercial substance and consideration is probable of collection.

Revenue is recognized when, or as, control of a promised product
or service transfers to a client, in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the company expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring those products or services. If
the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable
amount, the company estimates the amount to which it expects
to be entitled using either the expected value or most likely
amount method. The company’s contracts may include terms
that could cause variability in the transaction price, including,
for example, rebates, volume discounts, service-level penalties,
and performance bonuses or other forms of contingent revenue.
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The company only includes estimated amounts in the
transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant
reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when
the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
resolved. The company may not be able to reliably estimate
contingent revenue in certain long-term arrangements due to
uncertainties that are not expected to be resolved for a long
period of time or when the company’s experience with similar
types of contracts is limited. The company’s arrangements
infrequently include contingent revenue. Estimates of variable
consideration and the determination of whether to include
estimated amounts in the transaction price are based on
all information (historical, current and forecasted) that is
reasonably available to the company, taking into consideration
the type of client, the type of transaction and the specific facts
and circumstances of each arrangement. Changes in estimates
of variable consideration are included in note O, “Revenue
Recognition,” on pages 120 to 122.

The company’s standard billing terms are that payment is due upon
receipt of invoice, payable within 30 days. Invoices are generally
issued as control transfers and/or as services are rendered.
Additionally, in determining the transaction price, the company
adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the effects of
the time value of money if the billing terms are not standard and
the timing of payments agreed to by the parties to the contract
provide the client or the company with a significant benefit
of financing, in which case the contract contains a significant
financing component. As a practical expedient, the company
does not account for significant financing components if the period
between when the company transfers the promised product or
service to the client and when the client pays for that product or
service will be one year or less. Most arrangements that contain a
financing component are financed through the company’s Global
Financing business and include explicit financing terms.

The company may include subcontractor services or third-party
vendor equipment or software in certain integrated services
arrangements. In these types of arrangements, revenue from
sales of third-party vendor products or services is recorded
net of costs when the company is acting as an agent between
the client and the vendor, and gross when the company is the
principal for the transaction. To determine whether the company
isan agent or principal, the company considers whether it obtains
control of the products or services before they are transferred
to the customer. In making this evaluation, several factors are
considered, most notably whether the company has primary
responsibility for fulfillment to the client, as well as inventory
risk and pricing discretion.

The company recognizes revenue on sales to solution providers,
resellers and distributors (herein referred to as resellers) when
the reseller has economic substance apart from the company
and the reseller is considered the principal for the transaction
with the end-user client.

The company reports revenue net of any revenue-based taxes
assessed by governmental authorities that are imposed on and
concurrent with specific revenue-producing transactions.

In addition to the aforementioned general policies, the following
are the specific revenue recognition policies for arrangements
with multiple performance obligations and for each major
category of revenue.

Arrangements with Multiple Performance Obligations

The company’s global capabilities as a cognitive solutions and
cloud platform company include services, software, hardware
and related financing. The company enters into revenue
arrangements that may consist of any combination of these
products and services based on the needs of its clients. For
example, a client may purchase a server that includes operating
system software. In addition, the arrangement may include
post-contract support for the software and a contract for post-
warranty maintenance service for the hardware. These types
of arrangements may also include financing provided by the
company. These arrangements consist of multiple products and
services, whereby the hardware and software may be delivered in
one period and the software support and hardware maintenance
services are delivered over time. In another example, the
company may assist the client in building and running an
enterprise information technology (IT) environment utilizing a
private cloud on a long-term basis and the client periodically
purchases hardware and/or software products from the company
to upgrade or expand the facility. The services delivered on
the cloud are provided on a continuous basis across multiple
reporting periods, and the hardware and software products are
provided in each period the products are purchased.

The company continues to build new products and offerings
and continuously reinvent its platforms and delivery methods,
including through the use of cloud and as-a-Service models.
These are not separate businesses; they are offerings across
the segments that address market opportunities in analytics,
data, cloud and security. Revenue from these offerings follows
the specific revenue recognition policies for arrangements with
multiple performance obligations and for each major category of
revenue, depending on the type of offering, which are comprised
of services, hardware and/or software.

To the extent that a product or service in multiple performance
obligation arrangements is subject to other specific accounting
guidance, such as leasing guidance, that product or service is
accounted for in accordance with such specific guidance. For all
other products or services in these arrangements, the criteria
below are considered to determine when the products or services
are distinct and how to allocate the arrangement consideration to
each distinct performance obligation. A performance obligation
is a promise in a contract with a client to transfer products or
services that are distinct. If the company enters into two or
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more contracts at or near the same time, the contracts may
be combined and accounted for as one contract, in which case
the company determines whether the products or services in
the combined contract are distinct. A product or service that is
promised to a client is distinct if both of the following criteria
are met:

« The client can benefit from the product or service either on
its own or together with other resources that are readily
available to the client (that is, the product or service is
capable of being distinct); and

« The company’s promise to transfer the product or service to
the client is separately identifiable from other promises in
the contract (that is, the product or service is distinct within
the context of the contract).

If these criteria are not met, the company determines an
appropriate measure of progress based on the nature of
its overall promise for the single performance obligation.
When products and services are distinct, the arrangement
consideration is allocated to each performance obligation on a
relative standalone selling price basis. The revenue policies in
the Services, Hardware and/or Software sections below are then
applied to each performance obligation, as applicable.

To the extent the company grants the customer the option
to acquire additional products or services in one of these
arrangements, the company accounts for the option as a distinct
performance obligation in the contract only if the option provides
a material right to the customer that it would not receive without
entering into the contract (e.g., a discount incremental to the
range of discounts typically given for the product or service), in
which case the client in effect pays in advance for the option to
purchase future products or services. The company recognizes
revenue when those future products or services are transferred
or when the option expires.

Services

The company’s primary services offerings include infrastructure
services, including outsourcing, and other managed services;
application management services; global process services
(GPS); maintenance and support; and consulting, including the
design and development of complex IT systems to a client’s
specifications (e.g., design and build). Many of these services can
be delivered entirely or partially through cloud or as-a-Service
delivery models. The company’s services are provided on a time-
and-material basis, as a fixed-price contract or as a fixed-price
per measure of output contract and the contract terms range
from less than one year to over 10 years.

In services arrangements, the company typically satisfies the
performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time. In
design and build arrangements, the performance obligation is
satisfied over time either because the client controls the asset
as itis created (e.g., when the asset is built at the customer site)
or because the company’s performance does not create an asset

with an alternative use and the company has an enforceable right
to payment plus a reasonable profit for performance completed
to date. In most other services arrangements, the performance
obligation is satisfied over time because the client simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided as the company
performs the services.

In outsourcing, other managed services, application
management, GPS and other cloud-based services arrangements,
the company determines whether the services performed during
the initial phases of the arrangement, such as setup activities, are
distinct. In most cases, the arrangement is a single performance
obligation comprised of a series of distinct services that are
substantially the same and that have the same pattern of transfer
(i.e., distinct days of service). The company applies a measure
of progress (typically time-based) to any fixed consideration and
allocates variable consideration to the distinct periods of service
based on usage. As a result, revenue is generally recognized over
the period the services are provided on a usage basis. This results
in revenue recognition that corresponds with the value to the
client of the services transferred to date relative to the remaining
services promised.

Revenue from time-and-material contracts is recognized on an
output basis as labor hours are delivered and/or direct expenses
areincurred. Revenue from as-a-Service type contracts, such as
Infrastructure-as-a-Service, is recognized either on a straight-
line basis or on a usage basis, depending on the terms of the
arrangement (such as whether the company is standing ready to
perform or whether the contract has usage-based metrics). If the
as-a-Service contract includes setup activities, those promises in
the arrangement are evaluated to determine if they are distinct.

Revenue related to maintenance and support services and
extended warranty is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
period of performance because the company is standing ready
to provide services.

In fixed-price design and build contracts, revenue is recognized
based on progress toward completion of the performance
obligation using a cost-to-cost measure of progress (i.e.,
percentage-of-completion (POC) method of accounting).
Revenue is recognized based on the labor costs incurred to
date as a percentage of the total estimated labor costs to fulfill
the contract. Due to the nature of the work performed in these
arrangements, the estimation of cost at completion is complex,
subject to many variables and requires significant judgment.
Key factors reviewed by the company to estimate costs to
complete each contract are future labor and product costs and
expected productivity efficiencies. If circumstances arise that
change the original estimates of revenues, costs, or extent of
progress toward completion, revisions to the estimates are
made. These revisions may result in increases or decreases in
estimated revenues or costs, and such revisions are reflected in
revenue on a cumulative catch-up basis in the period in which the
circumstances that gave rise to the revision become known by
the company. Refer to note O, “Revenue Recognition,” on pages
120 to 122 for the amount of revenue recognized in the reporting
period on a cumulative catch-up basis (i.e., from performance
obligations satisfied, or partially satisfied, in previous periods).
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The company performs ongoing profitability analyses of its
design and build services contracts accounted for using a cost-
to-cost measure of progress in order to determine whether the
latest estimates of revenues, costs and profits require updating.
If at any time these estimates indicate that the contract will be
unprofitable, the entire estimated loss for the remainder of the
contract is recorded immediately. For other types of services
contracts, any losses are recorded as incurred.

In some services contracts, the company bills the client prior
to recognizing revenue from performing the services. Deferred
income of $5,424 million and $5,870 million at December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively, is included in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position. In other services contracts, the
company performs the services prior to billing the client. When
the company performs services prior to billing the client in design
and build contracts, the right to consideration is typically subject
to milestone completion or client acceptance and, beginning
January 1, 2018, the unbilled accounts receivable is classified
as acontract asset. At December 31, 2018 and January 1, 2018,
contract assets for services contracts of $421 million and $471
million, respectively, are included in prepaid expenses and
other current assets in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position. The remaining amount of unbilled accounts receivable
of $1,075 million and $1,756 million at December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively, isincluded in notes and accounts receivable—
trade in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Billings usually occur in the month after the company performs
the services orin accordance with specific contractual provisions.

Hardware

The company’s hardware offerings include the sale or lease of
system servers and storage solutions. These products can also
be delivered through as-a-Service or cloud delivery models, such
as Storage-as-a-Service. The company also offers installation
services for its more complex hardware products. Hardware
offerings are often sold with distinct maintenance services,
described under the Services section above.

Revenue from hardware sales is recognized when control has
transferred to the customer which typically occurs when the
hardware has been shipped to the client, risk of loss has transferred
to the client and the company has a present right to payment for
the hardware. In limited circumstances when a hardware sale
includes client acceptance provisions, revenue is recognized either
when client acceptance has been obtained, client acceptance
provisions have lapsed, or the company has objective evidence
that the criteria specified in the client acceptance provisions
have been satisfied. Revenue from hardware sales-type leases
is recognized at the beginning of the lease term. Revenue from
rentals and operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the term of the rental or lease.

Revenue from as-a-Service arrangements is recognized either
on a straight-line basis or on a usage basis as described in the
Services section above. Installation services are accounted for
as distinct performance obligations with revenue recognized as
the services are performed. Any cost of standard warranties is

accrued when the corresponding revenue is recognized. Shipping
and handling activities that occur after the client has obtained
control of a product are accounted for as an activity to fulfill
the promise to transfer the product rather than as an additional
promised service and, therefore, no revenue is deferred and
recognized over the shipping period.

Software

The company’s software offerings include solutions software,
which contains many of the company’s strategic areas including
analytics, data and security; transaction processing software,
which primarily runs mission-critical systems for clients;
integration software, which helps clients to create, connect and
optimize their applications data and infrastructure; and operating
systems software, which provides operating systems for IBM Z
and Power Systems hardware. Many of these offerings can be
delivered entirely or partially through as-a-Service or cloud
delivery models, while others are delivered as on-premise
software licenses.

Revenue from perpetual (one-time charge) license software is
recognized at a point in time at the inception of the arrangement
when control transfers to the client, if the software license is
distinct from the post-contract support offered by the company.
In limited circumstances, when the software requires continuous
updates to provide the intended functionality, the software license
and post-contract support are not distinct and revenue for the
single performance obligation is recognized over time as the post-
contract support is provided. This is only applicable to certain
security software perpetual licenses offered by the company.
Prior to the adoption of the new revenue standard, the company
recognized revenue for these software licenses at a point in time
at the inception of the arrangement. This change did not have a
material impact on the company’s financial statements.

Revenue from post-contract support is recognized over the
contract term on a straight-line basis because the company is
providing a service of standing ready to provide support, when-
and-if needed, and is providing unspecified software upgrades
on a when-and-if available basis over the contract term.

Revenue from software hosting or Software-as-a-Service
arrangements is recognized either on a straight-line basis or
on a usage basis as described in the Services section above. In
software hosting arrangements, the rights provided to the client
(e.g., ownership of a license, contract termination provisions and
the feasibility of the client to operate the software) are considered
in determining whether the arrangement includes a license. In
arrangements that include a software license, the associated
revenue is recognized in accordance with the software license
recognition policy above rather than over time as a service.

Revenue from term license software is recognized at a point in
time for the committed term of the contract (which is typically one
month due to client termination rights). However, if the amount
of consideration to be paid in exchange for the license depends
on client usage, revenue is recognized when the usage occurs.
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Financing

Financing income attributable to sales-type leases, direct
financing leases and loans is recognized on the accrual basis
using the effective interest method. Operating lease income is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Standalone Selling Price

The company allocates the transaction price to each performance
obligation on a relative standalone selling price basis. The
standalone selling price (SSP) is the price at which the company
would sell a promised product or service separately to a client.
In most cases, the company is able to establish SSP based on
the observable prices of products or services sold separately
in comparable circumstances to similar clients. The company
typically establishes a standalone selling price range for its
products and services which are reassessed on a periodic basis
or when facts and circumstances change.

In certain instances, the company may not be able to establish
a SSP range based on observable prices and the company
estimates SSP. The company estimates SSP by considering
multiple factors including, but not limited to, overall market
conditions, including geographic or regional specific factors,
competitive positioning, competitor actions, internal costs,
profit objectives and pricing practices. Additionally, in certain
circumstances, the company may estimate SSP for a product or
service by applying the residual approach. This approach has
been most commonly used when certain perpetual software
licenses are only sold bundled with one year of post-contract
support and a price has not been established for the software.
Estimating SSP is a formal process that includes review and
approval by the company’s management.

Services Costs

Recurring operating costs for services contracts are recognized
as incurred. For fixed-price design and build contracts, the costs
of external hardware and software accounted for under the
cost-to-cost measure of progress are deferred and recognized
based on the labor costs incurred to date (i.e., the measure of
progress), as a percentage of the total estimated labor costs
to fulfill the contract as control transfers over time for these
performance obligations. Certain eligible, nonrecurring costs
incurred in the initial phases of outsourcing contracts and
other cloud-based services contracts (i.e., setup costs) are
capitalized when the costs relate directly to the contract, the
costs generate or enhance resources of the company that will be
used in satisfying the performance obligation in the future, and
the costs are expected to be recovered. These costs consist of
transition and setup costs related to the installation of systems
and processes and other deferred fulfillment costs, including,
prepaid assets used in services contracts (i.e., prepaid software
or prepaid maintenance), and other deferred fulfillment costs
eligible for capitalization. Capitalized costs are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the expected period of benefit, which

includes anticipated contract renewals or extensions, consistent
with the transfer to the client of the services to which the asset
relates. Additionally, fixed assets associated with these contracts
are capitalized and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
expected useful life of the asset. If an asset is contract specific,
then the depreciation period is the shorter of the useful life
of the asset or the contract term. Amounts paid to clients in
excess of the fair value of acquired assets used in outsourcing
arrangements are deferred and amortized on a straight-line
basis as a reduction of revenue over the expected period of
benefit. The company performs periodic reviews to assess the
recoverability of deferred contract transition and setup costs.
This review is done by comparing the carrying amount of the asset
to the remaining amount of consideration the company expects
to receive for the services to which the asset relates, less the
costs that relate directly to providing those services that have
not yet been recognized. If the carrying amount is deemed not
recoverable, an impairment loss is recognized. Refer to note O,
“Revenue Recognition,” on pages 120 to 122 for the amount of
deferred costs to fulfill a contract at December 31, 2018.

In situations in which an outsourcing contract is terminated,
the terms of the contract may require the client to reimburse
the company for the recovery of unbilled accounts receivable,
unamortized deferred costs incurred to purchase specific assets
utilized in the delivery of services and to pay any additional costs
incurred by the company to transition the services.

Software Costs

Costs that are related to the conceptual formulation and design
of licensed software programs are expensed as incurred to
research, development and engineering expense; costs that
are incurred to produce the finished product after technological
feasibility has been established are capitalized as an intangible
asset. Capitalized amounts are amortized on a straight-line
basis over periods ranging up to three years and are recorded
in software cost within cost of sales. The company performs
periodic reviews to ensure that unamortized program costs
remain recoverable from future revenue. Costs to support or
service licensed programs are charged to software cost within
cost of sales as incurred.

The company capitalizes certain costs that are incurred to
purchase or to create and implement internal-use software
programs, including software coding, installation, testing and
certain data conversions. Internal-use software programs also
include software used by the company to deliver Software-as-a-
Service when the client does not receive a license to the software
and the company has no substantive plans to market the software
externally. Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line
basis over periods ranging up to three years and are recorded
in selling, general and administrative expense or cost of sales,
depending on whether the software is used by the company in
revenue generating transactions.
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Certain eligible, nonrecurring costs incurred in the initial phases
of arrangements in which IBM provides Software-as-a-Service
are deferred and amortized over the expected period of benefit,
which includes anticipated contract renewals or extensions,
consistent with the policy described for Services Costs. Recurring
operating costs in these contracts are recognized as incurred.

Incremental Costs of Obtaining a Contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract (e.g., sales
commissions) are capitalized and amortized on a straight-
line basis over the expected customer relationship period if
the company expects to recover those costs. The company
previously expensed these costs as incurred. The expected
customer relationship period is determined based on the average
customer relationship period, including expected renewals, for
each offering type and ranges from three to six years. Expected
renewal periods are only included in the expected customer
relationship period if commission amounts paid upon renewal
are not commensurate with amounts paid on the initial contract.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract include only those
costs the company incurs to obtain a contract that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. The company
has determined that certain commission programs meet the
requirements to be capitalized. Some commission programs are
not subject to capitalization as the commission expense is paid
and recognized as the related revenue is recognized. Additionally,
as a practical expedient, the company expenses costs to obtain a
contract as incurred if the amortization period would have been
ayear or less. These costs are included in selling, general and
administrative expenses.

Product Warranties

The company offers warranties for its hardware products that
generally range up to three years, with the majority being either
one or three years. Estimated costs for standard warranty
terms are recognized when revenue is recorded for the related
product. The company estimates its warranty costs standard
to the product based on historical warranty claim experience
and estimates of future spending, and applies this estimate to
the revenue stream for products under warranty. Estimated
future costs for warranties applicable to revenue recognized in
the current period are charged to cost of sales. The warranty
liability is reviewed quarterly to verify that it properly reflects the
remaining obligation based on the anticipated expenditures over
the balance of the obligation period. Adjustments are made when
actual warranty claim experience differs from estimates. Costs
from fixed-price support or maintenance contracts, including
extended warranty contracts, are recognized as incurred.

Revenue from extended warranty contracts is initially recorded
as deferred income and subsequently recognized on a straight-
line basis over the delivery period because the company is
providing a service of standing ready to provide services over
such term. Changes in deferred income for extended warranty
contracts, and in the warranty liability for standard warranties,
which are included in other accrued expenses and liabilities
and other liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position, are presented in the following tables:

Standard Warranty Liability

($ in millions)

2018 2017
Balance at January 1 $ 152 $ 156
Current period accruals 121 172
Accrual adjustments to reflect experience 32) (10)
Charges incurred (123) (165)
Balance at December 31 $118 $152

Extended Warranty Liability (Deferred Income)

($ in millions)
2018 2017
Balance at January 1 $ 566 $531
Revenue deferred for new extended
warranty contracts 220 267
Amortization of deferred revenue (240) (260)
Other* 3) 28
Balance at December 31 $ 533 $ 566
Current portion $271 $ 277
Noncurrent portion $ 262 $ 289

* Other consists primarily of foreign currency translation adjustments.

Shipping and Handling
Costs related to shipping and handling are recognized as incurred
and included in cost in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Expense and Other Income

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense is charged
to income as incurred, except for certain sales commissions,
which are capitalized and amortized as of January 1, 2018. For
further information regarding capitalizing sales commissions, see
“Incremental Costs of Obtaining a Contract” above. Expenses
of promoting and selling products and services are classified as
selling expense and, in addition to sales commissions, include
such items as compensation, advertising and travel. General and
administrative expense includes such items as compensation,
legal costs, office supplies, non-income taxes, insurance and
office rental. In addition, general and administrative expense
includes other operating items such as an allowance for credit
losses, workforce rebalancing charges for contractually obligated
payments to employees terminated in the ongoing course of
business, acquisition costs related to business combinations,
amortization of certain intangible assets and environmental
remediation costs.
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Advertising and Promotional Expense

The company expenses advertising and promotional costs as
incurred. Cooperative advertising reimbursements from vendors
are recorded net of advertising and promotional expense in
the period in which the related advertising and promotional
expense is incurred. Advertising and promotional expense, which
includes media, agency and promotional expense, was $1,466
million, $1,445 million and $1,327 million in 2018, 2017 and
2016, respectively, and is recorded in SG&A expense in the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Research, Development and Engineering

Research, development and engineering (RD&E) costs are
expensed as incurred. Software costs that are incurred to
produce the finished product after technological feasibility has
been established are capitalized as an intangible asset.

Intellectual Property and Custom Development Income

The company licenses and sells the rights to certain of its
intellectual property (IP) including internally developed
patents, trade secrets and technological know-how. Certain IP
transactions to third parties are licensing/royalty-based and
others are transaction-based sales/other transfers. Income
from licensing arrangements is recognized at the inception of the
license term if the nature of the company’s promise is to provide a
right to use the company’s intellectual property as it exists at that
pointin time (i.e., the license is functional intellectual property)
and control has transferred to the client. If the nature of the
company’s promise is to provide a right to access the company’s
intellectual property throughout the license period (i.e., the
license is symbolic intellectual property), such as a trademark
license, income is recognized over time. Licensing arrangements
include IP partnerships whereby a business partner licenses
source code from the company and becomes responsible for
developing, maintaining and enhancing the product. The company
retains its customers and go-to-market capability and any royalty
cost due to the partner is recognized in cost of sales. The IP
partner has the rights to market the product and its derivative
works under its own brand and remits royalty to the company on
those sales, which are recorded as royalty-based fees. Income
from royalty-based fee arrangements is recognized at the later
of when the subsequent sale or usage occurs or the performance
obligation to which some or all of the royalty has been allocated
has been satisfied (or partially satisfied). Depending on the
nature of the transaction, an IP partnership would be accounted
for as a divestiture if the company concludes the transaction
meets the definition of a business. The company also enters
into cross-licensing arrangements of patents, and income from
these arrangements is recognized when control transfers to the
customer. In addition, the company earns income from certain
custom development projects with strategic technology partners
and specific clients. The company records the income from these
projects over time as the company satisfies the performance
obligation if the fee is nonrefundable and is not dependent upon
the ultimate success of the project.

Other (Income) and Expense

Other (income) and expense includes interest income (other
than from Global Financing external transactions), gains and
losses on certain derivative instruments, gains and losses from
securities and other investments, gains and losses from certain
real estate transactions, foreign currency transaction gains and
losses, gains and losses from the sale of businesses, other than
reported as discontinued operations, and amounts related to
accretion of asset retirement obligations. Other (income) and
expense also includes certain components of retirement-related
costs, including interest costs, expected return on plan assets,
amortization of prior service costs (credits), curtailments and
settlements and other net periodic pension/postretirement
benefit costs.

Business Combinations and

Intangible Assets Including Goodwill

The company accounts for business combinations using the
acquisition method and accordingly, the identifiable assets
acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest
in the acquiree are recorded at their acquisition date fair values.
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair
value of net assets, including the amount assigned to identifiable
intangible assets. The primary drivers that generate goodwill
are the value of synergies between the acquired entities and
the company and the acquired assembled workforce, neither
of which qualifies as a separately identifiable intangible asset.
Goodwill recorded in an acquisition is assigned to applicable
reporting units based on expected revenues. Identifiable
intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their useful
lives. Amortization of completed technology is recorded in cost,
and amortization of all other intangible assets is recorded in
SG&A expense. Acquisition-related costs, including advisory,
legal, accounting, valuation and other costs, are expensed in the
periods in which the costs are incurred. The results of operations
of acquired businesses are included in the Consolidated Financial
Statements from the acquisition date.

Impairment

Long-lived assets, other than goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible assets, are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The impairment test is based on
undiscounted cash flows and, if impaired, the asset is written
down to fair value based on either discounted cash flows or
appraised values. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets are tested at least annually, in the fourth quarter, for
impairment and whenever changes in circumstances indicate an
impairment may exist. The goodwill impairment test is performed
by reporting unit, which is an operating segment, a component
or multiple components of an operating segment. A component
meets the definition of a reporting unit if it is one level below an
operating segment, is considered to be a business with discrete
financial information available and is regularly reviewed by
segment management. Components are aggregated as a single
reporting unit if they have similar economic characteristics.
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Depreciation and Amortization

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost and depreciated
over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives of certain depreciable assets are as
follows: buildings, 30 to 50 years; building equipment, 10 to 20
years; land improvements, 20 years; production, engineering,
office and other equipment, 2 to 20 years; and information
technology equipment, 1.5 to 5 years. Leasehold improvements
are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or
the related lease term, rarely exceeding 25 years.

As noted on page 80 within “Software Costs,” capitalized software
costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over periods ranging
up to 3 years. Other intangible assets are amortized over periods
between 1 and 7 years.

Environmental

The cost of internal environmental protection programs that are
preventative in nature are expensed as incurred. When a cleanup
program becomes likely, and it is probable that the company will
incur cleanup costs and those costs can be reasonably estimated,
the company accrues remediation costs for known environmental
liabilities. The company’s maximum exposure for all environmental
liabilities cannot be estimated and no amounts are recorded for
environmental liabilities that are not probable or estimable.

Asset Retirement Obligations

Asset retirement obligations (ARO) are legal obligations
associated with the retirement of long-lived assets. These
liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and the related
asset retirement costs are capitalized by increasing the
carrying amount of the related assets by the same amount as
the liability. Asset retirement costs are subsequently depreciated
over the useful lives of the related assets. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the company records period-to-period changes in
the ARO liability resulting from the passage of time in interest
expense and revisions to either the timing or the amount of the
original expected cash flows to the related assets.

Defined Benefit Pension and

Nonpension Postretirement Benefit Plans

The funded status of the company’s defined benefit pension plans
and nonpension postretirement benefit plans (retirement-related
benefit plans) is recognized in the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position. The funded status is measured as the
difference between the fair value of plan assets and the benefit
obligation at December 31, the measurement date. For defined
benefit pension plans, the benefit obligation is the projected
benefit obligation (PBO), which represents the actuarial present
value of benefits expected to be paid upon retirement based
on employee services already rendered and estimated future
compensation levels. For the nonpension postretirement benefit
plans, the benefit obligation is the accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation (APBO), which represents the actuarial present
value of postretirement benefits attributed to employee services
already rendered. The fair value of plan assets represents the

current market value of assets held in an irrevocable trust fund,
held for the sole benefit of participants, which are invested by the
trust fund. Overfunded plans, with the fair value of plan assets
exceeding the benefit obligation, are aggregated and recorded as
aprepaid pension asset equal to this excess. Underfunded plans,
with the benefit obligation exceeding the fair value of plan assets,
are aggregated and recorded as a retirement and nonpension
postretirement benefit obligation equal to this excess.

The current portion of the retirement and nonpension post-
retirement benefit obligations represents the actuarial present
value of benefits payable in the next 12 months exceeding the
fair value of plan assets, measured on a plan-by-plan basis.
This obligation is recorded in compensation and benefits in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Net periodic pension and nonpension postretirement benefit
cost/(income) is recorded in the Consolidated Statement of
Earnings and includes service cost, interest cost, expected
return on plan assets, amortization of prior service costs/(credits)
and (gains)/losses previously recognized as a component of
OCI and amortization of the net transition asset remaining
in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) (AOCI).
Service cost represents the actuarial present value of participant
benefits earned in the current year. Interest cost represents
the time value of money cost associated with the passage of
time. Certain events, such as changes in the employee base,
plan amendments and changes in actuarial assumptions, result
in a change in the benefit obligation and the corresponding
change in OCI. The result of these events is amortized as a
component of net periodic cost/(income) over the service lives
or life expectancy of the participants, depending on the plan,
provided such amounts exceed thresholds which are based upon
the benefit obligation or the value of plan assets. The service
cost component of net benefit cost is recorded in Cost, SG&A
and RD&E in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings (unless
eligible for capitalization) based on the employees’ respective
functions. The other components of net benefit cost are
presented separately from service cost within other (income)
and expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings. Refer
to note B, “Accounting Changes,” on pages 89 to 91, for additional
information on the presentation change relating to pension costs
beginning on January 1, 2018.

(Gains)/losses and prior service costs/(credits) are not
recognized as a component of net periodic cost/(income) in
the Consolidated Statement of Earnings as they arise, but
are recognized as a component of OCI in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Those (gains)/losses
and prior service costs/(credits) are subsequently recognized
as a component of net periodic cost/(income) pursuant to the
recognition and amortization provisions of applicable accounting
guidance. (Gains)/losses arise as a result of differences between
actual experience and assumptions or as a result of changes in
actuarial assumptions. Prior service costs/(credits) represent the
cost of benefit changes attributable to prior service granted in
plan amendments.
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The measurement of benefit obligations and net periodic cost/
(income) is based on estimates and assumptions approved
by the company’s management. These valuations reflect the
terms of the plans and use participant-specific information such
as compensation, age and years of service, as well as certain
assumptions, including estimates of discount rates, expected
return on plan assets, rate of compensation increases, interest
crediting rates and mortality rates.

Defined Contribution Plans

The company’s contribution for defined contribution plans is
recorded when the employee renders service to the company.
The charge is recorded in Cost, SG&A and RD&E in the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings based on the employees’
respective functions.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation represents the cost related to stock-
based awards granted to employees. The company measures
stock-based compensation cost at the grant date, based on
the estimated fair value of the award and recognizes the cost
on a straight-line basis (net of estimated forfeitures) over the
employee requisite service period. The company grants its
employees Restricted Stock Units (RSUs), including Retention
Restricted Stock Units (RRSUs) and Performance Share Units
(PSUs) and periodically grants stock options. RSUs are stock
awards granted to employees that entitle the holder to shares
of common stock as the award vests, typically over a one- to
five-year period. The fair value of the awards is determined and
fixed on the grant date based on the company’s stock price,
adjusted for the exclusion of dividend equivalents. The company
estimates the fair value of stock options using a Black-Scholes
valuation model. Stock-based compensation cost is recorded in
Cost, SG&A, and RD&E in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings
based on the employees’ respective functions.

The company records deferred tax assets for awards that result
in deductions on the company’s income tax returns, based on
the amount of compensation cost recognized and the statutory
tax rate in the jurisdiction in which it will receive a deduction.
The differences between the deferred tax assets recognized
for financial reporting purposes and the actual tax deduction
reported on the income tax return are recorded as a benefit or
expense to the provision for income taxes in the Consolidated
Statement of Earnings.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense is based on reported income before income
taxes. Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effect of temporary
differences between asset and liability amounts that are
recognized for financial reporting purposes and the amounts that
are recognized for income tax purposes. These deferred taxes
are measured by applying currently enacted tax laws. Valuation
allowances are recognized to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amount that will more likely than not be realized. In assessing

the need for a valuation allowance, management considers all
available evidence for each jurisdiction including past operating
results, estimates of future taxable income and the feasibility
of ongoing tax planning strategies. When the company changes
its determination as to the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be realized, the valuation allowance is adjusted with a
corresponding impact to income tax expense in the period in
which such determination is made.

The company recognizes tax liabilities when, despite the
company’s belief that its tax return positions are supportable,
the company believes that certain positions may not be fully
sustained upon review by tax authorities. Benefits from tax
positions are measured at the largest amount of benefit that is
greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon settlement.
The current portion of tax liabilities is included in taxes and the
noncurrent portion of tax liabilities is included in other liabilities
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. To the
extent that new information becomes available which causes
the company to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of
existing tax liabilities, such changes to tax liabilities will impact
income tax expense in the period in which such determination
is made. Interest and penalties, if any, related to accrued
liabilities for potential tax assessments are included in income
tax expense.

The U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act introduced GILTI, which subjects
a U.S. shareholder to current tax on income earned by certain
foreign subsidiaries. The Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) allows companies to either (1) recognize deferred taxes
for temporary differences that are expected to reverse as GILTI in
future years (deferred method) or (2) account for taxes on GILTI
as period costs in the year the tax is incurred (period method).
The company elected the deferred method and in order to record
the initial deferred taxes for GILTI, the company estimated the
impact of foreign temporary differences on GILTI in future years.
This included consideration of statutory limitation impacts on
the GILTI calculation.

Translation of Non-U.S. Currency Amounts

Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries that have a local
functional currency are translated to U.S. dollars at year-end
exchange rates. Translation adjustments are recorded in OCI.
Income and expense items are translated at weighted-average
rates of exchange prevailing during the year.

Inventories, property, plant and equipment—net and other
non-monetary assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries
and branches that operate in U.S. dollars are translated at the
approximate exchange rates prevailing when the company acquired
the assets or liabilities. All other assets and liabilities denominated
in a currency other than U.S. dollars are translated at year-end
exchange rates with the transaction gain or loss recognized in other
(income) and expense. Income and expense items are translated at
the weighted-average rates of exchange prevailing during the year.
These translation gains and losses are included in net income for
the period in which exchange rates change.
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Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivatives are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position at fair value and are reported in prepaid
expenses and other current assets, investments and sundry
assets, other accrued expenses and liabilities or other liabilities.
Classification of each derivative as current or noncurrent is
based upon whether the maturity of the instrument is less than
or greater than 12 months. To qualify for hedge accounting,
the company requires that the instruments be effective in
reducing the risk exposure that they are designated to hedge.
For instruments that hedge cash flows, hedge designation criteria
also require that it be probable that the underlying transaction
will occur. Instruments that meet established accounting criteria
are formally designated as hedges. These criteria demonstrate
that the derivative is expected to be highly effective at offsetting
changes in fair value or cash flows of the underlying exposure
both at inception of the hedging relationship and on an ongoing
basis. The method of assessing hedge effectiveness and
measuring hedge results is formally documented at hedge
inception. The company assesses hedge effectiveness and
measures hedge results at least quarterly throughout the
designated hedge period.

Where the company applies hedge accounting, the company
designates each derivative as a hedge of: (1) the fair value of
arecognized financial asset or liability, or of an unrecognized
firm commitment (fair value hedge attributable to interest rate
or foreign currency risk); (2) the variability of anticipated cash
flows of a forecasted transaction, or the cash flows to be received
or paid related to a recognized financial asset or liability (cash
flow hedge attributable to interest rate or foreign currency risk);
or (3) a hedge of a long-term investment (net investment hedge)
in a foreign operation. In addition, the company may enter into
derivative contracts that economically hedge certain of its risks,
even though hedge accounting does not apply or the company
elects not to apply hedge accounting. In these cases, there exists
a natural hedging relationship in which changes in the fair value
of the derivative, which are recognized currently in net income,
act as an economic offset to changes in the fair value of the
underlying hedged item(s).

Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is designated as a
fair value hedge, along with offsetting changes in the fair value of
the underlying hedged exposure, are recorded in earnings each
period. For hedges of interest rate risk, the fair value adjustments
are recorded as adjustments to interest expense and cost of
financing in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings. For hedges
of currency risk associated with recorded financial assets or
liabilities, derivative fair value adjustments are recognized in
other (income) and expense in the Consolidated Statement
of Earnings. Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is
designated as a cash flow hedge are recorded, net of applicable
taxes, in OCI, in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income. When net income is affected by the variability of the
underlying cash flow, the applicable offsetting amount of the gain
or loss from the derivative that is deferred in AOCI is released
to net income and reported in interest expense, cost, SG&A

expense or other (income) and expense in the Consolidated
Statement of Earnings based on the nature of the underlying
cash flow hedged. Effectiveness for net investment hedging
derivatives is measured on a spot-to-spot basis. Changes in the
fair value of highly effective net investment hedging derivatives
and other non-derivative financial instruments designated as net
investment hedges are recorded as foreign currency translation
adjustments in AOCI. Changes in the fair value of the portion of a
net investment hedging derivative excluded from the assessment
of effectiveness are recorded in interest expense and cost of
financing. If the underlying hedged item in a fair value hedge
ceases to exist, all changes in the fair value of the derivative are
included in netincome each period until the instrument matures.
When the derivative transaction ceases to exist, a hedged asset
or liability is no longer adjusted for changes in its fair value except
as required under other relevant accounting standards.

Derivatives that are not designated as hedges are recorded in
earnings for each period and are primarily reported in other
(income) and expense. When a cash flow hedging relationship is
discontinued, the net gain or loss in AOCI must generally remain
in AOCI until the item that was hedged affects earnings. However,
when it is probable that a forecasted transaction will not occur
by the end of the originally specified time period or within an
additional two-month period thereafter, the net gain or loss in
AOCI must be reclassified into earnings immediately.

The company reports cash flows arising from derivative financial
instruments designated as fair value or cash flow hedges
consistent with the classification of cash flows from the underlying
hedged items that these derivatives are hedging. Accordingly, the
cash flows associated with derivatives designated as fair value
or cash flow hedges are classified in cash flows from operating
activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Cash
flows from derivatives designated as net investment hedges and
derivatives that do not qualify as hedges are reported in cash
flows from investing activities in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows. For currency swaps designated as hedges of foreign
currency denominated debt (included in the company’s debt
risk management program as addressed in note D, “Financial
Instruments,” on pages 95 to 102), cash flows directly associated
with the settlement of the principal element of these swaps are
reported in payments to settle debt in cash flows from financing
activities in